
AGENDA

PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING
Date: Thursday, 10 January 2019
Time: 7.00pm
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

Membership:

Councillors Mike Baldock, Cameron Beart, Bobbin, Andy Booth (Vice-Chairman), 
Richard Darby, Mike Dendor, James Hall, Nicholas Hampshire, Harrison, Mike Henderson, 
James Hunt, Ken Ingleton, Nigel Kay, Peter Marchington, Bryan Mulhern (Chairman), 
Prescott and Ghlin Whelan.

Quorum = 6

Pages
RECORDING NOTICE
Please note: this meeting may be recorded.

At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting 
is being audio recorded.  The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except 
where there are confidential or exempt items.

You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data 
Protection Act.  Data collected during this recording will be retained in 
accordance with the Council’s data retention policy.

Therefore by entering the Chamber and speaking at Committee you are 
consenting to being recorded and to the possible use of those sound recordings 
for training purposes.

If you have any queries regarding this please contact Democratic Services.

1. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

The Chairman will advise the meeting of the evacuation procedures to 
follow in the event of an emergency. This is particularly important for 
visitors and members of the public who will be unfamiliar with the building 
and procedures. 

The Chairman will inform the meeting whether there is a planned 
evacuation drill due to take place, what the alarm sounds like (i.e. ringing 
bells), where the closest emergency exit route is, and where the second 
closest emergency exit route is, in the event that the closest exit or route 
is blocked. 

Public Document Pack



The Chairman will inform the meeting that: 

(a) in the event of the alarm sounding, everybody must leave the building 
via the nearest safe available exit and gather at the Assembly points at 
the far side of the Car Park.  Nobody must leave the assembly point until 
everybody can be accounted for and nobody must return to the building 
until the Chairman has informed them that it is safe to do so; and 

(b) the lifts must not be used in the event of an evacuation. 

Any officers present at the meeting will aid with the evacuation. 

It is important that the Chairman is informed of any person attending who 
is disabled or unable to use the stairs, so that suitable arrangements may 
be made in the event of an emergency. 

2. Apologies for Absence and Confirmation of Substitutes

3. Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 December 2018 (Minute 
Nos. 374 - 379) as a correct record.

4. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence 
of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, 
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, 
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real 
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the 
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the 
room while that item is considered.

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 



item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services as 
early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting.

Part B reports for the Planning Committee to decide

5. Planning Working Group

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 2 January 2019 (Minute 
Nos. to follow).

To consider the following applications:

(2.4) 18/504824/FULL 16 Hawthorn Road, Sittingbourne, ME10 1BB
(2.2) 18/504307/FULL Land rear of 343 Minster Road, Minster, ME12 
3NR
(2.3) 18/503678/FULL 344 Minster Road, Minster, ME12 3PE.

6. Deferred Item

To consider the following application:

17/500727/OUT – Manor Farm, Key Street, Sittingbourne, ME10 1YU  

Members of the public are advised to confirm with Planning Services prior 
to the meeting that the applications will be considered at this meeting.

Requests to speak on these items must be registered with Democratic 
Services (democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or call us on 01795 417328) 
by noon on Wednesday 9 January 2019.

1 - 79

7. Report of the Head of Planning Services

To consider the attached report (Parts 2, 3 and 5).

The Council operates a scheme of public speaking at meetings of the 
Planning Committee.  All applications on which the public has registered 
to speak will be taken first.  Requests to speak at the meeting must be 
registered with Democratic Services (democraticservices@swale.gov.uk 
or call 01795 417328) by noon on Wednesday 9 January 2019.

80 - 321

Issued on Friday, 28 December 2018

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available 
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or 
to arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Planning Committee, please visit 
www.swale.gov.uk

mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk


Chief Executive, Services Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

1

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 10 January 2019 DEFERRED ITEM
Report of the Head of Planning

DEFERRED ITEMS

Reports shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that Meeting

DEF ITEM 1 REFERENCE NO - 17/500727/OUT
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Outline application for residential development for up to 50 dwellings with access off Chestnut 
Street (All others matters reserved), as amended by drawings received 31/05/2017 and further 
amended by drawings received 9 November 2017 

ADDRESS Manor Farm Key Street Sittingbourne Kent ME10 1YU  

RECOMMENDATION Grant subject to conditions and the signing of a suitably-worded Section 
106 agreement.

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION
Site is allocated for residential development in Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local 
Plan 2017 (Policy A21) and the proposal is in accordance with national and local planning policy.
REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Deferred for a second time, as Members required clarification and further information in respect 
of air quality. This report addresses this matter.

WARD Borden And Grove 
Park

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Borden

APPLICANT Balmoral Land 
(UK) Ltd
AGENT 

DECISION DUE DATE
13/06/17

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
30/08/17

OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites):
App No Proposal Decision Date
As noted on original report

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.01 Members will recall that this application was originally reported to the Planning 
Committee on 17 August 2017. After some discussion in which Members raised some 
concerns about the proposal, and requested further information, the item was 
deferred to allow Officers time to provide that information to a future meeting of the 
Committee. Please note that the original report is attached as Appendix 1. The minute 
of the meeting is attached as Appendix 2.

1.02 Members requested further information with regard to any requirement for the site to 
provide a source of brick-earth, as the site is identified for brick earth extraction prior 
to development in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (KMWLP) (adopted April 
2017). These matters were resolved, and the application was again referred to the 
committee meeting of 16th August 2018. The report is attached as Appendix 3.

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

2

1.03 At that meeting the Environmental Protection Team Leader advised that air quality 
levels in Swale were measured against Government standards in locations where 
traffic flows were highest, and Swale already monitored air quality more than any 
other authority in Kent. He added that extra monitoring was taking place in and around 
the proposed site, but at least 12 months monitoring data would be needed before 
knowing what the levels were in this vicinity. The Environmental Protection Team 
Leader drew attention to the fact that the equipment used by Borden Parish Council in 
their air quality measuring was not certified and that the monitoring periods used were 
too short to be accurate and comparable with that carried out by the Council. 

1.04 After some debate, Members resolved that application 17/500727/OUT be deferred 
for 12 months to allow the air quality monitoring in the area to be carried out and the 
data considered. The minute is attached as Appendix 4.

2.0 THIS REPORT

2.01 This update report addresses the above issue, and presents new information for 
Members to assess when deciding this application. The new report should be read in 
conjunction with the original report, attached as Appendix 1, which – among other 
things - describes the site, the proposed development, the policy context, and the 
consultation responses that had been received at the time of writing. The new report 
should also be read in conjunction with the report which was submitted to the meeting 
of the Planning Committee on 16th August 2018 (see Appendix 3).

2.02 My Officers noted the concerns expressed by Members regarding Air Quality (AQ) 
issues, and decided to commission an assessment by an independent AQ consultant. 
At the same time, the applicant commissioned his own AQ report. 

2.03 Whilst noting that Members had requested a deferral of 12 months to establish a set 
of air quality measurements, Officers were of the opinion that an independent opinion 
on the current air quality situation would assist Members in their deliberations and that 
any further delay in determining the planning application could result in the applicant 
appealing to the Secretary of State on non-determination grounds and potentially 
subjecting the Council to significant costs.

2.04 The following documents were sent by Officers to the consultant to assess:

 The report sent to the Planning Committee on 16th August 2018.
 The comments and observations made by the Environmental Protection Team Leader
 Borden Parish Council’s AQ report
 The applicant’s AQ technical note
 The AQ report accompanying the South West Sittingbourne application

2.05 This report should also be read in conjunction with the consultant’s report, which is 
attached as Appendix 5.

3.0 APPRAISAL

3.01 The consultant’s report was received on 30th October 2018. The findings and 
conclusions presented within the independent report are as follows:

 ‘The current background air quality in the vicinity of the proposed Manor Farm and 
Wises Lane proposed developments are well below the AQS for all pollutants. 
Additionally, the proposed development locations are not within an AQMA. 

Page 2



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

3

 The review of the Wises Lane AQA concluded that the assessment was robust and 
followed guidance and methodologies required for the assessment of air quality in 
such developments. 

 The review of the BPC (Borden Parish Council) commissioned air quality monitoring 
and analysis by UoK (University of Kent) highlighted the deficiencies in the 
assessment and comparison of results. The study was limited to short-period 
measurements and these cannot be used to compare UK AQS’s. Simple comparisons 
from 2018 to 2025 verified modelled results are not valid. 

 The BPC statements were based on the results of the UoK study and therefore cannot 
be substantiated. 

 The comments from the Council’s Environmental Protection Team (EPT) Leader 
regarding the need for an AQA for the Manor Farm application are valid. UK (IAQM) 
guidance scopes out the need for an AQA following best practice criteria.’ 

3.02 As such, it is clear from the report that air quality is not an issue on the basis of which 
this application should be refused.

4.0 ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS

4.01 The Council published the AQ report on 14th November 2018. Since then, four emails 
of objection have been received from local residents. The views contained therein 
may be summarised as follows:

 ‘In commissioning this review can you please explain why SBC are sponsoring 
the Manor Farm and Wises Lane planning application?’

 ‘The University of Kent report is the only report based on real and current data’
 The application should be held for twelve months for SBC to collate their own 

measurements
 ‘I strongly object to the commissioning of the Phlorum review and wish it to be 

removed as evidence for both planning applications’ (referring to the proposed 
Wises Lane development as well)

 Other developments in Sittingbourne will also increase AQ problems
 The Council should provide the University of Kent with monitoring equipment 

to determine their findings
 There are roadside pollution problems
 ‘The Council’s own AQ Report for 2018 shows that Key Street is above the 

legal limit, and I have Councillor Bowles confirm to me in writing that this is the 
case’

 The report refers to air quality on the site itself, not to roads in the vicinity
 Takes no account of the Wises Lane development
 I fail to see how pollution has reduced in the last three years
 No monitoring site adjacent to the location
 The A2 and the A249 are at capacity
 No consideration has been given to air quality on the A249 slip road

5.0 OTHER MATTERS

5.01 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 - The application site is 
located within 6km of The Medway Estuary and Marshes Special Protection Area 
(SPA) which is a European designated sites afforded protection under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 as amended (the Habitat 
Regulations). SPAs are protected sites classified in accordance with Article 4 of the 
EC Birds Directive. They are classified for rare and vulnerable birds and for regularly 

Page 3



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

4

occurring migratory species. Article 4(4) of the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC) requires 
Member States to take appropriate steps to avoid pollution or deterioration of habitats 
or any disturbances affecting the birds, in so far as these would be significant having 
regard to the objectives of this Article. 

Residential development within 6km of any access point to the SPA has the potential 
for negative impacts upon that protected area by virtue of increased public access and 
degradation of special features therein. The HRA carried out by the Council as part of 
the Local Plan process (at the publication stage in April 2015 and one at the Main 
Mods stage in June 2016) considered the imposition of a tariff system to mitigate 
impacts upon the SPA (£239.61 per dwelling on all residential developments, as 
ultimately agreed by the North Kent Environmental Planning Group and Natural 
England) – these mitigation measures are considered to be ecologically sound. 

However, the recent (April 2018) judgement (People Over Wind v Coillte Teoranta, 
ref. C-323/17) handed down by the Court of Justice of the European Union ruled that, 
when determining the impacts of a development on protected area, “it is not 
appropriate, at the screening stage, to take account of the measures intended to avoid 
or reduce the harmful effects of the plan or project on that site.” The development 
therefore cannot be screened out of the need to provide an Appropriate Assessment 
(AA) solely on the basis of the agreed mitigation measures (SAMMS), and needs to 
progress to consideration under an AA. 

In this regard, whilst there are likely to be impacts upon the SPA arising from this 
development, the scale of development (50 houses on an allocated site at the edge of 
town), with access to other recreation areas) and the mitigation measures to be 
implemented within the SPA from collection of the standard SAMMS tariff will ensure 
that these impacts will not be significant or long-term. I therefore consider that, subject 
to mitigation, there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of the SPA. 

It can be noted that the required mitigation works will be carried out by Bird Wise, the 
brand name of the North Kent Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Scheme 
(SAMMS) Board, which itself is a partnership of local authorities, developers and 
environmental  organisations, including SBC, KCC, Medway Council, Canterbury 
Council, the RSPB, Kent Wildlife Trust, and others. (https://birdwise.org.uk/) 

5.02 Developer Contributions – As a reminder to Members, the Developer Contributions 
requested are as follows:

 £111,744.00 towards junction improvements to the Key Street junction

 Primary Education (towards enhancement of Borden Primary School) - 
£166,200.00

 Secondary Education (towards Phase 3 of expansion of Westlands Secondary 
School) - £117,990.00

 Community Learning (towards new equipment to support additional Adult 
Education in the new Sittingbourne Hub) - £3,021.35

 Youth Service (towards additional youth facilities and equipment in Sittingbourne) 
- £1,879.17

Page 4



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

5

 Libraries (towards equipment and bookstock costs of new library in Sittingbourne 
Hub) - £11,350.00

 Social Care (towards fit out costs of Sittingbourne Care Hub) - £3,166.50

 £43,050.00 (£861.00 per dwelling) towards the provision of off site play 
equipment at Grove Park. 

 £18,000.00 towards expanding existing NHS facilities within the vicinity of the 
development. 

 £ 239.61 per dwelling, or £11,980.50 for 50 dwellings is required to mitigate 
potential impacts on the Swale Protection Area.

 £13,200.00 towards the resurfacing and improvement of public footpath KR117.

TOTAL: £501,581.52 + an administrative monitoring fee

6.0 CONCLUSION

6.01 Following the receipt of an AQ report from the Applicant, Officers concluded that it 
was appropriate to commission an independent report to assess all of the relevant AQ 
information submitted to the Council from interested parties given the risk of the 
applicant appealing to the Secretary of State on grounds of non determination and the 
potential costs that would entail. The report does not consider any other factors other 
than:

o The report sent to the Planning Committee on 16th August 2018.
o The comments and observations made by the Environmental Protection Team 

Leader
o Borden Parish Council’s AQ report
o The applicant’s AQ Technical Note
o The AQ report accompanying the South West Sittingbourne application

With regard to any instruction, the only request from the Council was to assess, from 
the evidence provided and noted above, if there were grounds to refuse the planning 
application on the grounds of air quality.

6.02 The report concludes that there are no reasons to refuse the application on Air Quality 
grounds.

6.03 Having carefully looked at the matters raised by Members at the meetings of this 
Committee on 17th August 2017 and on 16th August 2018, Officers believe that all of 
these issues have now been resolved, and that there are no valid planning reasons 
upon which to refuse this application. As such, it is recommended that the planning 
permission for this outline application be approved.

7.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the signing of a suitably-worded Section 
106 agreement and the following conditions:

Page 5



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

6

CONDITIONS 

(1) Details relating to the layout, scale and appearance of the proposed buildings, and the 
landscaping of the site, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority before any development is commenced.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

(2) Application for approval of reserved matters referred to in Condition (1) above must be 
made not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of the grant 
of outline planning permission.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

(3) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, in the case 
of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter to be 
approved.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

(4) Pursuant to Condition (1) above, the reserved matters application shall show no more 
than a total of 50 dwellings, and the dwellings shall be no more than 2.5 storeys in 
height

Reason: In order to comply with Policy A21 of The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017 
and in the interests of safeguarding the local landscape.

(5) Pursuant to Condition (1) above, the reserved matters application shall show only 
single storey dwellings in the north east corner of the site (marked on the illustrative 
site layout drawing no. DHA/11507/06 Rev B and the illustrative proposed storey 
heights plan no. DHA/11507/04 Rev B as plot numbers 35 - 39 inclusive), adjacent to 
the existing properties in Cherryfields

Reason: In view of the rise in the topography of the land, which would result in issues 
of overlooking and overshadowing to existing properties in Cherryfields, if those new 
properties were to be of more than one storey

(6) The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above shall provide full details of how 
the residential part of the development will meet the principles of ‘Secure by Design’.  
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: In the interests of public amenity and safety.

(7) The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above shall include cross-sectional 
drawings through the site, of the existing and proposed site levels. The development 
shall then be completed strictly in accordance with the approved levels.

Reason: In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having regard to the 
nature of the site.

Page 6



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

7

(8) The landscaping details submitted pursuant to condition (1) shall include full details of 
both hard and soft landscape works including existing trees, shrubs and other 
features, planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall be native species 
and of a type that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity), plant sizes and numbers 
where appropriate, means of enclosure, hard surfacing materials, and an 
implementation programme. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the 
occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with the programme 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Upon completion of the approved 
landscaping scheme, any trees or shrubs that are removed, dying, being severely 
damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five years of planting shall be 
replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as may be agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever planting season is agreed.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife 
and biodiversity.

(9) No development approved by this planning permission shall take place until a 
remediation strategy that includes the following components to deal with the risks 
associated with contamination of the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority:

1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
a) All previous uses
b) Potential contaminants associated with those uses
c) A conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
d) Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.

2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off 
site.

3. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred 
to in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy 
giving full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to 
be undertaken. 

4.  A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are 
complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of 
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 

Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 

Reason: To prevent pollution of controlled waters and comply with the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

(10) No occupation of any part of the permitted development shall take place until a 
verification report demonstrating completion of works set out in the approved 
remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted 
to and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority. The report shall include 
results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved 

Page 7



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

8

verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It 
shall also include any plan (a “long-term monitoring and maintenance plan”) for 
longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action, as identified in the verification plan. The long-term monitoring 
and maintenance plan shall be implemented as approved. 

Reason: To prevent pollution of controlled waters and comply with the NPPF. 

(11) If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the local planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has 
submitted a remediation strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from 
the local planning authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as 
approved. 

 
Reason: To prevent pollution of controlled waters and comply with the NPPF

(12)  Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved full details of the 
method of disposal of foul and surface waters as part of a detailed drainage strategy 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This 
detailed drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the surface water generated by this 
development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up to and including the climate 
change adjusted critical 100yr storm) can be accommodated and disposed of within 
the curtilage of the site. The risk of ground instability associated with discharge of 
surface water into the underlying soils should be assessed and the infiltration rates 
confirmed with a suitable ground investigation.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into 
this proposal and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions.

(13) No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until details of the implementation; 
maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage scheme have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the 
approved details. Those details shall include:

i) a timetable for its implementation, and
ii) a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which 
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable 
drainage system throughout its lifetime.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into 
this proposal and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions.

(14) No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with 
the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with the 
Environment Agency); this may be given for those parts of the site where it has been 
demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approval details.

Reason: To protect vulnerable groundwater resources and ensure compliance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 8



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

9

(15) Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water
drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the 
surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall durations and intensities 
up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be 
collected and disposed of via infiltration features located within the curtilage of the 
site.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into 
this proposal and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions, and to protect 
vulnerable groundwater resources and ensure compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

(16) Development shall not begin until details are submitted to and approved in writing by 
Local Planning Authority (in consultation with the Environment Agency and the Lead 
Local Flood Authority) of measures within the drainage scheme that ensure silt and 
pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately managed to ensure there is 
no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters as a result of infiltration of surface 
water from the development. The details shall only then be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into 
this proposal and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions, and to protect 
vulnerable groundwater resources and ensure compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

(17) Prior to the commencement of the development, a Code of Construction Practice 
shall be submitted to and approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
construction of the development shall then be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Code of Construction Practice and BS5228 Noise Vibration and Control on 
Construction and Open Sites and the Control of dust from construction sites (BRE DTi 
Feb 2003) unless previously agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The code shall include:
 An indicative programme for carrying out the works
 Measures to minimise the production of dust on the site(s)
 Measures to minimise the noise (including vibration) generated by the 

construction process to include the careful selection of plant and machinery and 
use of noise mitigation barrier(s)

 Maximum noise levels expected 1 metre from the affected façade of any 
residential unit adjacent to the site(s)

 Design and provision of site hoardings
 Management of traffic visiting the site(s) including temporary parking or holding 

areas
 Provision of off road parking for all site operatives
 Measures to prevent the transfer of mud and extraneous material onto the public 

highway
 Measures to manage the production of waste and to maximise the re-use of 

materials
 Measures to minimise the potential for pollution of groundwater and surface water
 The location and design of site office(s) and storage compounds
 The location of temporary vehicle access points to the site(s) during the 

construction works

Page 9



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

10

 The arrangements for public consultation and liaison during the construction 
works.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, highway safety and amenity.

(18) No development shall take place until:
a) a site investigation has been carried out to determine the nature and extent of any 

reptile or bat population within or adjacent to the building in accordance with the 
advice of Natural England 

b) a written report of the site investigation has been prepared by a competent 
person.  The report shall include the investigation results and details of a scheme 
to ensure the long-term health and well being of any reptile or owl population 
within or adjacent to the building.  The report shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing.

c) the development shall then be implemented in accordance with the approved 
scheme

Reason: In order to safeguard protected species that may be present within or 
adjacent to the building.   

(19) The details submitted in pursuance of condition (1) shall show adequate land 
reserved for parking in accordance with the Approved County Parking Standards and, 
upon approval of the details this area shall be provided, surfaced and drained before 
any building is occupied and shall be retained for the use of the occupiers of, and 
visitors to, the dwellings. Thereafter, no permanent development, whether or not 
permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), shall be 
carried out on the land so shown or in such a position as to preclude vehicular access 
to the reserved vehicle parking area.

Reason: Development without provision of adequate accommodation for the parking 
of vehicles is likely to lead to parking inconvenient to other road users and detrimental 
to highway safety and amenity.

(20) None of the dwellings shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the site in 
accordance with details to be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority for cycles to be securely stored and sheltered.

Reason: To ensure the provision and retention of adequate off-street parking facilities 
for cycles in the interests of sustainable development and promoting cycle visits and 
to ensure that such matters are dealt with before development commences.

(21) The construction of the development hereby approved shall not commence before the 
completion of the vehicular access leading from Chestnut Street as shown on drawing 
reference DHA_11506-T-02. Thereafter, this access shall be maintained as such in 
perpetuity.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety and amenity

(22) No development shall commence until the developer has submitted drawings showing 
the relocation of Public Right of Way ZR117 away from the proposed estate road, 
avoiding steep gradients and steps. No development shall take place until such 
suitable drawings shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in complete 

Page 10



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

11

accordance with these approved drawings and fully implemented before the first 
occupation of any of the properties hereby permitted.

Reason: In the interests of protecting the amenity value of the existing Public Rights of 
Way.

(23) No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, has secured the implementation of:

(1) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification  and 
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority before any reserved matters application has been submitted; 
and

(2) following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure 
preservation in-situ of important archaeological remains and/or further 
archaeological investigation and recording in accordance with a specification and 
timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological implications of 
any development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of adverse impacts 
through preservation in-situ or by record.

(24) No development shall commence until the developer has developed a scheme 
detailing and where possible quantifying what measures or offsetting schemes are to 
be included in the development which will reduce the transport related air pollution of 
the development during construction and when in occupation. The most recent 
DEFRA Emissions Factor Toolkit should be utilised and the latest DEFRA IGCB Air 
Quality Damage Costs for pollutants considered, to calculate the resultant damage 
cost. The report should be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, 
prior to development, and any mitigation sums should be included within a suitably 
worded s106 agreement.

Reason: In the interests of air quality management.

(25) The proposed estate roads, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 
sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, vehicle overhang 
margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, drive 
gradients, car parking and street furniture shall be constructed and laid out in 
accordance with details to be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
in writing before their construction begins. For this purpose, plans and sections, 
indicating as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method 
of construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the roads are laid out and constructed in a satisfactory
manner and to ensure that such matters are dealt with before development 
commences.

(26) No impact pile driving in connection with the construction of the development shall 
take place on the site on any Saturday, Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day 
except between the following times :-

Monday to Friday 0900 - 1700 hours unless in association with an emergency or with 
the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Page 11



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

12

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

(27) No demolition or construction work in connection with the development shall take 
place on any Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between the 
following times :-

Monday to Friday 0730 - 1800 hours, Saturdays 0830 - 1300 hours unless in 
association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

(28) Prior to the commencement of development a programme for the suppression of dust 
during the construction of the development shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The measures approved shall be 
employed throughout the period of construction unless any variation has been 
approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and to ensure that such matters are 
dealt with before development commences.

(29) Prior to the first occupation of a dwelling the following works between that dwelling 
and the adopted highway shall be completed as follows:

(A) Footways and/or footpaths shall be completed, with the exception of the wearing 
course;

(B) Carriageways completed, with the exception of the wearing course, including the 
provision of a turning facility beyond the dwelling together with related:

(1) highway drainage, including off-site works,
(2) junction visibility splays,
(3) street lighting, street nameplates and highway structures if any.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

(30) Within 6 months of construction commencing a detailed landscaping plan and 
management plan must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written 
approval. The submitted information must include the following:

• A landscape plan incorporating the ecological enhancement measures detailed 
within chapter 9 of the Ecology Assessment, Ethos Ecology (December 2016)

• Details of how the proposed planting will be established

• A five year rolling management plan for the site

• When habitat monitoring will be carried out 

• When management plan reviews will be carried out 

The measures shall be implemented in full accordance with the submitted information 
prior to the occupation of development.

Reason: In the interests of preserving biodiversity and visual amenity

Page 12



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

13

Council’s Approach to the Application

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by:

Offering pre-application advice
Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.
As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of 
their application.

In this instance the application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

INFORMATIVES: 

(1) It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby 
approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 
required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established 
in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. 
Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do 
not look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called 
‘highway land’. Some of this land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst 
some are owned by third party owners. Irrespective of the ownership, this land may 
have ‘highway rights’ over the topsoil. Information about how to clarify the highway 
boundary can be found at http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-
after/highway-land
The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in 
every aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is 
therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to 
progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement on site.

(2) A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order 
to service this development. To initiate a sewer capacity check to identify the 
appropriate connection point for the development, please contact Southern Water, 
Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire, SO21 2SW, (Tel: 
0330 303 0119 or www.southernwater.co.uk).

(3) Safe digging practices, in accordance with HSE publication HSG47 "Avoiding Danger 
from Underground Services" must be used to verify and establish the actual position 
of mains, pipes, services and other apparatus on site before any mechanical plant is 
used. It is your responsibility to ensure that this information is provided to all relevant 
people (direct labour or contractors) working for you on or near gas plant.

(4) KCC wishes to make the applicant aware that Superfast Fibre Optic Broadband ‘fibre 
to the premises’ should be provided to each dwelling of adequate capacity (internal 
minimum speed of 100mb) for current and future use of the buildings.

(5) All nesting birds and their young are legally protected under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and as such any vegetation must be removed 
outside the breeding bird season, and if this is not possible an ecologist must examine 
the site prior to works starting and if any nesting birds are recorded all works must 
cease within that area

Page 13



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

14

Page 14



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

15

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 15



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

16

Page 16



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

17

APPENDIX 1

Page 17



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

18

Page 18



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

19

Page 19



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

20

Page 20



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

21

APPENDIX 1

Page 21



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

22

APPENDIX 1

Page 22



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

23

APPENDIX 1

Page 23



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

24

APPENDIX 1

Page 24



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

25

APPENDIX 1

Page 25



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

26

APPENDIX 1

Page 26



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

27

APPENDIX 1

Page 27



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

28

APPENDIX 1

Page 28



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

29

APPENDIX 1

Page 29



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

30

APPENDIX 1

Page 30



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

31

APPENDIX 1

Page 31



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

32

APPENDIX 1

Page 32



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

33

APPENDIX 1

Page 33



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

34

APPENDIX 1

Page 34



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

35

APPENDIX 1

Page 35



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

36

APPENDIX 1

Page 36



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

37

APPENDIX 1

Page 37



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

38

APPENDIX 1

Page 38



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

39

APPENDIX 1

Page 39



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

40

APPENDIX 2

Page 40



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

41

APPENDIX 2

Page 41



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

42

APPENDIX 2

Page 42



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

43

APPENDIX 3

Page 43



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

44

APPENDIX 3

Page 44



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

45

APPENDIX 3

Page 45



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

46

APPENDIX 3

Page 46



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

47

APPENDIX 3

Page 47



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

48

APPENDIX 3

Page 48



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

49

APPENDIX 3

Page 49



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

50

APPENDIX 3

Page 50



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

51

APPENDIX 3

Page 51



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

52

APPENDIX 3

Page 52



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

53

APPENDIX 3

Page 53



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

54

APPENDIX 3

Page 54



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

55

APPENDIX 3

Page 55



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

56

APPENDIX 3

Page 56



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

57

APPENDIX 3

Page 57



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

58

APPENDIX 3

Page 58



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

59

APPENDIX 3

Page 59



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

60

APPENDIX 4

Page 60



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

61

APPENDIX 4.

Page 61



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

62

APPENDIX 4

Page 62



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

63

APPENDIX 5

Page 63



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

64

APPENDIX 5

Page 64



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

65

APPENDIX 5

Page 65



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

66

APPENDIX 5

Page 66



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

67

APPENDIX 5

Page 67



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

68

APPENDIX 5

Page 68



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

69

APPENDIX 5

Page 69



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

70

APPENDIX 5

Page 70



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

71

APPENDIX 5

Page 71



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

72

APPENDIX 5

Page 72



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

73

APPENDIX 5

Page 73



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

74

APPENDIX 5

Page 74



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

75

APPENDIX 5

Page 75



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

76

APPENDIX 5

Page 76



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

77

APPENDIX 5

Page 77



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

78

APPENDIX 5

Page 78



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

79

APPENDIX 5

Page 79



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 DEF ITEM 1

80

APPENDIX 5

Page 80



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

PLANNING SERVICES

Planning Items to be submitted to the Planning Committee

10 JANUARY 2019

Standard Index to Contents

DEFERRED ITEMS Items shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that 
meeting may be considered at this meeting

PART 1 Reports to be considered in public session not included 
elsewhere on this Agenda

PART 2 Applications for which permission is recommended

PART 3 Applications for which refusal is recommended

PART 4 Swale Borough Council’s own development; observation on 
County Council’s development; observations on development in 
other districts or by Statutory Undertakers and by Government 
Departments; and recommendations to the County Council on 
‘County Matter’ applications.

PART 5 Decisions by County Council and the Secretary of State on 
appeal, reported for information

PART 6 Reports containing “Exempt Information” during the consideration 
of which it is anticipated that the press and public will be 
excluded

ABBREVIATIONS: commonly used in this Agenda

CDA Crime and Disorder Act 1998

GPDO The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015

HRA Human Rights Act 1998

SBLP Swale Borough Local Plan 2017

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



INDEX OF ITEMS FOR PLANNING COMMITTEE – 10 JANUARY 2019

 Minutes of last Planning Committee Meeting
 Deferred Items
 Minutes of any Working Party Meetings

DEFERRED ITEMS

Def Item 1 17/500727/OUT SITTINGBOURNE Manor Farm Key Street
Pg 1 – 79 

PART 2

2.1 18/505761/FULL BORDEN 47 Brier Road
Pg 80 - 97

2.2 18/505315/FULL NEWINGTON Land at The Tracies
Pg 98 - 126

2.3 18/502095/FULL & STALISFIELD Green Farm Barn, Stalisfield Road
Pg 118 - 133 18/502096/LBC

2.4 17/502604/REM FAVERSHAM Ospringe Brickworks, Sumpter Way
Pg 127 - 192

2.5 18/501863/FULL SITTINGBOURNE Land East of Vellum Drive
Pg 193 - 223

2.6 17/506603/REM FAVERSHAM Land at Perry Court, London Road
Pg 224 - 267

PART 3

3.1 18/505513/FULL MINSTER ON SEA 54 The Leas
Pg 268 - 273

3.2 18/505689/FULL &
Pg 274 - 280 18/505690/LBC FAVERSHAM 12 Abbey Street

PART 5 - INDEX
Pg 281 - 283

5.1 EASTCHURCH Chalet No. 7 Hazeldene Chalet Park, 
Pg 284 - 287 Fourth Avenue

5.2 18/501182 SITTINGBOURNE 2 Arthur Street
Pg 288 - 290

5.3 17/505258 HARTLIP Vicarage Cottage, The Street
Pg 291 - 293

5.4 18/500656 SITTINGBOURNE 141 Ufton Lane, Sittingbourne
Pg 294 - 296

5.5 18/500656 SITTINGBOURNE Bobbing Kennels, Quinton Road
Pg 297 - 300

5.6 17/504527 SELLING Pond, Perrywood Place (Grove Road)
Pg 301 - 302

Page 83



5.7 18/502771 LOWER HALSTOW Jack Russell Place
Pg 303 - 304

5.8 18/501924 MINSTER 36 The Glen
Pg 305 – 307

5.9 18/502670 FAVERSHAM 26 Forbes Road
Pg 308 - 309

5.10 17/506423 OSPRINGE 2 Little Kennaways
Pg 310 - 313

5.11 17/506345 BOBBING Building at Keycol Farm
Pg 314 - 317

5.12 16/508521 UPCHURCH Tranquillity, Otterham Quay Lane
Pg 318 - 321

Page 84



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

80

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 10 JANUARY 2019 PART 2

Report of the Head of Planning

PART 2

Applications for which PERMISSION is recommended

2.1 REFERENCE NO -  18/505761/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Erection of a detached 2 bed dwelling with associated access, parking and dropped kerb.

ADDRESS 47 Brier Road, Borden, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 1YJ  

RECOMMENDATION – Grant subject to delegation to ensure that the SAMMS payment is 
made before planning permission is granted.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Parish Council objection and subsequently Councillors Baldock and Hampshire also requested 
that the application be called in.

WARD Borden And Grove 
Park

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Borden

APPLICANT Mr Paul 
Muehlthaler
AGENT 

DECISION DUE DATE
08/01/19

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
11/12/18

Planning History 

17/502909/OUT 
Outline application with all matters reserved for the erection of a 2 bedroom detached 
dwelling. (Resubmission of 17/500438/OUT)
Refused Decision Date: 24.11.2017
Appeal Allowed Decision Date: 28.09.2018

17/500438/OUT 
Outline application for the erection of a 2 bedroom detached dwelling.
Withdrawn Decision Date: 12.04.2017

HE/13/0010 
Single storey extension to the rear of the property, which would extend beyond the rear wall 
of the original house by 4 m, for which the maximum height would be 3.5 m, and for which the 
height of the eaves would be 2.3 m
Prior Approval Not Required Decision Date: 01.10.2013

SW/92/0799 
SIDE EXTENSION
Grant of Conditional PP Decision Date: 03.11.1992

SW/08/0107 
UPVC Conservatory on brick base.
Grant of Conditional PP Decision Date: 20.03.2008

Page 85



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

81

1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.1 47 Brier Road is located within Borden Parish but it is also within the wider Local Plan 
defined built up area which includes Sittingbourne. The application site lies within the 
long rear garden of 47 Brier Road, which is a semi-detached dwelling fronting onto Brier 
Road. However, the proposed house would be accessed from Grove Park Avenue, 
which adjoins the property’s rear boundary, at a much lower level.

1.2 The site slopes significantly downwards from the end of the garden of 47 Brier Road to 
the highway in Grove Park Avenue, at the point where that road ends. The surrounding 
area features predominantly semi-detached dwellings which feature a range of parking 
provision in the form of parking to the front and side, and within garages. There are no 
formal parking restrictions in the wide turning head at this end of Grove Park Avenue.

1.3 Running alongside the site is Public Right of Way ZR149, which runs in between 47 and 
49 Brier Road, linking Brier Road to Grove Park Avenue in the form of an alleyway. A 
lamppost is located in the pavement on the site’s frontage to Grove Park Avenue, and 
this would be re-located.

1.4 In September 2018, a refusal of outline planning permission (against my 
recommendation) for a two bedroom detached house on the site was overturned at 
appeal and outline planning permission for one house was granted (see Appendix 1). 
Whilst the outline application had all detailed matters reserved, the drawings submitted 
to illustrate that application were the same as submitted again now. In the appeal 
decision the Planning Inspector rejected the Council’s argument that a dwelling in this 
location would harm the character and appearance of the area saying (at paragraph 9) 
that;

“Based on what I have seen and read, I find that two storey detached 
dwellings form an integral part of the character of this area. Furthermore, I 
acknowledge that as a result of the bends in the road, the size of the plot 
frontages and accesses and the orientation of dwellings relative to the road 
vary. Whilst the detailed design would be secured at reserved matters stage, I 
find that a dwellinghouse on this site would accord with those characteristics 
and make a positive contribution to the pattern and form of development in this 
location.”

2. PROPOSAL

2.1 This application seeks full planning permission to erect a two storey two bedroom 
house with one parking space to the front, and a new vehicular crossover onto Grove 
Park Avenue. The footprint of the dwelling would be the same as the application 
allowed at appeal (17/502909/OUT). The existing garden of 47 Brier Road would be 
divided to provide the plot for the new dwelling. Due to the levels of the site the plot 
levels would be lowered by almost two metres to align with the level of Grove Park 
Avenue.

2.2 The existing garden at no 47  would be reduced to an average 11m in length (net of an 
existing single storey rear extension) and the new dwelling would have an eight metre 
long garden with a smaller side garden measuring six metres in width at its widest. It is 
proposed to remove part of the existing hedge running along the public footpath 
boundary and replace this with a low level brick wall.

Page 86



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

82

2.3 The proposed dwelling would measure approx. 6.0m wide x 6.0m deep, to a height of 
4.75m to the eaves and 7.2m to the ridge, with a bay window to the side. This bay 
window would have a gabled roof. A porch canopy is proposed over the front entrance 
door. One off-road parking space measuring 5.5m x 2.5m will be provided to the front of 
the dwelling.

2.4 The new dwelling will provide two bedrooms at first floor, both with an en-suite shower 
rooms. There would be no windows in the north facing side elevation and no first floor 
(west facing) rear windows except that serving an en-suite bathroom. This is to ensure 
that the existing house (47 Brier Road) does not suffer loss of privacy from the new 
house.

2.5 The external finishing materials are indicative and can be addressed by way of 
condition, however, the house will be brick built with grey composite wall cladding at 
first floor level.

3. PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

None

4. POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG) are relevant in terms of encouraging good design standards and 
minimising the potential impacts of any development upon the amenity of neighbouring 
residents.

4.2 Development Plan: Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017: Policies 
ST3, CP3, CP4, DM7, DM14 and DM19

5. LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 I have received eleven letters of objections making the following summarised 
comments:

 This proposal has already been turned down as it is inappropriate and the area 
too small to build a dwelling, and I cannot see any reason why the decision 
should change now

 The public footpath is regularly used by school children and will become 
dangerous as there will be a blind spot for vehicles leaving the property

 The public footpath will also be left in darkness as re-siting of the lamp post will 
provide no light to the alleyway, making it dangerous for pedestrians after dark 
and increasing the risk of crime

 Only one car parking space being provided

 Significant loss of valuable parking space and reduced turning space

 There simply is not enough space in the cul-de-sac to accommodate extra cars

 Overshadowing 

 Overlooking and loss of privacy

Page 87



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

83

 Will block sunlight to gardens

 Loss of property value

 Visual blight in the area as it would be totally out of character

 This is an obvious case of ‘garden grabbing’ and would set a precedence for 
anyone in the area to develop half their garden into housing

 The run-off water will contribute to the flooding at the bottom of the avenue

 Soakaways will not solve the potential risk of run off going down to the lower 
areas of Grove Park Avenue as the underlying soil is heavy clay

 Levelling of the land to create a driveway will cause damage to our plants and 
brick wall

 Re-siting the lamppost in front of our land will restrict any change of use for our 
own land 

 The exit site is unsuitable as it’s a turning point for cars

 Out of keeping in the street scene

 The garden is too small to build on

 This is a quiet cul-de-sac and another property will affect the already limited 
parking and cause disruption to residents in Grove Park Avenue

 We are concerned about the volume of noise pollution that the building work will 
have on residents of Grove Park and Brier Road

 Should this development proceed conditions need to be imposed on the times 
and size of delivery lorries as access can be restrictive

 The plans show a smaller site area of only 170m² and the Design & Access 
Statement gives a separation distance of only 20m. The site is too small, 
minimum separation distances cannot be achieved and does not meet the 
conditions set out in the grant for outline permission

 Concern on effect of proposal on protected & endangered species, such as sloe 
worm, stag beetle and their larvae that are present on neighbouring sites and 
the adjoining bank. Along with Bats which use the site for foraging.

NOTE that the application for outline planning permission was allowed at appeal and 
matters regarding the principle of the proposed development has been accepted by the 
Inspector. In allowing this appeal, the Inspector agreed that matters regarding 
overlooking, privacy, air quality, impact on adjoining footpath, parking, water run-off and 
living conditions for future occupiers would be dealt with at reserved matters stage. 
However, loss of property value should be afforded little weight. With regards to 
concerns relating to precedent, the Inspector confirmed that each proposal must be 
considered on its own merits and determined the appeal accordingly.

6. CONSULTATIONS

Page 88



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

84

6.1 Borden Parish Council objects to the application “on the same basis as previously” as 
follows:

“Due to the slant of the land the second floor will have a clear sight into 
adjacent properties and will look right into the bedroom windows.

Will cause substantial shading of adjacent front gardens and properties.

Because of the turning circle on to the road in Grove Park Avenue it will impact 
on the area and cause issues with parking.

It will deny residents the opportunity to turn at the end of this cul-de-sac. This 
is an essential access to properties and will prohibit proper use by vehicles.

The driveway will create a health and safety issue for pedestrians using the 
adjacent footpath.

The proposed moving of the street light will make the footpath dark; at present 
the light shines up the alleyway and is a deterrent to crime.

There is inadequate parking provision.

Concerns about flooding and excess water run-off. This is a known flood area 
due to a previous pond.”

6.2 The KCC Public Rights of Way Officer raises no objection but initially requested further 
information and plans on how the footpath will be supported and maintained during the 
construction period. The applicant has responded saying that the footpath will remain 
open at all times and that a new concrete retaining wall will be faced with brickwork 
where seen above ground level, with a close boarded fence 1.8m high on or behind the 
new wall. The Public Rights of Way Officer is satisfied with this arrangement.

6.3 Kent Highways and Transportation considers this to be a non-protocol matter. 

6.4 Natural England raises no objection subject to SAMMS mitigation payments being 
secured. The applicant has agreed to this payment.

6.5 The Council’s Environmental Health Manager recommends imposing a condition to 
minimise the dust and noise generated throughout the construction process and a 
condition restricting the construction hours.

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

7.1 Planning application background papers and plans to planning references 
18/505761/FULL and 17/502909/OUT.

8. APPRAISAL

8.1 The site is located within the built up area, and the recent appeal decision which 
allowed the erection of a two bedroom detached dwelling indicates that the principle of 
residential development on this site is acceptable. What falls to be considered under 
this application, therefore, is the acceptability of the submitted scheme in terms of 
scale, design, access, landscaping and amenity. I will consider the objections which 
have now raised.

Page 89



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

85

8.2 Local concern has been raised that the location of the new dwelling will be especially 
prominent within the surrounding area. The site itself is fairly unusual for a residential 
property in so far as land levels at this location dramatically slope down to Grove Park 
Avenue and the development will require a significant reduction in existing ground level, 
with the entire site being excavated to at least 1.9m deep. Whilst this will alter the 
topography of the site, the Inspector argued that it would make a positive contribution 
by saying:

“The topography of the site is a positive part of its character and the indicative 
proposals to further reveal this difference in levels would, in my view, celebrate 
this relationship.”

8.3 The result of this is that the dwelling will be more visible within Grove Park Avenue than 
from Brier Road. Nonetheless the ridge height will be at a similar level to properties 
within Grove Park Avenue and I note that the Inspector was satisfied that a new 
dwelling here would not harm the character and appearance of the area by saying:

“The proposed dwelling would have a more direct relationship with Grove Park 
Avenue than Brier Road, and would be viewed as part of this backdrop of 
existing built form by occupiers in Brier Road. Furthermore, I observed that 
nearby properties on Brier Road have a relationship with 23 Grove Park 
Avenue similar to that proposed. Therefore, within this existing context, the 
proposed dwelling would not result in a harmful loss of openness to the rear of 
Brier Road properties, and as such the development would not harm this 
aspect of the character of the area.”

8.4 I too, consider that the new dwelling will sit comfortably within the existing street scene 
without giving rise to any serious harm to the character of the area. The Inspector did 
not view the site as too small for residential development and has accepted that the site 
is appropriate for development of this kind in principle. Members should bear in mind 
that the current drawings are the same as those available to the Inspector, and to which 
he may well have had regard. I consider that the dwelling has been appropriately 
designed and the use of appropriate facing materials can be secured by condition. 

8.5 The proposed dwelling would lie to the rear 47 Brier Road. The Inspector imposed 
conditions regarding windows and separation distances in the interests of the living 
conditions of existing and future occupiers. These conditions would equally protect 
dwellings on either side of number 47. The submitted plans show that the new dwelling 
will comply with these conditions, being sited at least 22.0m from the nearest first floor 
rear window of 47 Brier Road and the rear first floor (obscure glazed) window will serve 
a shower room. As such, I consider that no significant overlooking will occur.

8.6 However, at paragraph 19 of his decision, the Inspector rejected a condition prohibiting 
the insertion of any new windows in the rear elevation of the new house. In so doing, he 
has failed to safeguard the privacy of number 47 (and its neighbours) from the later 
insertion of a first floor rear bedroom window, or a possible two storey rear extension. I 
consider this to be an oversight, and one that the Council can and should correct now. 
A suitable condition (14) has been recommended below which restricts any additional 
windows being inserted at first floor to safeguard this issue. 

8.7 In terms of impact from the front and side facing first floor bedroom windows that are 
now shown, I do not consider that the proposed dwelling will create a loss of privacy 

Page 90



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

86

sufficient to cause significant harm to the amenity of residents in Grove Park Avenue or 
Maylam Gardens which they face towards. There would be an adequate separation 
distance of approximately 21 metres to the rear of 45 Maylam Gardens (to the side) and 
any overlooking to properties to the front (in Grove Park Avenue) would be from an 
oblique angle only. The Council does not operate a policy of minimum window to 
window distances in relation to front windows, but windows to the rear should be at 
least 21m from the windows of other houses to the rear. In this case, the proposal 
conforms to these guidelines.

8.8 I note local concern with regards to problems arising from the construction period, but 
note that this can be dealt with by imposing conditions. I have added conditions in 
relation to working hours and hours for impact pile driving to ensure that any potential 
impact on the amenity of the area is reduced.

8.9 Local residents refer to highway safety and parking provision. At outline stage I was of 
the view that the addition of one dwelling was unlikely to have a significant impact on 
the parking provision on Grove Park Avenue as there are no formal parking restrictions 
in place. I see no reason to change this view now. The submitted drawings show that 
the proposal would provide one car parking space to the front of the dwelling which 
accords with adopted Kent County Council Highways and Transportation standards for 
a dwelling with two bedrooms. In my view, the parking space will be adequate for the 
parking needs of the property as the site lies within a sustainable urban location where 
the occupiers will not be completely reliant on the use of a car. Though, there may be 
potential for on-street parking, I believe that the development will not create any 
significant problems in this matter.

8.10 With regards to local concern about the re-siting of the lamppost further away from the 
footpath, its re-positioning will need approval from Kent Highways and Transportation 
who will be able to take account of the safety of users of the footpath. I note that Kent 
Highways and Transportation raise no concerns about an additional access point here, 
nor do I consider that this will result in any potential congestion or manoeuvring 
problems. 

8.11 Local concern also makes reference to safety concerns of having a driveway access 
next to the footpath. The submitted drawings show a low level wall (0.45m high) which 
will provide adequate sight lines and visibility which is similar to the existing 
arrangement on the opposite side of the footpath. 

8.12 I note that there is local concern in relation to flooding and drainage issues, but the 
property is not located within a flood risk area and drainage details will be controlled 
under building regulations. 

8.13 Due to a recent appeal decision in Newington (ref. 17/503997/FULL), the Council is 
now seeking developer contributions on any application which proposes additional 
residential development within 6km of the Special Protection Area (SPA). The 
application site is within 6km of the SPA, and as such the Council seeks a mitigation 
contribution of £239.61 for each new dwelling. The applicant has confirmed that he is 
willing to pay this fee. The precise means of securing the payment has not yet been set, 
and my Officers remain in discussion with the Head of Legal Services regarding the 
matter. I will be seeking delegation to approve this application subject to that payment 
being secured,

Page 91



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

87

8.14 Finally, in relation to newly raised local concerns about the possibility of slow worms 
being present on the site I have taken the advice of KCC’s Ecological Advice Service 
and recommended a condition regarding precautionary measures, even though the 
likelihood of disturbing any such species appears very low.

9. CONCLUSION

9.1 I consider that due to the clear and recent appeal decision here, this application for the 
erection of a two bedroom detached dwelling is acceptable and I therefore recommend 
that planning permission be granted. I do not consider that there are grounds to refuse 
this application and any opposition to the principle of development is not relevant to the 
decision as this has already been settled at appeal. In terms of conditions I have 
adhered to those imposed by the Inspector where relevant, save only for additional 
conditions relevant to this fully detailed application.

10. RECOMMENDATION 

GRANT Subject to the following conditions:

CONDITIONS 

(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted. 

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

(2) The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved drawings: 

1221/1 C; 1221/2 A; 1221/3 A; 1221/4 and 1221/5;

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

(3) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details 
of the external facing materials to be used in the construction of the development 
hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details. 

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity 

(4) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until full 
details of both hard and soft landscape works (including the facing of retaining walls) 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
These details shall include existing trees, shrubs and other features, planting 
schedules of plants, noting species (which should be native species and of a type that 
will enhance or encourage local biodiversity and wildlife), plant sizes and numbers 
where appropriate, means of enclosure, hard surfacing materials, and an 
implementation programme. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging 
wildlife and biodiversity

Page 92



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

88

(5) All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of 
the development or in accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging 
wildlife and biodiversity

(6) Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any trees or shrubs that are 
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five 
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as 
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever 
planting season is agreed. 

Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging 
wildlife and biodiversity

(7) Demolition or construction works shall take place only between 0730-1900 hours on 
Monday to Friday and 0730–1300 hours on Saturday and shall not take place at any 
time on Sundays or on Bank or Public Holidays. 

Reason:  In the interests of residential amenity. 

(8) Any impact pile driving in connection with the construction of the development shall 
take place only between 0900-1700 hours on Monday to Friday and shall not take 
place at any time on Saturdays, Sundays or on Bank or Public Holidays. 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

(9) Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent the 
deposit of mud and/or other debris on the public highway.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience

(10) The area shown on approved drawing 1221/2 A as a car parking space shall be kept 
available for vehicle parking at all times and no permanent development, whether 
permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order) 
or not, shall be carried out on the land so shown or in such a position as to preclude 
vehicular access thereto; such land and access thereto shall be provided prior to the 
occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted.

Reason: Development without adequate provision for the parking or garaging of 
cars is likely to lead to car parking inconvenient to other road users.

(11) The vehicular access to the site as shown on the approved drawings shall be 
constructed and completed prior to the commencement of the first use of the 
dwellinghouse hereby permitted.

Reason: To ensure that a satisfactory means of access is provided for the site 
and in the interests of highway safety.

(12) No development shall take place until details have been submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority and approved in writing, which set out what measures have been 
taken to ensure that the development incorporates sustainable construction 
techniques such as water conservation and recycling, renewable energy production 
including the inclusion of solar thermal or solar photo voltaic installations, energy 

Page 93



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

89

efficiency, and sustainable drainage principles. Upon approval, the details shall be 
incorporated into the development as approved. 

Reason:  In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable 
development 

(13) The development shall be designed to achieve a water consumption rate of no more 
than 110 litres per person per day, and the dwelling shall not be occupied unless the 
notice for that dwelling of the potential consumption of water per person per day 
required by the Building Regulations 2015 (as amended) has been given to the 
Building Control Inspector (internal or external).

Reason: In the interests of water conservation and sustainability

(14) No additional windows, doors, voids or other openings shall be inserted into the rear 
elevation of the dwelling above ground floor level, nor shall the approved 
dwellinghouse be extended above ground floor level beyond the approved rear wall, 
whether or not such works would ordinarily have been permitted by Class A of Part 1 
of Schedule 2 to The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order) .

Reason: In the interests of the protecting the privacy of homes in Brier Road.

(16) No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works, site 
clearance) until a precautionary method statement for reptiles and nesting birds within 
the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The method statement, produced by an ecologist, shall include the:

a. Map showing area to be cleared and areas of retained suitable habitat
b. Over view of the works to be carried out
c. Methodology to implement the works
d. Timings of the proposed works
e. Details of who will be carrying out the works.

The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details and 
shall be retained in that manner thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of conserving protected species; and to ensure that these 
details are approved before works commence.

The Council’s approach to the application

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 
2018 the Council  takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a pre-
application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had 
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application

Appropriate Assessment under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017.

Page 94



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

90

This Appropriate Assessment has been undertaken without information provided by the 
applicant.

The application site is located within 6km of The Swale Special Protection Area (SPA) which 
is a European designated sites afforded protection under the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 as amended (the Habitat Regulations). 

SPAs are protected sites classified in accordance with Article 4 of the EC Birds Directive. 
They are classified for rare and vulnerable birds and for regularly occurring migratory 
species.  Article 4(4) of the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC) requires Member States to take 
appropriate steps to avoid pollution or deterioration of habitats or any disturbances affecting 
the birds, in so far as these would be significant having regard to the objectives of this Article.

Due to the scale of development there is no scope to provide on site mitigation such as an on-
site dog walking area or signage to prevent the primary causes of bird disturbance, which are 
recreational disturbance including walking, dog walking (particularly off the lead), and 
predation of birds by cats. The proposal thus has potential to affect said site’s features of 
interest, and an Appropriate Assessment is required to establish the likely impacts of the 
development.

In considering the European site interest, Natural England (NE) advises the Council that it 
should have regard to any potential impacts that the proposal may have. Regulations 63 and 
64 of the Habitat Regulations require a Habitat Regulations Assessment.  For similar 
proposals NE also advises that the proposal is not necessary for the management of the 
European sites and that subject to a financial contribution to strategic mitigation, the proposal 
is unlikely to have significant effects on these sites. 

The recent (April 2018) judgement (People Over Wind v Coillte Teoranta, ref. C-323/17) 
handed down by the Court of Justice of the European Union ruled that, when determining the 
impacts of a development on protected area, “it is not appropriate, at the screening stage, to 
take account of the measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of the plan or 
project on that site.”  The development therefore cannot be screened out of the need to 
provide an Appropriate Assessment solely on the basis of the mitigation measures agreed 
between Natural England and the North Kent Environmental Planning Group (NKEPG).

NE has stipulated that, when considering any residential development within 6km of the SPA, 
the Council should secure financial contributions to the Thames, Medway and Swale 
Estuaries Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) Strategy in accordance 
with the recommendations of the (NKEPG) and that such strategic mitigation must be in place 
before the dwelling is occupied. Based on the correspondence with Natural England (via the 
NKEPG), I conclude that off site mitigation is required.  

In this regard, whilst there are likely to be impacts upon the SPA arising from this 
development, the mitigation measures to be implemented within the SPA from collection of 
the standard SAMMS tariff (to be secured by either s106 agreement or unilateral undertaking 
on all qualifying developments) will ensure that these impacts will not be significant or long-
term.  I therefore consider that, subject to mitigation, there will be no adverse effect on the 
integrity of the SPA.

It can be noted that the required mitigation works will be carried out by Bird Wise, the brand 
name of the North Kent Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Scheme (SAMMS) 
Board, which itself is a partnership of local authorities, developers and environmental 
organisations, including SBC, KCC, Medway Council, Canterbury Council, the RSPB, Kent 
Wildlife Trust, and others.

Page 95



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

91

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 96



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

92

Page 97



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

93

APPENDIX 1

Page 98



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

94

APPENDIX 1

Page 99



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

95

APPENDIX 1

Page 100



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

96

APPENDIX 1

Page 101



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.1

97

APPENDIX 1

Page 102



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

98

2.2  REFERENCE NO - 18/505315/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Erection of 5no. detached houses with associated access and parking including detached 
carport to Plot 2.

ADDRESS Land At The Tracies Newington Kent ME9 7TQ   

RECOMMENDATION - Grant

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION/REASONS FOR REFUSAL
The revised proposal is acceptable with regards to the relevant policies of the development plan; 
Bearing Fruits (2031), government guidance in the revised NPPF and all other material 
considerations such as are relevant. It would not give rise to any material harm to the visual 
amenity of the surrounding countryside or have adverse impacts to the residential amenity of 
adjoining properties. It would preserve the setting of the nearby designated heritage assets. 
REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Parish Council objection
WARD Hartlip, Newington 
And Upchurch

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Newington

APPLICANT Mr D King
AGENT Shaw Design Services 
Ltd.

DECISION DUE DATE
07/12/18

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
16/11/18

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites):
15/508683/OUT Outline application for the erection of four 

detached dwellings with associated access, 
garages and carports. 

Refused 
Appeal 
Allowed 

2017

PAA/13/0300 Redevelopment of site for housing Unacceptable 
in principle 2013

SW/03/0850 Outline application for residential 
development

Withdrawn 
2003

SW/00/0126 Erection of 4 detached dwellings with 
integral garages.

Refused 
Appeal 
Dismissed 

2000

SW/00/0125 Erection of two dwellings with integral 
garages 

Refused 
Appeal 
Dismissed

2000

SW/96/1055 Erection of 5 detached houses and garages Refused 1996
SW/81/471 Outline application for residential 

development
Refused 1981

SW/80/1110 Outline application for the erection of 6 four-
bedroom houses with one garage

Refused
1980

SW/75/226 Outlie application for 36 houses Refused 1975
SW/75/225 Outline application for 6 houses Refused 1975
NK/9/62/193A/7054A Use of land for residential development 

refused
Refused 1972

NK/9/67/32B/9198B Use of land as a site for the extension of 
‘The Tracies’ estate.

Refused 1971

NK/9/67/32 Erection of 13 dwellings Refused 
Appeal 
Dismissed

1967

NK/9/62/193/7054 Use of land for residential development Refused 1962

Page 103



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

99

1 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.1 The application site comprises of an irregular shaped plot located to the east of the 
residential development known as ‘The Tracies’. The site is lies just outside the defined 
settlement boundary of Newington a designated Rural Local Service Centre in the 
adopted Local Plan, Bearing Fruit (2013). The site is approximately 0.30 hectares in 
size and has a previous historical agricultural use as an orchard. 

1.2 The site is accessed directly from ‘The Tracies, a pubic highway that currently serves 
the existing seven detached houses in the cul-de-sac. There is an existing unmade 
public foot path (ZR61) that crosses the site which in effect divides it into northern and 
southern parcels. 

1.3 The architectural character within The Tracies generally comprises of two-storey 
detached residential properties constructed predominately of brick facing material to 
the principal elevations with pitched tiled roof. The dwellings have generous rear 
gardens although the front gardens which adjoin the public highway are relatively 
modest.  

1.4 There are several terraced houses of a variety of building types, scale, and massing to 
the north of the existing development at The Tracies.

2 PROPOSAL

2.1 Outline permission was granted on 6th July 2018 at appeal for the erection of 4no. four 
bedroom detached dwellings with associated access and parking including an attached 
double garage, two detached double car ports and an integral garage at the site.     

2.2 The current submission proposes erection of 5no. detached houses with associated 
access and parking including a detached carport to plot 2. The scheme is submitted on 
the basis that the principle of the site accommodating four large detached dwellings has 
been established at appeal, and the current proposal for five dwellings represents the 
most effective use of the land. The scheme was the subject of pre-application 
discussions and amended further to address concerns relating to excessive 
hardstanding within the development.

2.3 The submission is accompanied by plans showing five detached dwellings of 
traditionally designed and appearance. The buildings are arranged in an enclosed 
format as a continuation of the existing development within the cul-de-sac. Four of the 
proposed dwellings would be located largely over the footprint of the previously 
approved development. The additional dwelling is positioned at the centre of the open 
space between plots 2 and 5 to provide a focal point and sense of completion for the 
development. 

2.4 Plot 1 -This is to the north western part of the site and is occupied by a 4 bedroom 
detached two-storey dwelling with integral garage. It would be 7.7 metres high with 
eaves at 5 metres. The roof would be pitched and the front elevation would feature a 
projecting gable feature set down from the main roof and a porch. There would be 4 
bedrooms at first floor with one en-suite and a family bathroom. The ground floor would 
accommodate a hall entrance, living dining room, kitchen, downstairs toilet, study and 
garage.

2.5 Plot 2 – This is located at the north eastern part of site and would be a 4 bedroom 
detached dwelling covered in hipped tiled roof featuring a gablet. It would have a bay 
window feature at ground floor and a detached carport which is located close to the 
south east facing elevation. The building would be 7.7 metres high with eaves at 5 
metres. The ground floor would have living room, family room, kitchen, dining room, 

Page 104



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

100

hall, utility and cloak room. There would be 4 bedrooms at first floor one with en-suite 
facilities and a family bathroom. 

2.6 Plot 3 – This amounts to the proposed additional dwelling which is positioned at the 
centre of the site. The principal elevation would have direct views from within The 
Traces. It would have a hipped roof with a gabled feature and porch at the front. The 
building would have a ridge height of 7.7 metres with eaves at 5 metres. There would 
be a dining/living room, breakfast/kitchen area, hall entrance study and an integral 
garage at ground floor. The accommodation provided at first floor would be 4 
bedrooms, one with en-suite facilities and a family bathroom. 

2.7 Plots 4 and 5 - The dwellings on plot 4 and 5 to the south of the application site would 
have an identical design featuring a barn hip and a gable feature at the front elevation 
which is set down from the ridge. Each would have 4 bedrooms at first floor two with en-
suit facilities. There is an integral garage, living/dining room breakfast/kitchen, porch 
cloak room and porch at ground floor. 

3 SUMMARY INFORMATION

Existing Proposed Change (+/-)

Site Area (ha) 0.30 0.30 0
Approximate Ridge Height (m) n/a 7.7m 0
Approximate Eaves Height (m) n/a 5m 0
No. of Residential Units 0 5 +5

4 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

4.1 Adjacent to - Newington High Street Conservation Area

4.2 Adjacent to Lion House, a grade II listed building

5 POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

5.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): Paras 8 (three dimensions of 
sustainable development); 10, 11 (presumption in favour of sustainable development); 
47 (Determining applications); 54, 55, 56, 57 (planning conditions and obligations); 61 
(delivering sufficient supply of homes); 124, 127, 128, 130, 131 (good design); 174, 
175, 176, 177 (Biodiversity); 189, 190, 191 and 192 (Proposals affecting heritage 
assets).

5.2 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG): Design and public rights of way.

5.3 Development Plan: Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017 – 
Policies ST1 (Delivering sustainable development in Swale); ST2 (Development targets 
for jobs and homes 2014-2031); ST3 (The Swale settlement strategy); ST4 (Meeting 
the Local Plan development targets); CP2 (Promoting sustainable transport); CP3 
(Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes); CP4 (Requiring good design); DM7 
(Vehicle parking); DM14 (General development criteria); DM19 (Sustainable design 
and construction); DM21 (Water, flooding and drainage); DM28 (Biodiversity and 
geological conservation); DM32 (Development involving listed buildings); and DM33 
(Development affecting a conservation area).

6 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

Page 105



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

101

6.1 10 representations have been received from local residents raising the following 
(summarised) issues:

 Increase in traffic and congestion
 The density of the development is inappropriate for this countryside location
 Loss of natural wildlife. 
 Reptile report makes no mention of insects and endangered species
 Presence of established walnut tree
 Loss of established trees
 Harm to the integrity of the Medway Estuary & Marshes SPA
 The development is contrary to polices of the adopted local plan. 
 Increase in noise  
 Recent appeal decision in the area sets the precedence for this application to be 

refused
 Air pollution within the AQMA of Newington high Street

7 CONSULTATIONS

7.1 Newington Parish Council raises objection to the proposal and comments as follows:

Newington Parish Council accepts with regret the decision of the Planning Inspectorate 
to allow the appeal for 4 detached houses in The Tracies. Councillors note the 
comments in 4.2 in the agent's design and access statement and whilst we accept the 
development of the five houses could potentially close the gap, the Parish Council and 
residents are concerned that the indicative gap on the application next to plots 3, 4 and 
5 would still make a wide enough access giving the potential for future development to 
the east on arable land. Councillors do not understand why plot 5 could not be turned 
90° to close the gap.

7.2 KCC Highways and Transport: Comments that the development proposal does not 
meet the criteria to warrant involvement from the Highway Authority in accordance with 
the current consultation protocol arrangements.

7.3 Swale Footpath Group: State that the applicant recognizes the need for a diversion of 
ZR61 to enable development. As the new route would run close to the proposed 
houses, their privacy and security will need consideration (good fences or walls?) at an 
early stage.

7.4 Kent County Council Public Rights of Way and Access Service: Comments that:

 The existence of the right of way is a material consideration. Should consent be 
granted, the development will impact upon the public use, enjoyment and 
amenity of the Public Right of Way.

 The applicant states public footpath ZR61 passes through the site, however the 
legal alignment and the walked route on the ground are not in the same location. 
In line with consent relating to planning application 15/508683/OUT the applicant 
has applied to divert the legal alignment of the footpath onto a suitable route 
through the proposed development.

7.5 Environmental Health: Raises no objection. Recommends conditions relating to the 
construction phase of the development and the protection of the residential amenity of 
neighbouring properties.

8 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

Page 106



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

102

8.1 The submission is accompanied by the following plans/drawings: Plan/Drawing 1826-
01 Location Plan, Plan/Drawing 1826-02 Site Layout, Plan/Drawing 1826-03 Site 
Survey, Plan/Drawing 1826-04 Plot 1 Plans, Plan/Drawing 1826-05 Plot 2 Plans, 
Plan/Drawing 1826-06 Plot 3 Plans, Plan/Drawing 1826-07 Plot 4-5 Plans, 
Plan/Drawing 1826-08 Plot 1 Elevations, Plan/Drawing 1826-09 Plot 2 Elevations, 
Plan/Drawing 1826-10 Plot 3 Elevations, Plan/Drawing 1826-11 Plot 4 Elevations, 
Plan/Drawing 1826-12 Plot 5 Elevations, Plan/Drawing 1826-13 Plot 2 Carport, Design 
and access Statement, Reptile Survey, and a Phase 1 Ecology Survey. 

9 APPRAISAL

Principle of Development

9.1 The principle of residential development at the application site with regards to the 
erection of 4no. detached dwellings including garages and carports with associated 
access and parking was established under the appeal allowed at the site (attached as  
Appendix 1). Therefore, the key question for members in this current submission is 
whether the site is capable of accommodating the additional dwelling proposed without 
harm visual harm to amenities of the local area. It is also necessary to consider the 
cumulative impact the current proposal might have on nearby heritage assets and 
highway safety.  

Visual Impact:

9.2 The application site is located at the end of an existing cul-de-sac of seven detached 
houses and is relatively well contained by existing residential development to the north, 
south and west. The area to the west of the site whilst open and green is unremarkable 
in character. Although the scheme currently proposed would require some degree of 
alteration of the approved layout to accommodate the additional dwelling, the 
development would still appear as ‘a natural extension to The Tracies as noted in the 
appeal inspector’s report. In my view the location of the additional unit would help 
enclose the eastern part of the site providing a sense of completion for the 
development. The siting of the additional dwelling would almost certainly preclude 
further develop on land to the east of the site which weighs in favour of this proposal.

9.3 The proposed layout, scale and mass reflects the general character of the surrounding 
area that generally comprise of two storey properties. Although the revised scheme 
would result in an increase in site density, it is a more effective use of the land and 
would still remain within the range of densities in the surrounding area. Importantly, the 
resulting development would not appear as cramped form of development or give rise 
to any material harm to the visual amenity of the locality or the wider setting. 

9.4 The development utilises a verity of architectural styles, fenestration and form of roof 
configuration that is in keeping with the visual character of the area. Traditional 
materials are proposed which would help ensure that the development responds 
positively to and integrates well within it’s surroundings. The revised scheme is well 
contained within the site and would not result in harm to the character and appearance 
or the intrinsic beauty of the countryside.  

Residential Amenity

9.5 The development would have residential neighbours to the north, south and west of 
the application site. However, the separation distances between the existing and proposed 
dwellings would be such that the scheme would not adversely affect the amenities of any 
neighbour in terms of over shadowing, loss of light, outlook or privacy. Each property would 
have acceptable outdoor amenity provision and in considering the separating distances, 

Page 107



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

103

orientation, positioning and angles of fenestration, the proposal is acceptable in relation to the 
amenities of the future occupants of the proposed buildings in terms of outlook, privacy, light 
or general disturbance.

Highways

9.6 The development would include independent access and adequate off street parking 
provision within the scheme is compliant with Kent Highway parking standards. Considering 
the nominal additional traffic likely to be generated by the revised proposal, the impact on 
highway safety and the free flow of traffic is likely to be minimal. Kent Highways and 
Transport does not raise any objections to the proposal. Whilst objections have been raised 
regarding a likely adverse impact of increased vehicular traffic on the local road network in 
general and rural lanes in particular, it is not considered that the increased vehicular traffic 
that would result from this revised proposal would compromise highway safety, the integrity of 
the country lanes or local amenity in the vicinity of the site.

9.7 The existing public footpath (ZR61) that passes through the site is indicated to be 
retained within the overall scheme, however, an application have now been submitted to Kent 
Council under the Public Path Orders of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 seeking 
diversion of the footpath around the outer perimeter of the development.

Heritage Impacts

9.8 The site lies adjacent to Newington High Street Conservation Area and Lion House, a 
grade II Listed building and due consideration needs to given to the desirability of preserving 
these heritage assets. The appeals inspector in his report on the previously approved 
scheme states that; ‘while the development would form part of the setting of Newington High 
Street Conservation Area and Lion House a grade II listed building on High Street, the setting 
of those heritage assets would be preserved’. This revised development although for 5 
dwellings is well designed and would not be significantly different in terms of layout and 
appearance from the previously approved scheme. I do not believe that it would have a 
harmful impact on the special character of the High Street Conservation Area. Equally, the 
proposal would not harm the setting of the listed building at Lion House.  

Landscaping

9.9 Although there are no protected trees within the site, there appear to be a number of 
established trees within it and whilst the application is not accompanied by a landscaping 
scheme, the proposals provide a good opportunity for the introduction of landscaping that will 
increase biodiversity and bring significant environmental enhancement to this site. A planning 
condition seeking Arboricultural Method Statement to protect existing tress on the land, and a 
landscaping scheme that is sympathetic to the site’s countryside context to help soften the 
appearance of the development is necessary.

Ecology

9.10 The guidance in the NPPF encourages opportunities to incorporate biodiversity 
enhancements in and around new developments. In terms of ecological impacts of the 
development, the application is accompanied by a Phase I Ecology Survey and a Reptile 
survey which are considered to be sufficient for the site. The KCC Ecologist has been 
consulted and raises no objection to the proposal subject to conditions requiring updated 
ecological survey and a bat scoping survey prior to work commencing on trees. The 
ecology/biodiversity matters raised by neighbouring objectors are adequately addressed by 
the conditions appended. 

Impact on SPA and Ramsar Sites

Page 108



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

104

9.11 I have for completeness set out an Appropriate Assessment below. Since this 
application would result in an increase in residential accommodation on the site, impacts to 
the SPA and Ramsar sites may occur from increased recreational disturbance. Due to the 
scale of the development there is no scope to provide on site mitigation and therefore off site 
mitigation is required by means of developer contribution at the rate of £239.61 per dwelling. 
The Agent has provided written confirmation that the applicant would be willing to pay this 
mitigation fee, which will be secured by way of a unilateral undertaking.  

Other Matters

9.12 The planning issues raised by Newington Parish Council and neighbouring objectors 
have been addressed in the main appraisal section of this report. 

10 CONCLUSION

10.1 The application site has extant permission for 4no. dwellings and the current proposal 
entails revision of the approved scheme to provide 5no. dwellings. The revised scheme is of 
appropriate scale, layout and design and does not give rise to any unacceptable visual harm 
to countryside interest or visual amenity of the general vicinity of the site. I have considered 
the impact of the development on the residential amenities of neighbouring residential 
occupiers and have found no adverse impacts significant enough to warrant a refusal of 
planning permission. The proposal would preserve the architectural integrity and features of 
special interest of nearby designated heritage assets. With adequate off-street parking 
provision that is complaint with Kent Highways parking standards, and negligible impact on 
highway safety and the free flow of traffic a conditional approval is recommended. 

11 RECOMMENDATION 

11.1 GRANT Subject to the following conditions:

CONDITIONS to include

(1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission; 

Reason: In accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

(2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
following approved plans:1826-02 Rev. A - Site Layout, 1826-03 Site Survey, 1826-04 
Plot 1 Plans, 1826-05 Plot 2 Plans, 1826-06 Plot 3 Plans, 1826-07 Plot 4-5 Plans,  
1826-08 Plot 1 Elevations, 1826-09 Plot 2 Elevations, 1826-10 Plot 3 Elevations,  
1826-11 Plot 4 Elevations, 1826-12 Plot 5 Elevations, 1826-13 Plot 2 Carport

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and to safeguard 
the enjoyment of their properties by existing and prospective occupiers.

Pre Commencement Conditions

(3) The development shall not commence past slab level until written details of the 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the new build 
dwellings and hard surfaces have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and the development shall be constructed using the 
approved materials and maintained thereafter unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the local planning authority;

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development. 

Page 109



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

105

(4) No development shall take place until details of a sustainable drainage scheme for the 
disposal of surface water and waste water have been submitted to and approved by 
the local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented and thereafter 
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into 
this development and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions.

(5) No development shall take place until a construction method statement has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The construction 
method statement shall provide for:

a) the parking of vehicles for site operatives and visitors;

b) loading and unloading of plant and materials;

c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;

d) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays 
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;

e) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;

f) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from the construction works; 
and

g) the construction working hours.

The approved construction method statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period for the development.

Reason: In the interest of residential amenity and to ensure adequate on site parking 
and turning provision is made for construction traffic in the interest of highway safety 
and the free flow of traffic.

(6) Prior to any works on trees being carried out a bat scoping survey, recommended 
emergence surveys and details of a mitigation strategy must be submitted to the LPA 
for written approval. The trees must be felled as detailed within the approved 
mitigation strategy.

Reason: In the interest of ecology and biodiversity on the site.

(7) Prior to any vegetation clearance a detailed ecological mitigation and enhancement 
strategy informed by an updated ecological survey(s) must be submitted for written 
approval by the LPA.

Reason: To protect and enhance the ecology and biodiversity on the site.

(8) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until full 
details of both hard and soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include existing trees, 
shrubs and other features, planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall 
be native species and of a type that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity), plant 
sizes and numbers where appropriate, means of enclosure, hard surfacing materials, 
and an implementation programme. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife 
and biodiversity. 

(9) All trees to be retained must be protected by suitable fencing of a height not less than 
1.2m at a distance as specified in Table 1 or Figure 2 of BS 5837 (2012) ‘Trees in 

Page 110



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

106

Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction’ before any equipment, machinery or 
materials are brought on to the site and shall be maintained until all equipment, 
machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site. Nothing shall be 
stored or placed, nor fires lit, within any of the area fenced in accordance with this 
condition and the ground levels within that area shall not be altered, nor shall any 
excavation be made, without the written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To safeguard the existing trees to be retained and to ensure a satisfactory 
setting and external appearance to the development.

(10) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details 
have been submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing, which 
set out what measures have been taken to ensure that the development incorporates 
sustainable construction techniques such as water conservation and recycling, 
renewable energy production including the inclusion of solar thermal or solar photo 
voltaic installations, and energy efficiency. Upon approval, the details shall be 
incorporated into the development in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
first use of any dwelling.

Reason: In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable development.

(11) No development including site clearance and demolition shall take place until an 
Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) in accordance with the current edition of BS 
5837 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
The AMS should detail implementation of any aspect of the development that has the 
potential to result in the loss of, or damage to trees, including their roots and, for 
example, take account of site access, demolition and construction activities, 
foundations, service runs and level changes. It should also detail any tree works 
necessary to implement the approved scheme and include a tree protection plan. The 
development shall proceed in accordance with the approved measures. 

Reason: To enable the Landscape Officer access the impact of the development on 
trees to be retained and in the interests of landscape, visual impact and amenity of the 
area and to ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development.

Construction Phase

(12) The approved details of the parking/turning areas shall be completed before the 
commencement of the use of the buildings hereby permitted and shall thereafter be 
kept available for such use. No development, whether permitted by the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) (England) Order 
2015 (or any order revoking and re- enacting that Order, with or without modification) 
or not, shall be carried out on the areas indicated or in such a position as to preclude 
vehicular access to them; 

Reason: Development without adequate parking/turning provision is likely to lead to 
parking inconvenient to other road users and in the interests of road safety. 

(13) No demolition/construction activities shall take place, other than between 0800 to 
1800 hours (Monday to Friday) and 0800 to 1300 hours (Saturday) with no working 
activities on Sunday or Bank Holiday.

Reason: In the interest of residential amenity.

Page 111



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

107

Post Construction 

(14) All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part 
of the development or in accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife 
and biodiversity.

(15) Upon completion, no further development permitted by Classes A, B, C or D of Part 1 
of Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order), shall be carried out.

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area.

(16) Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted external lighting shall be in 
place that is in accordance with a lighting design strategy that has previously been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The strategy shall:

a) Identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and in 
which lighting must be designed to minimise disturbance, and; 

b) Show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of 
appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it can be clearly 
demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory or 
having access to their breeding sites and resting places.

c) Include measures to reduce light pollution and spillage.

All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and 
locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be maintained thereafter in 
accordance with the strategy.

Reason: In the interest of biodiversity protection and visual amenity.

(17) The development shall be designed to achieve a water consumption rate of no more 
than 110 litres per person per day, and the dwellings shall not be occupied unless the 
notice for the dwellings of the potential consumption of water per person per day 
required by the Building Regulations 2015 (As amended) has been given to the 
Building Control Inspector (internal or external). 

Reason: In the interests of water conservation and sustainability.

INFORMATIVES

1. Any planning consent given confer no consent or right to disturb or divert any Public 
Right Of Way at anytime without the express permission of the Highway Authority.

2. Attention is drawn to Sections 60 & 61 of the COPA 1974 and to the Associated 
British Standard COP BS 5228: 2009 for noise control on construction sites. Statutory 
requirements are laid down for control of noise during works of construction and 
demolition and you are advised to contact the EHM regarding noise control 
requirements.

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 
2018 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a pre-

Page 112



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

108

application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

In this instance; 

The applicant/agent was advised of changes required to the application and these were 
agreed. The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

Habitat Regulations

Appropriate Assessment under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulation 
2017

The Appropriate Assessment (AA) have been undertaken without information provided by the 
applicant. 

The site is within 6km south of the Medway Estuary and Marshes Special Protection Area 
(SPA) which is a European designated site afforded protection under the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 as amended (the Habitat Regulations). 

SPAs are protected sites classified in accordance with Article 4 of the EC Birds Directive. 
They are classified for rare and vulnerable birds and for regularly occurring migratory 
species. Article 4(4) of the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC) requires Member States to take 
appropriate steps to avoid pollution or deterioration of habitats or any disturbances affecting 
the birds, in so far as these would be significant having regard to the objectives of this Article.

The proposal therefore has the potential to affect the site’s special features of interest, and an 
Appropriate Assessment is required to establish the likely impacts of the development. In 
considering the European site interest, Natural England advises the Council that it should 
have regard to any potential impacts that the proposal may have. Regulations 63 and 64 of 
the Habitat Regulations require a Habitat Regulations Assessment. For similar proposals NE 
also advise that the proposal is not necessary for the management of the European sites and 
that subject to a financial contribution to strategic mitigation and site remediation satisfactory 
to the EA, the proposal is unlikely to have significant effects on these sites.

The recent (April 2018) judgement (People Over Wind v Coillte Teoranta, ref. C-323/17) 
handed down by the Court of Justice of the European Union ruled that, when determining the 
impacts of a development on protected area, “it is not appropriate, at the screening stage, to 
take account of the measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of the plan or 
project on that site.” The development therefore cannot be screened out of the need to 
provide an Appropriate Assessment (AA) solely on the basis of the agreed Strategic Access 
Management and Monitoring Strategy measures (SAMMS), and needs to progress to 
consideration under an AA.

However the proposed development is of a very small scale and, in itself and in combination 
with other development, would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the SPA, subject 
to the conditions set out within the report.

Notwithstanding the above, NE has stipulated that, when considering any residential 
development within 6km of the SPA, the Council should secure financial contributions to the 
Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries Strategic Access Management and Monitoring 
(SAMM) Strategy in accordance with recommendations of the North East Environmental 
Planning Group (NKEPG), and that such strategic mitigation must be in place before the 
dwellings are occupied. 

Page 113



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

109

Due to the scale of the development there is no scope to provide on site mitigation such as on 
site dog walking area or signage to prevent the primary cause of bird disturbance which are 
recreational disturbance including walking, dog walking (particularly off the lead), and 
predation of birds by cats. 

Based on the correspondence with Natural England (via the NKEPG), I conclude that off site 
mitigation is required.

In this regard, whist there is likely to be impacts upon the SPA arising from this development, 
the mitigation measures to be implemented within the SPA from collection of the standard 
SAMMS tariff (to be secured by either a s106 agreement or unilateral undertaking on all 
qualifying developments) will ensure that these impacts would not be significant or long-term. 
I therefore consider that subject to mitigation, there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of 
the SPA. 

It can be noted that the required mitigation works will be carried out by Bird Wise, the brand 
name of the North Kent Strategic Access Management and monitoring Scheme (SAMMS) 
Board, which itself is a partnership of local authorities, developers and environmental 
organizations, including SBC, KCC, Medway Council, Canterbury Council, the RSPB, Kent 
Wildlife Trust, and other (https://birdwise.org.uk/).

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 114



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

110

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

APPENDIX 1

111
Page 117



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

APPENDIX 1

112
Page 118



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

APPENDIX 1

113
Page 119



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

APPENDIX 1

114
Page 120



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

APPENDIX 1

115
Page 121



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

APPENDIX 1

116
Page 122



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.2

APPENDIX 1

117
Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report - 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.3

118

2.3  REFERENCE NO - 18/502095/FULL & 18/502096/LBC
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Conversion of existing barn to residential use, including revised internal layout, minor changes 
to external windows and doors (Wagon window/door and single door) and erection of a new 
outbuilding; as amended by drawing 000-22 Revision R7 received 10 September 2018.

ADDRESS Green Farm Barn Stalisfield Road Stalisfield Faversham Kent ME13 0HY 

RECOMMENDATION – Grant Planning Permission and Listed Building Consent 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE Parish Council objections to proposed outbuilding 
only

WARD East Downs PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Stalisfield

APPLICANT Mr Jon Hutchings
AGENT Guy Hollaway 
Architects

DECISION DUE DATE
11/07/18

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
29/06/18

Planning History 

SW/14/0324 
Listed Building Consent for proposed new internal arrangement, final window and shutter 
positions
Approved. Decision Date: 08.05.2014

SW/12/1247 & SW/12/1248
Conversion of redundant timber frame barn to residential use
Approved. Decision Date 15.04.2013

SW/12/0797
Listed Building Consent for the demolition and rebuilding of the plinth walls, south wall and 
floors, repairs and alterations to the timber frame (all retrospective) and the replacement of 
the metal sheet roof with thatch.
Approved. Decision Date 15.10.2012

SW/07/1311 & SW/07/1312
Conversion of existing barn to residential.
Approved. Decision Date: 21.12.2007

SW/02/1422 & SW/02/1423
Conversion of redundant agricultural barn to residential use
Approved. Decision Date: 17.11.2004

1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.1 The site consists of a C17 century Grade II listed barn, which is in the process of repair 
and conversion to a dwelling. The barn is in a sensitive and remote rural location, 
outside of any established built-up area boundary. It is situated in the Stalisfield Green 
conservation area and within the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB).

1.2 There is a very long and complicated planning history for the property, going back over 
a decade. In 2004, the initial planning permission and listed building consent for the 
conversion of the barn were granted under references SW/02/1422 & SW/02/1423.

Page 125



Planning Committee Report - 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.3

119

1.3 In 2008, planning and listed building consent were granted for the repair and 
conversion of the barn under planning references SW/07/1311 & 1312.

1.4 In 2012, works having been commenced, it was found that there were problems with 
the existing foundations and timber frame. Works on these which differed from those 
approved commenced, and a retrospective application was made under planning 
reference SW/12/0797.

1.5 When the drawings to discharge conditions on these applications were received, it 
was noted that they differed somewhat from those approved under references SW/12/1247 & 
1248. Officers visited the site, and found that distinct changes to the approved works had 
been carried out without consent. The applicant was not aware that these changes had been 
made, and commenced legal proceedings against the architect who had overseen the works. 
However, this still left the problem that unauthorised works had occurred, which had resulted 
in significant loss of historic fabric.

1.6 These issues were addressed under planning references SW/12/1247 & 1248. 
Although by then historic fabric had already been lost, these applications mitigated the 
matter to some extent, and it was felt that it would be wrong to prosecute the applicant, 
who was neither aware of nor authorised the unlawful works.

1.7 Finally, an application to change the proposed internal layout and some commensurate 
fenestration was approved in 2014 under planning reference SW/14/0324.

1.8 Since then works have continued slowly. A new thatched roof has been completed, and 
all fenestration has been installed, thus rendering the building watertight. Internal works 
are ongoing, with the new first floor having been inserted. However, the applicant has 
decided that he wishes to change the floor plans, and to construct a new outbuilding on 
the site of a previous building that stood on the site until at least 2009, but which has 
since been demolished along with a number of other former farmyard buildings here.

2. PROPOSAL

2.1 The proposal is for internal changes to the building, some minor changes to 
fenestration and the construction of a new outbuilding within the curtilage of the barn.

2.2 The internal changes mainly concentrate on the internal arrangement of 
accommodation across the two floors. The previously approved drawings showed a 
‘topsy-turvy’ arrangement with bedrooms at ground floor level, with living rooms, etc. at 
first floor level. The scheme that is proposed shows both living accommodation and 
bedrooms spread across both floors. The ground floor accommodates the kitchen and 
associated facilities in the left with dining in the middle bay and additional bedrooms 
and bathrooms in the right hand bay. The main living room is on the first floor right hand 
bay, as is the Master bedroom within the left-hand bay and a gallery-landing area in the 
middle bay. The new staircase would also be relocated.

2.2 The minor fenestration changes reflect the changes in the layout, and refer to a single 
door and the window and door situation regarding the main cart doors. All replacement 
and new doors and window screens are to be of traditional design and manufactured in 
green oak to suit the existing openings. The design of the new screens will have a 
simple framed vertical emphasis and be recessed. All windows are to follow approved 
details as per previous listed building approvals and are currently being installed. 

Page 126



Planning Committee Report - 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.3

120

2.3 Large wagon doors / windows are proposed to be of a similar design and in line with the 
external wall. Shutters are to be positioned as open 90° in relation to the external walls. 
Two new external timber doors are proposed, both in line with historical photographs - 
one to the side of the west wagon door and one to the west corner. Both openings were 
present originally - the one by the west cartgate was a pedestrian door (to allow access 
to the barn when the main doors were shut) - the other was probably an opening to 
allow pitching of straw from the barn to the northern yard.

2.4 The proposal also includes the installation of a new threshing floor. The original 
threshing floor was taken up at the same time as the other unauthorised works noted 
above, and was stored in such a manner that the historic fabric rotted very quickly. Both 
the case Officer and the conservation Officer have inspected the original timbers, and it 
is difficult to see how they could be used or restored again, the damage being quite 
considerable.

2.5 The proposed outbuilding, which would serve as a plant room and a workshop, would 
measure 9.7 metres in depth by 3.6 metres in width, and would be situated just to the north of 
the existing building in the same position as a previous building of similar size which is 
evident on historic plans and photographs. The amended design would follow the design 
ethic of traditional agricultural outbuildings, being finished with a corrugated iron roof and 
black stained weatherboarding.

3. PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty KENT DOWNS

Conservation Area Stalisfield Green

Listed Buildings SBC Ref Number: 984/SW
Description: G II GREEN FARM, STALISFIELD ROAD, STALISFIELD, FAVERSHAM

4. POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): Paragraphs 11 – Sustainable 
Development; 79 – Optimal viable use of heritage assets; and 196 – Less-than-
substantial harm to heritage assets.

Development Plan: Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017: Policies 
ST3 (Settlement Strategy); ST7 (Faversham and Kent Downs Area Strategy); CP4 
(Good Design); CP8 (Conserving and Enhancing the historic environment); DM14 
(General Development Criteria); DM16 (Alterations); DM24 (Conserving and enhancing 
valued landscapes); DM32 (Listed Buildings) and DM33 (Conservation Areas).

5. LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 No local representations have been received

6. CONSULTATIONS

6.1 Stalisfield Parish Council raises no objection to the changes to the main building, but 
raises objection to the proposed outbuilding. In view of the Parish Council’s concerns, 
the applicant has been in contact with the PC, demonstrating that there was a building 
on this site until relatively recently, and changing the proposed design of the building, 
but the PC still raise objection as follows: 

Page 127



Planning Committee Report - 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.3

121

‘Councillors have considered the amended proposals and while they had no 
objections to the conversion of the barn, there were concerns regarding the 
proposed new outbuilding. Councillors are concerned that the outbuilding is 
still too close to the barn and will detract from the historic significance of the 
barn which currently sits by itself. The Council re-iterates its previous 
objections that:

-It is not in the vernacular of the village
-It will be visible from the front and side and will detract from the layout from 
the plot

-It is not aesthetic or in keeping with the area.’

7. APPRAISAL

7.1 Firstly, it must be acknowledged that the principle of development here has been 
accepted and approved in every application before the present applications. As such, 
the pertinent points to consider are the effect of the proposal upon the character and 
appearance of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB); the effect upon the 
character and appearance of the conservation area; and the commensurate effect upon 
the listed building and its setting. For the sake of regularity, this report will consider 
each matter in turn, although it is readily acknowledged that these issues sometimes 
merge with each other.

7.2 In accordance with Policy DM24, for an application within the AONB to succeed, it 
must comply with the requirements of Policy DM24 of Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale 
Borough Local Plan 2017. I would contend that the careful design and conservation of this 
important listed building has enhanced this part of the AONB, having resulted in the careful 
restoration and conversion of the barn from the somewhat derelict shell which it presented 
less than fifteen years ago. Policy DM24 requires proposals within the AONB to conserve and 
enhance ‘the special qualities and distinctive character of the AONB in accordance with 
national planning policy.’ I would contend that the proposal precisely conforms with this 
requirement.

7.3 This particular conservation area comprises of a number of pleasing buildings of 
greater or lesser historic importance. The present application would vastly improve the 
conservation area, presenting a well-designed conversion. I would also argue that the 
proposed outbuilding is also acceptable in these terms, being a low-key structure, using 
traditional materials found in small agricultural buildings throughout the county, and of a 
design to replicate such structures. As such, I am satisfied that the proposal complies with 
policy DM33 of the Local Plan which requires that proposals within a conservation area must 
‘pay special attention to the use of details and materials’ and ‘reinstate those (features) which 
would enhance it’.

7.4 I acknowledge the fact that the proposed outbuilding is situated close to the main 
building. However, the applicant has proved that a building of a similar scale and finish, 
has been on this site until circa 2009. Added to this, historically, it was unusual to find a 
large barn on its own; general practice being for such a barn to be within a range of 
buildings, such as stables, byres, etc. Indeed, at least two other smaller agricultural 
buildings seem to have existed on this site. It appears logical to me that a smaller 
agricultural building appears in close proximity to the barn, and the design and finish of 
that proposed respects the type of design and scale that would usually be found within 
an agricultural range, As such, although I acknowledge the views of the Parish Council, 

Page 128



Planning Committee Report - 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.3

122

in this matter, I do not agree with their observations. I am of the opinion that the 
proposal as a whole conforms with policy DM32 of the local Plan, as the proposal will 
preserve ‘the building’s special architectural or historic interest and its setting’.

7.5 With regard to the proposed changes relating to the conversion of the barn, I would 
contend that these all comply with the requirement to preserve the character and 
setting of the listed building, particularly noting the historic precedent of the former 
smaller doors noted. I regret the loss of the original threshing floor, but I would confirm 
that it is now beyond practical repair and the proposed replacement threshing floor, 
though not aping the original, would be a good modern representation of the original, 
thus continuing the building’s link to its past, and thereby preserving its character.

8. CONCLUSION

8.1 As such, I am of the opinion that the applications, if approved, would have no adverse 
effect upon either the AONB, the conservation area, or the listed building, and I 
recommend that the applications be approved, subject to strict accordance with the 
conditions given below.

9. RECOMMENDATION 

GRANT both planning permission and listed building consent for the development  
subject to the following conditions:

CONDITIONS

18/502095/FULL

(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

(2) Works hereby approved shall be completed in strict accordance with approved 
drawings 000-15 Revision R0, 000-20 Revision R7, 000-21 Revision R7, 000-22 
Revision R7, 000-25 Revision R2, 000-26 Revision R2, 000-40 Revision R0, 000-50 
Revision R4, 000-51 Revision R2, 000-74 Revision R1, 000-78 Revision R1 and 
000-90.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning

(3) No new external joinery shall be installed in the approved outbuilding other than in 
complete accordance with detailed drawings at a suggested scale of 1:5 of all new 
external joinery work and fittings together with sections through glazing bars, frames 
and mouldings for the that shall first have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the adjacent 
listed building.

(4) No doors shall be installed in the main barn other than in complete accordance with 
joinery details at two scales, 1:20 and 1:2 or 1:1 which have first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 

Page 129



Planning Committee Report - 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.3

123

building.

(5) New wagon doors to the main barn shall be installed prior to the first occupation of 
the building, in accordance with details to be approved under the terms of condition 
(3) above. Thereafter, the new wagon doors shall remain in situ in perpetuity.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
building.

(6) No occupation of the main barn shall commence until a new threshing floor has been 
installed in complete accordance with detailed drawings at two scales, 1:20 and 1:2 
or 1:1 which shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
building.

(7) No occupation of the new outbuilding shall commence until details in the form of 
samples of external finishing materials to be used in the construction of the 
outbuilding have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, and works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the adjacent 
listed building.

(8) The outbuilding hereby permitted shall be used only for uses ordinarily incidental to 
the enjoyment of the occupiers of the adjacent dwellinghouse formed from the 
conversion of Green Farm Barn.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

(9) No vents, ducts, flues, meter boxes, alarm boxes, ductwork or other appendages 
shall be fixed to the exterior of the new outbuilding.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
building.

(10) No occupation of the main barn shall commence until full details of both hard and 
soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These details shall include existing trees, shrubs and other 
features, planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall be native species 
and of a type that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity), plant sizes and numbers 
where appropriate, means of enclosure, hard surfacing materials, and an 
implementation programme. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife 
and biodiversity.

(11) All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of the main 
barn or in accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife 
and biodiversity.

(12) Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any trees or shrubs that are 

Page 130



Planning Committee Report - 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.3

124

removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five 
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as 
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever 
planting season is agreed.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife 
and biodiversity.

The Council’s approach to the application

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 
2018, the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a pre-
application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

In this instance, the application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

18502096/LBC

(1) The works to which this consent relates must be begun not later than the expiration 
of three years beginning with the date on which this consent is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 18 of the Listed Building Act 1990 as amended by 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

(2) Works hereby approved shall be completed in strict accordance with approved 
drawings 000-15 Revision R0, 000-20 Revision R7, 000-21 Revision R7, 000-22 
Revision R7, 000-25 Revision R2, 000-26 Revision R2, 000-40 Revision R0, 000-50 
Revision R4, 000-51 Revision R2, 000-74 Revision R1, 000-78 Revision R1 and 
000-90.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
building.

(3) No new joinery shall be installed in the approved outbuilding other than in complete 
accordance with detailed drawings at a suggested scale of 1:5 of all new external 
and internal joinery work and fittings together with sections through glazing bars, 
frames and mouldings for the that shall first have be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the adjacent 
listed building.

(4) No doors shall be installed in the main barn other than in complete accordance with 
joinery details at two scales, 1:20 and 1:2 or 1:1 which have first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
building.

(5) New wagon doors to the main barn shall be installed prior to the first occupation of 
the main barn, in accordance with details to be approved under the terms of 
condition (3) above. Thereafter, the new wagon doors shall remain in situ in 
perpetuity.

Page 131



Planning Committee Report - 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.3

125

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
building.

(6) No occupation of the main barn shall commence until a new threshing floor has been 
installed in complete accordance with detailed drawings at two scales, 1:20 and 1:2 
or 1:1 which shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
building.

(7) No occupation of the new outbuilding shall commence until details in the form of 
samples of external finishing materials to be used in the construction of the 
outbuilding have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, and works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the adjacent 
listed building.

(8) No vents, ducts, flues, meter boxes, alarm boxes, ductwork or other appendages 
(except fittings in the bathroom and kitchen) shall be fixed to the interior or exterior of 
the part of the main barn.

Reason: In the interest of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed 
building.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 132



Planning Committee Report - 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.3

126

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4

127

2.4  REFERENCE NO - 17/502604/REM
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Reserved Matters application, pursuant to application 14/502729/OUT, for the construction of 
127 dwellings, public open space, landscape planting, pedestrian, cycling and vehicular links; 
and associated infrastructure. Related only to the northern section of the site as shown on 
drawing number BOVI150305 LP.01 C (Location Plan).The discharge of Condition 1 (Reserved 
Matters) pursuant to application 14/502729/OUT. (Appearance, Landscaping, Layout and Scale 
being sought).

ADDRESS Ospringe Brickworks Sumpter Way Faversham Kent ME13 7NT  

RECOMMENDATION APPROVE subject to the receipt of amended landscaping details for the 
western buffer boundary, no objection being raised by KCC Ecology and conditions as set out 
below.

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION: the proposed reserved matters details 
are considered to be acceptable and in accordance with both the outline planning permission 
for the wider site, reference 15/502729/OUT, and the requirements of the adopted Local Plan, 
including Policy A14, which allocates land at the Western Link for housing development.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Faversham Town Council Objection

WARD Watling PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Faversham Town

APPLICANT Bovis Homes 
Limited
AGENT Boyer Planning

DECISION DUE DATE
30/08/17

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
26/10/18

Planning History 

18/503034/NMAMD 
Non Material Amendment to amend the trigger point to first occupation on the development 
to allow sufficient time for the works as described in Condition 24 to be carried out without 
undue delay to the delivery of dwellings, both private and affordable of approved planning 
permission 14/502729/OUT
Approved Decision Date: 12.09.2018

18/505630/SUB 
Submission of Details Pursuant to Condition 22 (Part 1) - Supplementary Geo-Environmental 
Desk Study and Preliminary Site Investigation and (Part 2) the Site Investigation Strategy  of 
planning permission 14/502729/OUT
Pending Consideration Decision Date: 

17/502187/SUB 
Submission of details pursuant to Condition 7: Development Brief (original application ref: 
14/502729/OUT).
Approved Decision Date: 30.10.2018

17/503344/SUB 
Submission of Details to Discharge Condition 12 Part i (Archaeology) and Condition 24 (Off-
Site Highway Works) Subject to 14/502729/OUT

Page 135



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4

128

Approved Decision Date: 18.09.2018

17/503384/SUB 
Submission of details pursuant to Conditions 10: Detailed travel plan, Condition 13: Method 
statement for ecological mitigation, Condition 14:  Ecological Design and Management 
Strategy & 17: Traffic noise level survey (original application ref: 14/502729/OUT).
Pending Consideration Decision Date: 

17/503960/SUB 
Submission of details pursuant to Conditions 23: Dust suppression details, 25: Protection 
against deposits of mud and similar substances on the public highway, 26: Details of parking 
for site personnel/operatives, & 27: Provisions to accommodate operatives/construction 
vehicles loading, off-loading & turning on site (original application reference: 
14/502729/OUT).
Pending Consideration Decision Date: 

14/502729/OUT outline ( Access not reserved) Demolition of brick making and drying sheds, 
2 stores, existing site office and a cottage and the construction of up to 250 dwellings, new 
vehicular access and roundabout off Western Link, public open space and associated 
infrastructure 
Approved 

EIA/13/0029 Screening Opinion for construction of up to 250 dwellings, public open space, 
two vehicular access points, demolition of existing buildings and associated infrastructure.

Decision Date: 07.11.2013

EIA/12/0012 Screening Opinion
Decision Date: 16.07.2012

EIA/12/0013 Screening opinion
Decision Date: 26.04.2012

Between 2009 and 2012 a number of applications were submitted for employment uses on 
this site. In the 1970s and 1980s a number of applications relating to the brickmaking 
business were submitted.

Members will also note that an application (reference 18/506283/REM) has recently been 
submitted (valid date – 11 December 2018) for the southern part of the wider site, known as 
the Red Brickworks, for the construction of 123 dwellings. Approval is sought for all 
outstanding reserved matters, namely layout, scale, appearance and landscaping.

1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.1 The application site comprises just the northern area of the original site and is an 
area of grass and spoil heaps that is bordered on all sides by well-established trees 
and hedgerows. It is located to the west of Faversham, on the urban edge of the town 
adjacent to the Western Link. The site – which has an area of 4.58 hectares - 
undulates in various locations, although the general land fall is from south to north. 
To the north, south and east are existing residential areas, Bysingwood Primary 
School and an open Area of High Landscape Value to the west.

1.2 The outline planning permission for the wider site (which measures 7.9 hectares) 
confirmed the location of the vehicular access to the site which will be via a new 
roundabout to be constructed on the Western Link with a cycle/pedestrian access to 

Page 136



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4

129

the east leading into Lower Road, which will latterly become a bus route through the 
site. 

1.3 This development will link to the southern site adjacent to the existing property 
‘Hollybank’ via a road and an area of public open space.

2. PROPOSAL

2.1 Following the granting of the outline permission under reference 14/502729/OUT (for 
the construction of up to 250 dwellings) conditions were attached to the permission 
which required, amongst other things, the submission of the reserved matters details 
following the approval of a Development Brief (condition 7) from which set out the 
road layout, connectivity within the site, the landscaping, surface water drainage, 
architectural treatment of the buildings, biodiversity, storey height strategy and the 
retention of the brick chimney and clay wash mill. However, the subsequent splitting 
of the site and sale has required the Development Brief to be a document produced 
by both house builders to cover the whole site whilst the reserved matters 
applications for each parcel of land are to be dealt with individually. The Development 
Brief for the whole site was approved on October 30th 2018 under reference 
17/502187/SUB. This reserved matters application therefore seeks permission on the 
northern part of the site for the details of the Appearance, Landscaping, Layout and 
Scale for the construction of 127 dwellings and the public open space, landscape 
planting, pedestrian, cycling and vehicular links; and associated infrastructure. 

2.2 The vehicular access to the site was confirmed – as noted above - in the earlier 
outline permission which approved a new roundabout off the Western Link which will 
provide the only private vehicular access to the site. The Transport Assessment 
attached to the previous application proposed and condition 10 of the subsequent 
approval requires a Travel Plan to be provided to show how it would “reduce 
vehicular flows on to the highway network”  In part to offset the traffic generated by 
the development a further access initially for cycle and pedestrian use is to be 
provided to the east of the site which will then, following completion of the 200th 
dwelling on the site and in line with the Section 106 agreement which covers the 
entire site be modified, into a public bus route. 

2.3 The development comprises 127 houses which is a mix of detached, semi detached 
and terraced houses of 2, 3 and 4 bedrooms and 1 and 2 bedroom flats located in 4 
blocks – each of which would be three storeys - throughout the site. The final layout 
of the site evolved from the concept and illustrative masterplan that was produced to 
accompany the outline application. 

2.4 The design and detail of the houses have been amended by the architecture to better 
reflect the modern approach stipulated within the approved Development Brief. 

2.5 As there is no identifiable vernacular within the immediate area the northern area, it is 
proposed that the houses will reflect the historic brickworks and will be constructed in 
yellow bricks and take on a contemporary style. 

2.6 As per the Section 106 agreement attached to 14/502729/OUT, 39 affordable houses 
are to be provided on the site, (30% of 127 houses) and the breakdown of these are:

Page 137



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4

130

10 x affordable houses (Plots 41 – 50):
1 x 3 Bed Shared Ownership
2 x 2 Bed Shared Ownership
4 x 2 Bed Affordable Rent Tenure
3 x 3 Bed Affordable Rent Tenure

29 x Affordable Flats (including two coach houses):
Block A Plots 1 -9 will be provided as shared ownership flats
3 x 1 Bedroom Flats
6 x 2 Bedroom Flats
Block C Plots 66-74 will be provided as affordable rent tenure (ART)
4 x 1 Bedroom Flats
5 x 2 Bedroom Flats
1 x 2 bedroom coach house (Plot 65)
Block D Plots 98-106 will be provided as affordable rent tenure (ART)
4 x 1 Bedroom Flats
5 x 2 Bedroom Flats
1 x 2 bedroom coach house (Plot 97)

2.7 In terms of hard landscaping, the surface material to be used for the roads will be 
surfaced in tarmacadam and the private driveways and parking bays will be concrete 
block paved. There is a mix of brick walls with brick on edge coping and fencing for 
the boundary treatments.

2.8 In terms of soft landscaping, a substantial landscape buffer is to be provided to the 
west of the site along the Western Link road. This needs to be provided along with 
the retention of the existing Roadside Nature Reserve (RNR) and a new area to be 
provided to provide mitigation for the area to be lost during the creation of the new 
access to the site. Additionally, within the site attenuation ponds, part of the SUDS 
will provide wetland habitat, open spaces with grass and trees and landscape buffers 
and tree planting are around the site, including within private gardens.

3. PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

3.1 There are no planning constraints that warrant mention here.

4. POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): Para 8, 11 (achieving sustainable 
development) Para 38, 47 (decision making) para 73 (delivering sufficient supply of 
homes) Para 92 96 98(promoting healthy and safe communities)  Paras 109,110 
(Sustainable transport) para 127, 130, (Achieving well designed places) para 165 
(meeting challenge of climate change). 

Development Plan: Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017 - 
Policies ST1 (Delivering sustainable development in Swale); ST2 (Development 
targets for jobs and homes 2014-2031); ST3 (The Swale settlement strategy); ST4 
(Meeting the Local Plan development targets); ST7 (The Faversham area and Kent 
Downs Strategy); CP2 (Promoting sustainable transport); CP3 (Delivering a wide 
choice of high quality homes); CP4 (Requiring good design); CP7 (Conserving and 
enhancing the natural environment - providing for green infrastructure:DM6 
(Managing transport demand and impact); DM7 (Vehicle parking); DM8 (Affordable 
housing); DM14 (General development criteria); DM17 (Open space, sports and 
recreation provision); DM19 (Sustainable design and construction); DM21 (Water, 
flooding and drainage); DM24 (Conserving and enhancing valued landscapes); DM28 
(Biodiversity and geological conservation); DM29 (Woodlands, trees and hedges)

Page 138



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4

131

Following the submission of the application in May 2017, local residents and 
technical consultees provided comments. However, following amendments to the 
application all previous consultees were re contacted for their views on the amended 
schemes. 

5. LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 Swale Footpaths Group commented that footpath ZF6 is unaffected 

6. CONSULTATIONS

6.1 Faversham Town Council: Objected to the application stating that they had 
“…previously requested that the route from the roundabout on the Western Link to 
Kiln Court be protected but it has not been in this application and secondly that they 
note the open space is at the North end of the site and it would be preferable for this 
to be relocated to the middle of the site, were it would be more accessible and 
visible.”

6.2 Kent Highways and Transportation: Commented that the amended layout has 
taken on board the issues that had been raised earlier with the applicant and 
subsequently discussed with them at several meetings. They are satisfied that the 
road hierarchy, and increased parking provision from what was originally submitted, 
is now appropriate, together with the other changes that have been made to the 
layout. Consequently, they had no objections to the proposals in respect of highway 
matters and confirmed that no further highway conditions beyond those already 
secured with the Outline approval are required.

6.3 Kent County Council Archaeological Officer: The archaeological condition in 
connection with this application has been addressed and no further works are 
required.

6.4 Kent County Council Flood & Water Management: Offered no objection to these 
proposed amendments in layout of the site, but did reiterate previous comments 
made on the 20 June 2017, in particular those relating to the preferred option of 
having individual plot soakaways instead of trench soakaways. Secondly, no 
drainage calculations have been submitted at this time to demonstrate the drainage 
systems operation for the varying storm events and they recommend that full 
calculations are submitted at the detailed design stage. It should also be 
demonstrated that no discharge occurs within made/contaminated ground.

6.5 Kent County Council PROW & Access Service: Highlights the existence of Public 
Footpath ZF6 and Public Bridleway ZF17, which pass through the proposed 
development site

6.6 Highways England: offered no further comments

6.7 Natural England offered no comments on the amended information provided in 
support of the discharge of condition 1 but did recommend the views of our in-house 
ecologist are gained regarding there are any implications for biodiversity.

6.8 Southern Water offered no objections to the reserved matters application for access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.

Page 139



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4

132

6.9 Kent Wildlife Trust: objects to the application as the information shown in the 
Landscape Management and Maintenance Plan does not match the Landscape 
Masterplan drawing and as such are inconsistent with the management and 
mitigation of the Roadside Nature Reserve (RNR) 

6.10 UK Power: Objected to the application on the basis of their understanding that an 
electricity substation is located within 6m of the site. (However there is no electricity 
substation within 6 m of the site, although one is proposed on the site.)

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

14/502729/OUT  
17/502187/SUB 
17/502604/REM and existing plans

8. APPRAISAL

8.1 This is a reserved matters application which seeks approval for the details of the 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the construction of 127 dwellings and 
the public open space, landscape planting, pedestrian, cycling and vehicular links; 
and the associated infrastructure. 

8.2 Outline planning approval was granted under reference 14/502729/OUT for the 
principle of the development but also to confirm the access arrangements to the site, 
which included a new roundabout off Western Link as the only approved vehicle 
access point.

8.3 This application follows on from the Development Brief which was submitted in 
respect of condition 7 of this permission and approved on 30th October 2018. The 
Development Brief set out the key design and development parameters to be applied 
across the whole of the area included within the outline consent, so a key 
consideration in assessing this reserved matter application from a design perspective 
is adherence to the principles and more specific development criteria set out in the 
approved brief document, approved under ref. 17/502187/SUB.

8.4 It is important to note that the scheme has gone through a very detailed amendment 
process during the consideration of the application and amendments have been 
made to the layout of the development and the design and style of the housing and 
the flat blocks, which we subsequently re consulted on and received the comments 
listed above. 

8.5 This application is before Members due to an objection received from Faversham 
Town Council where they objected on two grounds. Firstly, that they “had previously 
requested that the route from the roundabout on the Western Link to Kiln Court be 
protected but it has not been in this application”. I note when this application was first 
submitted in May 2017 and Faversham Town Council were consulted and they stated 
that “road access from the roundabout to Kiln Court should be maintained as a 
corridor for future access.” However, it remains the case then as now that any 
comments regarding the access should have been flagged up at the outline 
application stage, to which the Town Council did offer comments but no objection and 
with no reference to the access to the east. Despite the Town Council’s comments 
the access to the site had already been considered, accepted and approved under 
planning reference 14/502729/OUT. Therefore it should be remembered that this is a 
Reserved Matters application, with only issues of appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale being the issues for decision at this stage.

Page 140



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4

133

 
8.6 The Town Council secondly commented that “the open space is at the North end of 

the site. It would be preferable for this to be relocated to the middle of the site, were it 
would be more accessible and visible”   However, the three main areas of public 
open space are shown on the site layout drawings and these are located in the north 
of the site, in the centre of the site, close to the pedestrian and cycle route to the 
residential properties in Lower Road and beyond and to the south. This area to the 
south will in fact link up with the public open space to be provided by the site to the 
south to create a larger area of public open spaces between the two sites. 

8.7 This site is providing 1.22 ha of useable open space in line with the approved 
Development Brief and the Section 106 agreement attached to the previous outline 
approval, it is dispersed throughout the site to the benefit of the residents and is the 
most rationale locations once consideration of access, pedestrian routes and public 
footpaths are considered, as such I do not consider there to be any benefit in it being 
relocated.  

8.8 In terms of the assessment of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale these 
are assessed in the context of the character of the area and the Heritage-related site 
constraints and opportunities.  However, now the site has been split, the application 
site does not contain any heritage assets as such. Whilst  the single storey dwelling 
known as ‘Hollybank’, which is considered to form a non-designated heritage asset 
by virtue of its unusual and characterful architectural form, is located immediately 
adjoining the southern boundary of the site and can be viewed from key angles to its 
front and west elevations. However, I consider there to be no material heritage 
impacts arising from the proposed development as the heritage significance of the 
property is very limited. In any case, the applicant has appropriately altered the layout 
from submission to improve the openness and setting to the west of the property so 
that its distinctive architectural form can be appreciated.

8.9 The nearest designated heritage asset to the application site is the Syndale 
Conservation Area, but this is located some 400 metres or so to the south of the 
application site, and would be visually separated from it by the Linden Homes 
development in the southern half of the allocated housing area.

8.10 In terms of the layout, the final version of the  scheme now before us for 
determination contains less vehicular movement connectivity than would be ideal, 
this must be balanced by a good level of connectivity for pedestrians and cyclists and 
an arguably more significant level of landscaping than could have been achieved with 
less cul-de-sac type roads.

8.11 Critically, the layout makes good use of tandem parking to the side of houses and 
reasonably well landscaped frontage parking bays and rear parking courts so that the 
street scenes that would be created would not be dominated by parked vehicles. 

8.12 The large and usable public open spaces - whose location has been objected to by 
the Town Council - are provided at the northern and southern ends of the application 
site area which would combine well with the existing and anticipated land uses to the 
north and south of the site, and there would be an appropriate hierarchy of street 
types from ‘main street’ i.e. the principle access road to ‘shared driveways’ with the 
latter representing the more quiet corners of the proposed housing development, 
where pedestrians would share the hard surfacing with vehicles.

8.13 The layout also allows for an appropriate mix of housing types from the 1 bed 
apartment units up to 4 bedroom detached houses with adequate external amenity 
space for the occupants of the apartments, decent rear garden sizes for all of the 
houses and no unacceptable issues with overshadowing and/or overlooking.

Page 141



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4

134

8.14 The quality of the architectural treatment of the units arguably varies to some degree 
across the site. However, the agreed changes to the apartment blocks are positive 
given the more prominent role these play in creating new townscape at this location. I 
consider that the scale of these blocks (whilst 3 storey in form) is considered 
compatible with protecting the special visual qualities of the adjacent Area of High 
Landscape Value and view across this towards the western edge of the town.

8.15 Excepting the apartment blocks which display a modern, articulated flat roof 
elevational treatment, the design approach essentially utilises traditional pitched roof 
housing forms and pairs these with a modern fenestration design using relatively fine-
profiled, colour-coated aluminium framed windows with a varied depth of reveal (and 
in some case projection) to achieve a type of fusion design with an overall 
contemporary feel.  This type of housing design has been used to good effect 
elsewhere.  It is however reliant on a crispness of detailing which is to be agreed by 
appropriate planning conditions to ensure its success. I considered that the design 
approach of the apartment blocks and house types, although markedly different in 
their overall appearance, would work well together and create an appealing visual 
contrast in the areas of the scheme where they would be seen together.

8.16 The approach before us for consideration, so far as the housing units are concerned, 
does not display the more clearly distinctive contemporary approach that officers 
were aiming for however, it is nevertheless still a scheme which if applied with 
consistent attention to detail and to the overall design theme is capable of working to 
good effect such that I consider this to be an acceptable scheme.

8.17 In terms of the soft landscaping I am confident that there is sufficient soft 
landscaping, to ensure that this dense residential development will provide a pleasant 
environment for its residents and visitors, and soften the appearance of the 
development in views of the open countryside immediately to the west, which is 
designated as an Area of High Landscape Value (Kent Level).

8.18 The hard surfacing to the roads and parking spaces is tarmac but with the shared 
surfaces and private concrete block driveways it would provide a good variety of 
textures and colours to break up these necessary hard surface areas.

8.19 Lastly, a key requirement of the development brief is the provision of an overall 
landscape strategy incorporating the retention of existing planting where possible 
with special regard to be paid to the western boundary of the site and the provision of 
an area to mitigate for the lose of some of the Roadside Nature Reserve (RNR) and 
the continued functionality of the remainder. The landscape treatment to the eastern 
boundary is not unimportant and in this respect, the design response is considered 
appropriate. 

8.20 The western boundary of the site is more visually sensitive as it lies directly adjacent 
the (Kent Level) Area of High Landscape Value to the west, and a well considered 
landscape approach is therefore needed to ensure that views across this special 
landscape towards what will in effect be the westernmost edge of the town will 
present a positive image of both the development itself, and also reflect positively on 
the town as a whole. Additionally this landscaping needed to ensure the functionality 
of the RNR was maintained and be of benefit to the ecology of the area. 

8.21 In policy terms I consider the avoidance, minimisation and mitigation of adverse 
impacts on the special landscape character, and the form and degree of landscaping 
provided to the western boundary of the site and on the site in general does provide 
an appropriate and positive design response to the policy (DM24) requirement and 
the development brief requirements. 

Page 142



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4

135

8.22 However, it remains the case that confirmation that the proposed landscaping works 
and the future maintenance plan will not harm the RNR or the ecology of the area is 
not forthcoming. However the ecologists and landscape architects for the applicant 
and KCC Ecologist continue to discuss the issue and anticipate agreement to be 
forthcoming which I intend to report verbally to Members.

9. CONCLUSION

9.1 I am of the opinion that all of the reserved matters now proposed, with the exception 
of the landscaping on the western buffer boundary, have been addressed 
satisfactorily, and I recommend that the proposal be approved, subject to the receipt 
of satisfactory landscaping details.

10. RECOMMENDATION 

10.1 GRANT Subject to the receipt of amended landscaping details for the western buffer 
boundary, no objection being raised by KCC Ecology and the following conditions for 
the following reasons:

CONDITIONS to include

(1) No development shall take place other than in accordance with the following 
approved plans and drawings: 

SL.01 Rev R, CSL.01 Rev P, BDML.01 RevJ, LP.01 Rev C, SE.01 Rev F, HT.HAW.e 
Rev D, HT.HAW.p Rev B, HT.JUN.e1 Rev D, HT. JUN.e2 Rev D, HT.JUN.p Rev B, 
HT.MAG.e Rev D, HT.MAG.p Rev B, HT.SH2.e Rev D, HT.SH2.p Rev A, HT.SPR.e 
Rev D, HT.SPR.p Rev B, HT.SPR.A.e Rev D, HT.SPR-A.p Rev B, HT, X310.e1 Rev 
D, HT.X310.e2 Rev D, HT.X310.p Rev A, HT.CHE.e Rev D, HT.CHE.p Rev B, 
HT.CHE-A.e Rev D, HT.CHE-A.p Rev B, HT.CYP-1.e Rev D, HT.CYP-1.p Rev A, 
HT.CYP-2.e Rev D, HT.CYP-2.p Rev A, FB-A.cpe Rev D, FB-A.pe Rev E, FB-B.cpe 
Rev D, FB-B.pe Rev E, FB-C.cpe Rev D, FB-C.pe Rev H FB-D.cpe Rev D, FB-D.pe 
Rev G, P41-44.e Rev D, P41-44.p Rev B, P48-50.e Rev D, P48-50.p Rev B, P62-
64.e Rev D, P62-64.p Rev A, P23-24_36-37_77-78.e Rev D, P23-24_36-37_77-78.p 
Rev A, GAR 01.pe, GAR.02.pe, and JBA 16/115 – 01v.

 
Reasons: For the avoidance of doubt.

(2) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until clearly 
labelled sample board of the facing and roofing materials to be used for each 
apartment block and each house type, and variation thereto (excluding doors and 
windows), to be submitted and agreed.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

(3) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until 
Manufacturer/supplier colour brochure and technical specification details of the 
window and door product system(s) to be used, to be submitted and agreed.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

(4) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details 
of any vents or flues required to service the proposed housing and apartment units, 
to be submitted and agreed (details to include enhanced elevation and roof plan 

Page 143



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4

136

drawings showing the specific location of these items, together with 
manufacturer/supplier colour brochure and technical specification details of the 
products to be used).

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

(5) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until the 
following key construction detail drawings to be  provided in the form of 1:1 or 1:2 
scale sections and submitted and agreed before any development commences:
(a) Eaves and verge detailing for each house type and variation thereto; 
(b) Timber cladding and facing brickwork vertical junction (typical detail),’
(c) Reveal depth(s) for each type of window and door opening for each apartment 

block and each house type (and variation thereto).  

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

(6) No development beyond construction of the foundations shall take place until full 
hard and soft landscaping details (which shall consist only of native species) have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for those 
areas not covered by the details submitted for the western buffer area adjacent to the 
Western Link Road.

Reason: In the interest of visual and landscape amenity and enhancing biodiversity.

(7) The development shall be completed strictly in accordance with details in the form of 
cross-sectional drawings through the site showing proposed site levels and finished 
floor levels which shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Reason: In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having regard to the 
sloping nature of the site.

The Council’s approach to the application

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 
2018 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a 
pre-application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had 
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

Page 144



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4

137

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 145



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4

138

Page 146



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

139

2.4 REFERENCE NO - 14/502729/OUT
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Outline (all matters reserved except access) - Demolition of brick making and drying 
shed, 2 stores, existing site office and a cottage;  Construction of up to 250 dwellings, 
new vehicular access and roundabout on Western Link, public open space and 
associated infrastructure.  
ADDRESS Ospringe Brickworks Sumpter Way Faversham Kent ME13 7NT  
RECOMMENDATION- Grant subject to conditions and subject to:

1. The signing of a section 106 agreement for developer contributions towards: 
primary and secondary schools; libraries, adult social care; community learning; 
youth services; waste and recycling bins; allocation of land for a future bus route; 
provision of 30% affordable housing across the residential site; provision of open 
space contribution for among other things the restoration of the adjacent disused 
allotments and off-site enhancement to the local play area; provision of a 
roundabout with the Western Link, contribution towards mitigation of the impacts 
on the  Special Protection Area (exact project to be still be agreed with the 
Green Space Manager) and the 5% monitoring charge;

2. Clarification from the developer on the on-site contribution and the long term 
maintenance approach to the retained historic features on the site and additional 
comments from the Green Space Manager regarding this matter and any 
conditions required as a result; and

3. Additional comments from Network Rail in relation to the Level Crossing where 
the Public Right of Way ZF9 crosses the railway line and any conditions required 
as a result. 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION
This site is allocated in ‘Bearing Fruits 2031 (Submission version April 2015) under 
Policy A12 for up to 240 dwellings.  The proposal is now for up to 250 dwellings, which 
would slightly exceed the proposed allocation for the site.
Whilst the proposal would result in some harm (which I quantify below) the need for the 
development outweighs the limited harm that would be caused.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Ospringe Parish Council objection and the significance of the proposal.

WARD Watling PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Faversham Town Council 

APPLICANT W T Lamb 
Holdings Limited
AGENT LMA Planning 
Limited

DECISION DUE DATE
14/11/14

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
14/11/14

OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE
October 2014

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on 
adjoining sites):
App No Proposal Decision Date
SW/12/0159 Application for a new outline planning 

permission to replace extant outline 
planning permission in order to extend the 
time limit for implementation to provide 
new buildings for additional B1, B2 and B8 
employment use; creation of new access 

Approved 
subject to 
conditions 

30th April 
2012

Page 147



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

140

from Western Link and new roundabout
Summarise Reasons: In accordance with Local Plan policies.
SW/09/0120 Application for outline planning permission 

to provide new buildings for additional B1, 
B2 and B8 employment use; creation of 
new access from Western Link and new 
roundabout

Approved 
subject to 
condition
s 

31st 
March 
2009.

Summarise Reasons:  In accordance with Local Plan policies.

MAIN REPORT

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 The application site is located on the western edge of Faversham, within the 
built-up area boundary of the town.  The site is known as Cremer Whiting 
Brickworks and is situated immediately adjacent to Western Link (to the east) 
and is bound by existing residential development to the north and east with 
the railway to the south and the designated countryside to the west of the site.  
This countryside is designated as a Special Landscape Area (SLA- see Policy 
E9 of the adopted Local Plan 2008).

1.02 The site is gently sloping, with intermittent areas of steeply sided earth 
moulding and spoil heaps.  Along the northern boundary, land falls away 
steeply down towards existing open space and housing (Whiting Crescent) 
beyond that area, with the site located on a slightly higher plateau than the 
surrounding areas.  To the south, the site is lower than Western Link, due to 
the road bridge over the railway line, providing visual enclosure.  The site 
features an earth bund along part of the western boundary of the site.  The 
site area is 7.91 ha (or 19.5 acres).
 

1.03 Running through the site are three public rights of way (one running directly 
adjacent to Keramos and Hollybank in the middle of the site and one through 
the northern part of the site) and a third which is located and runs along the 
site’s southern boundary.  Keramos and Hollybank are accessed via a private 
driveway off Lewis Close.  

1.04 Located adjacent to the south-eastern boundary is an area of disused 
allotments (a contribution is proposed towards the reinstatement of this 
allotment).  A play area and kick about space is located adjacent to the site 
whilst Bysingwood Primary School sits adjacent to the northern end of the 
site.  

1.05 A designated Roadside Nature Reserve (RNR) is located along side part of 
Western Link and supports a range of grassland habitat (please note drawing 
‘Roadside Nature Reserve Drawing 01 2nd June 2015).  The verge is situated 
on both sides of the road and totals 1300 metres in length; the width varies 
from 4 to 15 metres.  

Page 148



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

141

1.06 The site is located less than 1km from the Swale Special Protection Area 
(SPA) and Ramsar site.  The application site is also located close to parts of 
The Swale Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).  Bysing Woods and Oare 
Gunpowder Works, a country park and a nature reserve are located also near 
the site.    

1.07 Bus services 3 and 3A pass in close proximity to the site and offer regular 
services into the town centre, railway station and other surrounding areas.  
Please note that the Developer is making provision for a bus route to run 
through the site which is covered by the draft S106 submitted as part of the 
application.  The site is easily accessible from both the A2 and M2.

1.08 The Design and Access statement states the following:

‘The brickworks formerly consisted of two plants separated by the existing 
access on Western Link.  The land to the north, known as Yellow Brickworks 
was formerly a yellow stock seasonal yard and the land to the south, known 
as Red Brickworks was a red stock kiln unit.  The yellow brickworks closed in 
1963 with the red brickworks site ceasing production in 2007.  Since then the 
red brickworks site has been used for storage and the yellow brickworks 
cleared and left open.  There are a number of existing buildings within the red 
brickworks. These include a small office, cottage, large sheds, a kiln building, 
wash mill and chimney.  There are also a number of areas of hard standing 
and a spoil heap.’ 

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.01 Outline planning permission is sought for up to 250 dwellings with new 
vehicular access and roundabout at Western Link, public open space and 
associated infrastructure, including the demolition of the brick making and 
drying sheds, two stores, existing site office and a cottage.  All matters are 
reserved (namely layout, landscaping, scale and appearance) for future 
consideration, except for access, which is a detail to be assessed as part of 
this application.  Therefore consideration should focus on the principle of the 
development at this stage, not the detailed matters, except for access.  The 
Master Plan provided is for illustrative purposes only, indicating how 250 
residential units could be sited on the site with access points and open space 
and this may be subject to change at the reserved matters stage should 
Members resolve to grant permission for this application.  Officers currently 
have some reservation about the proposed layout of the development in terms 
of the creation of on-site useable open space and the focus of the retained 
historic features of the site within the new the proposed site layout.  However, 
these are issues to be dealt with at the reserved matters stage.

2.02 The proposal indicates an indicative landscaping approach to the site 
(drawing number CMP-02 REV B) to minimise adverse landscape and visual 
effects of this edge of settlement boundary development.  The Design and 
Access statement highlights specific areas of landscaping as follows:

 Retention of existing trees and tree groups with landscape value;

Page 149



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

142

 New tree, woodland and hedgerow planting throughout the site to 
principally comprise locally indigenous species;

 New native woodland buffer planting adjacent to the Western Link as 
an extension of the existing tree belt, to integrate the proposed 
development within the surrounding countryside and reduce its visual 
impact on local views; 

 New trees, hedgerows and ornamental planting designed to provide a 
strong landscape framework and setting for the new development;

 New native woodland buffer planting to filter views toward the adjacent 
railway line;

 Creation of new footpath link along a former access track, involving 
clearance of overgrown weeds and scrub and planted to enhance 
amenity and wildlife value;

 Enhancement of public footpath routes through the site;
 Creation of a network of proposed hedgerows and ornamental 

planting to provide physical and visual separation between housing 
and public areas

 Creation of pattern of different grass types including amenity, 
wildflower and wet grassland; and

 Retention of existing brickwork features to add character and visual 
interest to open space

2.03 With regards to access, a new roundabout is proposed on the Western Link 
providing the sole vehicular access on to the site.  Various pedestrian and 
cycle access points into the site are proposed whilst a new pedestrian 
crossing point is proposed across the Western Link to link up with an existing 
Public Right of Way ZF17. 

2.04 The proposal would mostly consist of family housing with a 30% provision 
towards affordable housing- the tenure split remains to be agreed though the 
applicant is offering the following 60/40 tenure split in favour of affordable 
rent.  Members will note the Housing Strategy and Enabling Officers 
comments at paragraph 7.20 below.

 
Affordable Rent – 45 units
No. Unit Type Unit Size m²
8 1b2p flat 45.00
11 2b3p flat 57.00
8 2b4p house 67.00
11 3b5p house 82.00
7 4b6p house 94.90

 
Shared Ownership –  30 units
No. Unit Type Unit Size m²
11 2b4p house 67.00
19 3b5p house 82.00

 

Page 150



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

143

2.05  A mix of dwelling types would be provided to meet local market demands.  
The majority of the residential development being two storeys in height, 
although some three storey development would be proposed depending on 
the site topography at certain points within the site.  A mix of flats, terraced, 
semi-detached and detached properties are proposed.  4.92 ha (12 acres) of 
residential land use are proposed with 2.26ha (5 acres) of open space which 
would breakdown into the following:

Open Space Breakdown Hectares 
(ha)

Useable open space 1.19
Additional open space (mitigation 
landscaping, boundary 
landscaping)

0.83

Attenuation area (as shown on 
drawing CMP-02 REV B Concept 
Masterplan 02)

0.23

Play area (as shown on drawing 
CMP-02 REV B Concept 
Masterplan 02)

0.01

Total 2.26

2.06 In addition to the provision as outlined in the above table, the applicant 
intends to provide a financial contribution to off-site improvements to existing 
play areas in the surrounding area, as well as the reinstatement of the 
allotment to the south east of the site. 

2.07 The Master Plan drawing No CMP-02 REV B provided is for illustrative 
purposes only.  Although indicative details in relation to the proposed design, 
layout, parking, street scene, and specific materials have been provided these 
are potentially subject to change at the reserved matters stage. 

2.08 The submitted Design and Access statement makes the following comments:

‘Key features:

 Creation of a strong and legible landscape framework within which 
development areas are located

 Existing brickworks features to be retained in open space
 Buildings used to define key spaces and 
 Good quality existing trees and hedgerows to be retained within open 

space and on the boundary to the site
 Pedestrian and cycle connections linking the site to the adjacent 

neighbourhoods
 Pedestrian and vehicular access to the allotments adjacent to the site
 On and off site play provision to serve the new and existing community
 Retention of the existing Public rights of way running across the site 

with improved setting and landscaping

Page 151



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

144

 A new round about on Western Link to access the site alongside two 
additional pedestrian refuges to ease movement along the public rights 
of way 

2.09 The application is supported by a number of reports including the following:

 Planning Statement
 Design and Access statement
 Statement of Community Involvement
 Transport Assessment and Framework Travel Plan
 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
 Phase 1 and 2 Ecological Appraisal
 Air Quality Assessment
 Noise Assessment
 Vibration Report
 Site Investigations Report 
 Archaeological Assessment
 Utilities Report
 Drainage Strategy and Flood Risk Assessment
 Arboriculture Impact Assessment
 Gypsy and Traveller Off set funding paper
 Energy Statement
 Heritage Statement
 Building Conditions Survey
 Draft Section 106 Legal Agreement

2.10 From the above listed reports, I draw the following summarised key points:

2.11 The Planning Statement

 Delivery of up to 250 dwellings- both market and affordable housing
 Creation of public open space, landscaping and a new roundabout
 Proposal is generally compliant with the land use planning objectives 

sought by Policy A12 of the emerging Local Plan
 Extensive engagement has taken place with local residents and key 

stakeholders
 The need for additional housing within the Borough is an important 

material consideration in favour of permission 

2.12 The Design and Access statement 

 New vehicular access to Western Link via a roundabout
 Pedestrian and cycle links
 Provision of open useable space
 Retention of existing landscape features such as important trees and 

hedgerows
 Provision of on and off site play facilities to benefit existing and the new 

community

Page 152



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

145

 Provision of sustainable urban drainage systems within the public open 
space

 Creation of linear public open space corridors linking the existing 
residential neighbourhoods with Western Link

2.13 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment

 Viewpoints are mostly located around the periphery of the site from 
local roads, public footpaths and adjacent housing areas 

 Distant views are located to the north-east and east of Faversham
 There will be no significant or moderately significant temporary adverse 

landscape effects upon the landscape character of the site nor upon 
the surrounding landscape (some of which has a local landscape 
designation)

 There will be no landscape or visual effects upon the North Downs 
SLA, Kent Downs AONB or the Faversham conservation area

2.14 Arboriculture Impact Appraisal and Method Statement

 The majority of the trees lost as a result of this proposal are low 
category because of their poor condition or small size

 Three moderate quality trees will be lost but they are well within the site 
and their loss will have no significant impact on the present character 
of the site

 There is plenty of space for tree planting and a comprehensive 
landscaping scheme

 The size of the new trees and their future growth will significantly 
enhance the contribution of this site to local amenity and more than 
compensate for the loss of the existing trees 

2.15 Flood Risk Assessment

 The site lies entirely within Flood Zone 1
 There are no predicated flood levels supplied by the Environment 

Agency for this site
 There are no known flooding incidents occurring at or near the site
 The use of SuDS would be required to be incorporated into the design 

of the proposal

2.16 Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey

 Within the application site a limited range of habitat types were 
identified including semi-improved grassland, hedgerows, dense and 
scattered scrub and semi-mature broadleaved trees 

 Outside of the application boundary, habitats include amenity 
grasslands, in the grounds of Bysing Wood Primary School, scrub, an 
orchard, gardens, buildings and scattered broadleaved trees

 A number of trees can support roosting bats

Page 153



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

146

 Suitable emergence and re-entry surveys to be undertaken on 
buildings and trees to be demolished/removed 

 The presence of common reptiles in the onsite grassland habitats 
should be further investigated- the agent has already provided 
additional information in this regard

2.17 Heritage Statement on the Industrial Buildings

 The proposed retention of the chimney and wash-mill are to be 
welcomed 

 The long term survival of the chimney might require some kind of 
maintenance strategy 

2.18 Archaeological Desk Based Assessment and Watching Brief on Geo-
Environmental Site Investigation

 It would appear likely that archaeological features or deposits will be 
disturbed by groundworks 

 The site lies within an area of high archaeological potential with 
evidence for human occupation in the vicinity from the prehistoric 
period onwards

 Archaeological monitoring of any further preliminary groundworks is 
recommended 

2.19 Air Quality Assessment

 Vehicle movements associated with the proposed development will 
generate exhaust emissions

 The proposed development is predicated to result in a ‘small’ increase 
in concentrations, at the lower end of this magnitude of impact at 1.8% 
within the Ospringe Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)

 It is considered the development would complement the Air Quality 
Policy by developing the site for residential use and reduce traffic at 
peak times compared to the extant permission

 The extant permission would generate higher levels of HGV’s which 
the application site would not

2.20 Transport Assessment

 The site is well located within the local highway network with easy 
access onto the A2 and M2 (part of the Strategic Road Network)

 No safety issues have been identified in the surrounding area
 Sustainable travel to the town is promoted via the proposed pedestrian 

and cycle links
 The proposed development is forecast to generate 105 two-way trips in 

the morning peak hour and 112 two-way trips in the evening peak hour
 This is a significant reduction on the extant employment development 

for the site of 110 less two-way trips in the morning peak hours and 60 
two-way trips in the evening peak hour

Page 154



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

147

 Junction capacity assessment for the proposed access junction and the 
A2 London Road/Western Link round about demonstrates that both 
junctions will operate within capacity during the morning and evening 
peak hours

 In order to offset the development generated traffic impact, the site will 
be accompanied by a Travel Plan which should reduce the vehicular 
flows on the highway network.  

2.21 Following comments received from KCC Ecology requesting further 
information in relation to the concern regarding the proposed reptile 
mitigation, the agent provided additional information.  The agent confirmed 
that the mitigation could be controlled/delivered by a suitably worded planning 
condition and that a programme of exclusion and/or translocation of any 
reptile present within the road-side verge to be lost would be detailed in the 
reptile mitigation strategy.  He further confirmed that several reptile 
presence/absence surveys were conducted and whilst a specific reptile 
survey wasn’t conducted at the site this is not normally required at the Outline 
application stage.  The developer has identified receptor sites within their 
ownership- one parcel of land that is currently being considered is a parcel of 
land located west of Western Link within close proximity of the site.  KCC 
Ecology have confirmed that they raise no objection to this approach and 
Members will note the relevant conditions below.

2.22 Details of this application were assessed by the Council’s Design Panel on 
18th March 2014.  The Panel made some useful comments which are 
summarised as follows:

 Although the site has long been in industrial use it seems to lend itself 
well to residential use

 The character of the new area could be strengthened in two ways; 
firstly by reinforcing the connections and edges of the development and 
secondly by referencing the industrial history of the site in a more 
meaningful way

 Open space located right adjacent to Western Link is likely to have 
limited amenity value 

 There is opportunity to release more open space by redistributing 
building density- the existing three storey dwellings on the adjacent site 
to the east sit comfortably in this context

 The history of the site should be incorporated into the design
 Character areas should be much more strongly defined

Page 155



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

148

3.0 SUMMARY INFORMATION

Existing Proposed Change (+/-)

Site Area (ha) 7.91 7.91 (or 19.5 
acres)

0

No. of Storeys Varied 2/3 storey
No. of Residential Units 0 250 + 250
No. of Affordable Units 0 75 +75

4.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

4.01 The site lies adjacent to the Ospringe Air Quality Management Area, which is 
centred on Ospringe Street, the A2.   A designated Roadside Nature Reserve 
is located along side part of Western Link. The site is located less than 1km 
from the Swale Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site.  The 
application site is also located adjacent to parts of The Swale Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) and the Special Landscape Area.  Bysing Woods 
and Oare Gunpowder Works, a country park and a nature reserve, are also 
located near the site.   

4.02 Running through the site are three public rights of way (one ZF17 running 
directly adjacent to Keramos and Hollybank in the middle of the site, one ZF6 
through the northern part of the site) and a third (ZF9) which is located and 
runs along the site southern boundary.  

4.03 Allocated for 240 dwellings in the emerging Local Plan Submission Version.

4.04 There is potential for archaeological importance on site and historic structures.   

5.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

5.1 In this case, the emerging Local Plan position is key and very relevant to the 
determination of this application.  This section will therefore deal with this first 
before moving on to the national policy position.

5.2 The adopted 2008 Local Plan remains the primary consideration for 
determining this application.  This will be discussed in further detail later in this 
section.

5.3 However, the emerging Local Plan and the policies of the draft Local Plan 
Bearing Fruits 2031 The Swale Borough Local Plan Part 1 Submission version 
(submitted to the Planning Inspectorate in April 2015) must be given 
substantial weight as material considerations considering how advanced the 
Local Plan is now, especially as Members of the Local Development 
Framework Panel have resolved to allocate the site for residential 
development in the submission version of the Local Plan.  

Page 156



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

149

Draft Local Plan (December 2014) Policy A12 

5.4 The Draft Local Plan presented to Members on 28th October 2014 included the 
following policy allocating the site for 240 dwellings.  The policy states:

 “Planning permission will be granted for 240 dwellings on land at the Western 
Link, Faversham, as shown on the Proposals Map. Development proposals will: 

1. Provide a design and layout which responds to the prominent position of 
the site on the western approach to Faversham. Development will be led 
by an integrated landscape strategy that will provide landscaping and 
habitat creation to achieve a substantial landscaped western boundary to 
the site to additionally minimise visual impacts; 

2. Improve the quality of the environment and housing choice to strengthen 
the housing market area of the adjacent deprived neighbourhood; 

3. Produce a mix of housing in accordance with Policy CP3, including 
provision for affordable housing and Gypsies and Travellers in 
accordance with Policies DM8 and DM10; 

4. Undertake a transport assessment and implement any highway and other 
transportation improvements arising from the proposed development; 

5. Achieve pedestrian and cycle links to existing residential areas;
6. Assess impacts upon and ensure that air quality objectives are not 

compromised; 
7. Assess and respond to any undesignated heritage assets on and 

adjoining the site in accordance with Policy CP8; 
8. Achieve a net gain for biodiversity overall by: 

a. preparation of an ecological assessment to determine the site's 
interests (inc. the adjacent roadside nature reserve) and to bring 
forward proposals for mitigation if adverse impacts cannot be avoided, 
having considered the retention of existing vegetation/habitats as far as 
possible; 

b. using appropriate landscaping and open space to encourage 
biodiversity and to offset any recreational impacts that may arise; 

c. making an assessment of potential impacts upon the Bysing Wood 
local wildlife site and providing such measures for their mitigation; and 

d. determining the need for a Habitats Regulations Assessment and 
address any matters arising, including potential financial contributions 
toward wider management measures. 

9. Provide infrastructure needs arising from the development.”

Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 (Saved Policies)

5.5 All policies cited below are considered to accord with the NPPF for the 
purposes of determining this application and as such, these policies should still 
be afforded significant weight in the decision-making process.

Page 157

http://www.cartogold.co.uk/swale/pdf/Inset%201%20Faversham.pdf


Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

150

5.6 Policies FAV 1 is the primary saved policies of relevance to the determination 
of this application. Policy FAV1 is the strategic policy covering the whole of 
Faversham and its surrounding rural areas.  It states:

‘Within the Faversham and Rest of Swale Planning Area, conservation of the 
historic and natural environment is the prime and overriding consideration. 
Within this context, the Borough Council will enhance the role of the market 
town to support its own local needs and those of its rural hinterland. This will be 
achieved by promoting development proposals that can retain and harness 
local skills to achieve a greater diversity in employment, housing and 
community life, in scale and character with Faversham and its surrounding 
countryside and communities. Within this planning area, the identified Area 
Action Plans and elsewhere, the following planning priorities will be pursued: 

1. to set scales of development that reflect local needs and environmental 
character to achieve a better balance between the population and 
employment opportunities alongside a reduction in commuting to other 
areas; 

2. to retain and improve existing employment land and buildings that would 
otherwise exacerbate the population and employment imbalance if lost to 
housing development; 

3. to safeguard and enhance the diversity of Faversham's small-scale 
historic character and its maritime traditions, alongside that of its 
surrounding countryside, landscape and communities; 

4. to enhance Faversham creek and creekside so that it functions as a place 
of special interest and activity with strong associations with the water;

5. to raise the standard of the environment through high quality design, and 
the protection, enhancement, and management of environmental 
resources, including the creation of a network of accessible open spaces 
(a green grid); 

6. to support proposals that can meet as much of Faversham's development 
needs as possible from land and buildings within the existing urban area 
so as to minimise greenfield land development; 

7. to provide for employment development, at a scale appropriate to the 
environment, on sites well related to the communication network, the 
existing urban framework and rural settlements; 

8. to support and diversify the services and activities, including tourism, in 
Faversham town centre so as to enhance its economic health; 

9. where appropriate, to promote rural sites and initiatives for employment 
and protect and improve rural services and facilities, to diversify the rural 
economy and support the role of the market town; 

10. to effectively manage the risk of flooding; and
11. avoiding any significant adverse environmental impacts, and where 

possible, enhancing the biodiversity interest of internationally designated 
sites for nature conservation.’

Page 158



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

151

5.7 Policy SP1 (Sustainable Development) outlines the Council’s approach to 
sustainable development stating:

‘In meeting the development needs of the Borough, proposals should accord 
with principles of sustainable development that increase local self-sufficiency, 
satisfy human needs, and provide a robust, adaptable and enhanced 
environment. Development proposals should: 

1. Avoid detrimental impact on the long term welfare of areas of 
environmental importance, minimise their impact generally upon the 
environment, including those factors contributing to global climate change, 
and seek out opportunities to enhance environmental quality; 

2. promote the more efficient use of previously-developed land, the existing 
building stock, and other land within urban areas for urban and rural 
regeneration, including housing, mixed-uses and community needs; 

3. ensure that proper and timely provision is made for physical, social and 
community infrastructure;

4. provide a range and mix of housing types, including affordable housing;
5. provide for sustainable economic growth to support efficient, competitive, 

diverse and innovative business, commercial and industrial sectors; 
6. support existing and provide new or diversified local services;
7. promote ways to reduce energy and water use and increase use of 

renewable resources, including locally sourced and sustainable building 
materials; 

8. be located so as to provide the opportunity to live, work and use local 
services and facilities in such a way that can reduce the need to travel, 
particularly by car; 

9. be located to promote the provision of transport choices other than the 
car;

10. be of a high quality design that respects local distinctiveness and 
promotes healthy and safe environments; and

11. promote human health and well-being.’ 

5.8 Also of relevance to the determination of this application are the following 
saved Local Plan policies;

SP2 (Environment)
SP3 (Economy)
SP4 (Housing)
SP7 (Transport and Utilities)
E1 (General Development Criteria)
E6 (Countryside)
E9 (Protecting the Quality and Character of the Boroughs Landscape)
E10 (Trees and Hedges)
E11 (Protecting and enhancing the Borough’s Biodiversity and Geological 
Interest)
E12 (Sites designated for their importance to biodiversity or geological 
conservation)
E19 (Good Quality Design)
B2 (Providing for New Employment)

Page 159



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

152

H2 (Providing for New Housing)
T1 (Providing Safe Access to the Highway Network)
T2 (Essential Improvements to the Highway Network)
C2 (Housing Developments and the Provision of Community Services and 
Facilities)
C3 (Open Space within Residential Development)
B14 (New Employment Sites)
B15 (Land at Western Link, Faversham) which states that:

‘The Borough Council will grant planning permission for the development of 
8.3 ha of land east of the Western Link, Faversham, as shown on the 
Proposals Map, for employment use (primarily Use Class B1) provided that: 
1. access to the whole site is from a single point on the Western Link Road;
2. the provision, at the developer's expense to the satisfaction of the 

Highway Authority, of other highway and transportation measures, arising 
from the development of the site, including those that may be identified by 
a Transport Impact Assessment on the A2; and 

3. a high quality landscaping scheme, that will include buffering between 
existing and proposed uses, is provided along the boundaries of the site.’

B19 (Land East of Faversham)
MU2 (Land at Graveney Road, Faversham)
AAP3 (Land at Oare, Faversham)

National Planning Policy 

5.9 Also of importance to the determination of this application is the guidance as 
set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

5.10 The NPPF sets out the Governments position on the planning system 
explaining that “The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development. The policies in paragraphs 18 to 219 
of the NPPF, taken as a whole, constitute the Government’s view of what 
sustainable development in England means in practice for the planning system.  
At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, which should seen as a golden thread 
running through both plan-making and decision taking. For decision taking this 
mean:

 Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan 
without delay; and

 Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of 
date granting permission unless:
o Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
Framework taken as a whole; or

Page 160



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

153

o Specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 
restricted.”

5.11 It further outlines a set of core land use planning principles (para 17) which 
should underpin both plan-making and decision taking including to contribute to 
conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing pollution and 
encourage the effective use of land by reusing land that has been previously 
developed (brownfield land), provided that it is not of high value.

5.12 At Paragraph 47 it states that “planning authorities should meet local housing 
needs and identify five year housing land supply with an additional 5% buffer”. 
Paragraph 49 states “that housing application should be considered in the 
context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development” and that 
“Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up to date 
if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 
deliverable housing sites.”

5.13 Paragraphs 47-55 seek to significantly boost the supply of housing.

6.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

6.1 One letter of general comments has been received making the following 
summarised comments:

 The attributes of Faversham (beautiful scenery, a town full of character) 
have gradually been eroded

 Numerous housing developments have sprung up
 Traffic has increased
 Soon Faversham will become similar to a London suburb 
 Housing has increased but recreational areas and public facilities have 

not- there will be a shortage of places in schools and at doctors surgeries
 The development would affect privacy, tranquillity of the area and views
 At present Sumpter Way is a quiet no-through road used by dog walkers 

and local residents
 Proposed housing would be high density, create noise and pollution 
 The visual appearance of the area will be dramatically changed for the 

worse
 The density of the houses should be reduced and green spaces increased
 Screening is needed between Sumpter Way and the hew houses

6.2 Six letters of objections have been received making the following summarised 
comments
 Lack of infrastructure to support additional housing development in 

Faversham
 The proposal does not enhance the local community in any way and 

would just add to the pressure on local services 
 The A2 will not cope with the traffic
 There is a range of bird life on the land- where will they relocate to?

Page 161



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

154

 Loss of the wildflowers will reduce the bee population
 Development should be presented in the context of the wider plan for 

Faversham and not just as a small development
 The application site is ‘greenfield’ land not ‘brownfield’ land
 The application site and the surrounding area is rich in natural habitats for 

a diverse number of species
 Slow worms and other reptiles are very common on the site, fox dens are 

also located on the site
 The site may have archaeological significance- this needs to be explored 

further
 Construction traffic would affect the local residents
 Pollution from extra traffic
 Concerned that Hazebrouck Road would become a thoroughfare rather 

than the existing quiet cul-de-sac

7.0 CONSULTATIONS

7.01 Faversham Town Council support the application subject to the submission of 
an Environmental impact Assessment (an ES was not required in this 
instance, though Members will note the comprehensive set of supporting 
documents submitted with the application) and satisfactory mitigation of any 
adverse impacts and to satisfactory proposals for mitigation of increased 
atmospheric pollution in Ospringe Street. 

7.02 Ospringe Parish Council objects to the application on the following grounds:

 The development would exacerbate the current traffic problems on the A2 
considerably

 It would add to the worsening pollution creep from the A2 traffic, the 
A2/London Road being recognised by Swale BC as having unacceptable 
levels of pollution

 A housing development in this location would considerably aggravate the 
extent of current traffic congestion, which is evidenced at many times of 
the day but especially during morning rush hour

 Additionally there is insufficient school capacity, in particular primary 
school capacity, in the area to cope with children of families who would 
move to the new development 

7.03 Southern Water has confirmed that there is currently inadequate capacity in 
the local network to provide foul sewage disposal to service the proposed 
development.  The proposed development would increase flows to the public 
sewage system, and existing properties and land may be subject to a greater 
risk of flooding as a result.  Additional off-site sewers, or improvements to 
existing sewers, will be required to provide sufficient capacity to service the 
development. Suggested condition on details of drainage proposed.

Page 162



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

155

7.04 The Lower Medway Drainage Board raises no objection to the development 
and is pleased that the applicant proposes to dispose of surface water runoff 
by open systems, rather than closed, underground systems which are more 
difficult to maintain.  Provided the proposed infiltration basins are 
appropriately designed to accommodate the 1 in 100 year rainfall event 
(+30% to allow for the predicted effects of Climate Change) and exceedance 
arrangements are adequately considered/detailed, the Board’s interests 
should remain unaffected.  Please note that land and property to the east of 
the site (between Hazebrouck Road and The Knole) have suffered from high 
ground water levels and localised flooding over the last winter.  This situation 
must not be worsened by any development in this area.  It is therefore 
requested that drainage arrangements be made subject to a condition 
requiring details and agreed in close consultation with the LPA, Environment 
Agency and KCC.  

7.05 Kent County Council Public Rights of Way and Access raise no objection 
subject to the development not commencing until the footpath diversion 
(running along the northern boundary of the site) has been confirmed and a 
new route provided and a condition requiring this. Members should note that 
the layout details would be assessed under the Reserved Matters application 
and that the submitted layout plan is only indicative at this stage.  I have 
sought additional comments in relation to the possible diversion of the public 
footpath crossing the level crossing and KCC Public Rights of Way and 
Access ‘in principle, support Network Rails aim to reduce the risk to the public 
using the footpath.  Any physical improvements to the crossing to be funded 
from the development would be a matter for discussion with Network Rail. My 
understanding is that as the pedestrian crossing is not directly affected by the 
development proposals so any application to divert or extinguish the footpath 
would have to be made using the Highways Act 1980.  If Network Rail wish to 
pursue this option they should contact KCC Public Rights of Way Service 
directly.  It would be a separate process to the planning application and there 
is no guarantee of an application being successful.’

7.06 Kent Highways Services raise no objection subject to the provision of the 
roundabout and the safeguarding of the future provision of land to create a 
future bus route through the site.  

7.07 The Environment Agency raises no objection to the proposal subject to 
conditions on surface water drainage details, no infiltration of surface water 
drainage, remediation strategy, verification report and piling.

7.08 The Crime Prevention Design Advisor (Kent Police) raises no objection to 
proposal subject to the suggested informative. 

Page 163



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

156

7.09 Kent Wildlife Trust originally objected to the application due to the impacts on 
the Roadside Nature Reserve and the lack of assessment of these impacts.  
Following additional information provided by the agent additional comments 
have been received from KWT (letter dated 18th December 2014) who confirm 
that no objection is raised subject to conditions requiring a survey and 
assessment of the impacts upon the Roadside Nature Reserve; impacts upon 
invertebrates associated with open mosaic habitats that follows Natural 
England guidelines; a Mitigation Strategy to set out the mitigation required to 
address impacts upon reptiles, the RNR, and invertebrates associated with 
the open mosaic habitat (to include monitoring and long-term management). 
Members will note the relevant conditions below.  

7.10 Stage Coach raises no objection to the development subject to the future 
provision of space for a turning circle and the future introduction of a bus gate 
provided through the narrow strip of land between Lower Road and 
Hazebrouck Road.  

7.11 Kent County Archaeology raises no objection to the proposal subject to 
conditions requiring the submission of an archaeological evaluation and 
mitigation details and the recording of any demolition or conversion works.  
The retention of the pug wash and chimney stack are welcomed as important 
reminders of the history of the site and the important brick making industry in 
this area of Swale.  With the retention of the structures it is important that 
sufficient provision is made for their future long term maintenance within the 
residential scheme.  KCC Archaeology recommends that provision is also 
made for on-site interpretation of the structures and their role in the former 
brickworks which will help to strengthen the historic sense of place of the new 
development on the site.  I am awaiting comments from the Open Space 
Officer in relation to the long term management of the retained historic 
features and will update Members at the meeting.  

7.12 Kent County Ecology originally raised concerns in relation to ecology impacts.  
Following the submission of additional information KCC Ecology support the 
application subject to the conditions below.

7.13 Natural England makes the following summarised comments:

 The proposed site is located in close proximity to a European designated 
site and therefore has the potential to affect its interest features

 The site is close to The Swale Special Protection Area (SPA) and is also 
listed as the Swale Ramsar Site and also notified at a national level as 
The Swale Site of Special Scientific Interest

 The Local Authority should have regard for any potential impacts may 
have

 The application does not include a Habitats Regulation Assessment
 The Local Authority should determine whether the proposal is likely to 

have any significant effects on any European site 

Page 164



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

157

 The Local Authority should secure contributions towards the cost of 
implementing the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM)

 The development may provide opportunities to incorporate features into 
the design which are beneficial to wildlife

7.14 The Kent County Council Development Manager (Development Investment 
Team) has requested the following contributions: 

Primary School contribution:  £590.24 per applicable flat & £2360.96 per 
applicable house (‘applicable’ means: all dwellings except 1 bed of less than 
56sqm GIA, and sheltered accommodation) towards an extension at the 
existing local Primary School (total for 250 houses = £590,240)
Secondary School contribution: £137.50 per applicable flat & £550 per 
applicable house towards a future extension to a local Secondary School 
(total for 250 houses = £137,500)
Libraries: £230.09 per household (total for 250 houses = 
£57,522.50)
Adult Education: £43.35 per household (total for 250 houses= 
£10,837.50)
Youth: £55.55 per household (total for 250 houses= 
£13,887.50)
Social Services: £262.90 per household, plus 3 wheelchair accessible 
units as part of the affordable housing delivery (total for 250 houses= 
£65,725)
Total for 250 houses (estimated): £875,712.50

7.15 Swale Footpaths Group confirms that there is one right of way just outside the 
site to the south, a second crosses it east-west and a third just cuts across the 
site’s northern end. 

7.16 The Environmental Protection Team Leader raises no objection to the 
principle of development subject to conditions requiring a survey to establish 
traffic noise levels and contamination survey.  Furthermore, with regards to 
the air quality issues there is sufficient evidence within it to be confident that 
air quality will not reach levels of concern within the site, therefore not 
adversely affect the existing Ospringe AQMA.

7.17 The Council’s Tree Consultant does not object to the proposal and makes the 
following comments:

‘From a tree perspective, the application comes with a detailed tree report 
by Barrell tree consultant’s ref 12204-AIA2-PB dated 30th May 2014.  In 
principle, I would agree with its content and the grading of the trees 
present on the site and provided the development adheres to the 
recommendations I have no objections.’

The Council’s Tree Consultant suggests two conditions in relation to the 
retention of trees and erection of tree protection measures, as outlined in the 
submitted Tree Report.  

Page 165



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

158

7.18 Green Space Manager originally comments and raised no objection to the 
proposal subject to clarification on the usable public open space within the 
development and further comments that most of the proposed open space 
‘either provides buffer to Western Link, open attenuation or the setting of the 
preserved structures.’  He further states that: 

‘There are significant access opportunities to existing open spaces, small 
amount of woodland and play area, close to the development site.  Access to 
the existing allotment site has also been included which is a positive 
improvement.  The draft S106 Agreement identifies off-site contributions, 
transfer of open space and commuted sums to maintain in the future. 
However there needs to be clarification of who/how the preserved structures 
are to be dealt with as the Council would, I expect, be reluctant to take these 
on as assets.’

A contribution of £861.80 per dwelling (totalling £215,450 for 250 dwellings) 
is sought towards the enhancement to the off-site play area and the 
restoration of the adjacent allotments. I have received additional comments 
from the Green Space Manager which I am discussing with him and the 
developer and will update Members at the meeting in relation to the long-term 
management of the historic structures.  

7.19 The Climate Change Officer raises no objection to the proposal subject to a 
sustainable measures condition.  

7.20 The Housing Strategy and Enabling Officer makes the following comments:

 From an affordable housing perspective we would seek 30% affordable 
homes, which should be a reasonable and proportionate mix to the 
rest of the development.

 Based on delivery of 250 dwellings, 30% of the total provision would 
provide 75 affordable units being delivered on site.

 70% of the units must be for affordable rent (social rent):  53 
dwellings

 30% of the units must be for intermediate housing:  22 
dwellings

 Clustering - The affordable housing units should be evenly distributed 
across the site in clusters of between 6 and 15 dwellings.

 Housing would seek affordable wheelchair adapted homes on this site, the 
number of which would be agreed with the Registered Provider.

 When a schedule of accommodation is provided further detail regarding 
the affordable housing requirements will be provided, including phasing 
requirements. 

Page 166



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

159

7.21 Network Rail have made the following comments:

‘After reviewing the information provided in relation to the above planning 
application, Network Rail have a number of concerns relating to the proposed 
development and are of the opinion that this development will import 
additional risk to the operational railway. These concerns are outlined below. 

1. The level crossing currently scores a risk level of C5 (which is generally 
considered high risk) due to insufficient sighting of approaching trains. 
There is a severe track curvature which is currently mitigated by whistle 
boards. However, whistle boards are no longer recognised as a sufficient 
form of risk mitigation and so if, as a consequence of the development, the 
use of the level crossing increases other mitigation apparatus will need to 
be installed.

2. There is currently no provision in the draft s.106 Agreement for any works 
to improve the level crossing (e.g new gates, new level crossing deck, 
straightening of crossing deck, visual and audible warning systems). It is 
likely that given the proposed number of dwellings the level crossing will 
require works. The developer should fund any and all such measures as 
any increased usage of the level crossing will be as a direct consequence 
of the development and outside of Network Rail’s control. If no works are 
deemed to be immediately necessary it is suggested that monies should 
still be set aside for any ‘future-proofing’ required at the level crossing or 
for any issues that may arise following occupation of the new dwellings.

3. It would be preferable for the level crossing to be removed and either 
replaced with a footbridge (to be funded by the developer) or the footpath 
be diverted/extinguished as part of the development itself. The area 
around the level crossing is proposed to be an attenuation pond with open 
shrub land and thus may encourage anti-social behaviour and 
children/teenagers hanging around the level crossing. This increases the 
risk of an incident at the level crossing as well as trespass on the railway 
and would be unacceptable to Network Rail.

4. The level crossing is currently a footpath only; therefore bicycle use is 
prohibited. The ‘concept masterplan’ labels the location of the level 
crossing a ‘pedestrian/cycle access point’. Whilst wicket gates are 
currently situated at the level crossing cycle use should not be promoted at 
the level crossing. Such promotion would encourage users to cycle over 
the level crossing rather than push bicycles; this imports a huge risk onto 
the railway and one that would be unacceptable to Network Rail.

5. Given the proposed layout of the site it is not felt that there would be any 
benefit in retaining the current footpath route as it does not lead to any 
sites of special interest; it currently leads from a housing estate to a very 
busy A2 London Road. By retaining the footpath and the level crossing 
users will not only be at risk when using the level crossing, but will then 

Page 167



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

160

have to walk alongside a busy road. There would be no loss of amenity 
value to users and would also allow the development site to be securely 
fenced off from the railway.

Furthermore, the applicant should also be made aware of comments made 
by the Network Rail Asset Protection Team in view of protection of 
Network Rail Assets.”

7.22 Highways England raise no objection to the development.

8.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

8.1 The submitted application plans, reports and documents from the applicants.

9 APPRAISAL

9.01 I consider that the key material considerations in assessing this application 
area as follows:

 The housing land supply position and the principle of the proposed 
development and the draft/emerging Local Plan allocation

 Residential amenity implications
 Highway network impact
 Impact on the surrounding landscape quality and visual amenity
 Heritage assets and future long term retention and archaeology
 Biodiversity and Ecology implications
 Surface water drainage/Flood risk
 Developer contributions 

The Housing land supply position and the principle of the proposed 
development/the draft/emerging Local Plan allocation

9.02 In respect of the adopted Local Plan, like the emerging plan, it recognises in 
Faversham the need to set scales of development that reflect local needs and 
environmental character to achieve a better balance between the population 
and employment opportunities. The adopted Local Plan sought to achieve this 
whilst safeguarding and enhancing the diversity of Faversham's small-scale 
historic character and its maritime traditions, alongside that of its surrounding 
countryside, landscape and communities.  The introduction of the NPPF in 
March 2012 changed the way in which planning decisions could be made, 
particularly in respect of housing developments.

9.03 The NPPF (at paragraph 49) makes clear that relevant policies for the supply 
of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority 
cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.  Whilst the 
NPPF allowed a years grace before these requirements fully came into force, 
this period has now expired.  As such, the Council’s current lack of a five year 
supply of housing sites (currently 3.17 years supply) is a significant material 
consideration in favour of this development (and other housing proposals).  

Page 168



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

161

Notwithstanding that, the fact that the Council are currently in the process of, 
and at quite an advanced stage of completing a new Local Plan, shows a 
direction of travel of the Council that has been through several stages of 
public consultation.  The Council has now submitted the emerging Local Plan 
to be considered by the Inspector for adoption and this site is allocated in this 
emerging Local Plan for dwellings. 

 
9.04 It is important to note that the site is allocated for residential development in 

the emerging Local Plan and as such it cannot be considered to be premature 
in coming forward at this stage.  The site is located in the build-up area and 
the site has not come forward for employment/residential use during the Local 
Plan 2008.

9.05 In conclusion, whilst the contribution to housing land supply is a material 
consideration in this case, it is not the only consideration.  However, that in 
combination with the future allocation of the site is a strong material 
consideration in this case and it should be acknowledged that granting 
planning permission would make a strong contribution towards housing land 
supply and put the Council in a much stronger position to successfully defend 
appeals for housing sites in unsuitable locations.

9.06 Members will also note that this is a brownfield site that is being proposed for 
allocation which has previously been allocated in the adopted Local Plan 2008 
for employment use.  The change in allocation for residential development is 
simply a reflection of the fact that there were insufficient suitable and available 
previously developed sites identified by the Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment to meet the total housing need for the Borough and as a result of 
the site failing to come forward as an employment site since the adoption of 
the 2008 Local Plan.

Residential Amenity

9.07 In terms of residential amenity, again the impact can only be looked at in 
general terms as the specific design and layout will be determined at the 
reserved matters stage.  This is a matter that has already been considered in 
general terms when the site was assessed for allocation in the emerging Local 
Plan.  The proposed development, being an edge of settlement development, 
would clearly have a significant impact on the character of the surrounding 
area and alter the outlook for people using Western Link either as pedestrians 
or vehicle users.  Though part of the site is currently used for the storage of 
bricks, the majority of the site is overgrown and disused so the proposal would 
therefore introduce an urban character to this site and to the surrounding 
views.   This will inevitably have an impact on the amenity of the nearest 
properties. However, the Borough has to provide additional housing, and the 
impact of this development has been considered by Members and Officers 
alike to be not so significant as to warrant allocating an alternative site over 
this one. It will be important at reserved matters stage to ensure the 
development is designed in a manner than minimises this impact as much as 

Page 169



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

162

possible.  In my opinion the residents most likely to be affected by the proposal 
are the residents of Bensted Grove, Hollybank, Keramos, Lower Road and 
Whiting Crescent.   It is imperative that at the detailed stage of planning, their 
amenity is given serious consideration.

9.08 It is important to consider the contribution the development would make to the 
local area such as the affordable housing provision, contribution towards local 
open space and notably towards the reinstatement of the allotments located in 
close proximity to the site.

9.09 Finally, Members will note the conditions suggested below including the 
requirement for a Development Brief (see condition 7) which will need to be 
used to minimise the adverse impacts on neighbours.

9.10 With regards to air quality the Environmental Protection Team Leader has 
confirmed that sufficient evidence has been submitted to be confident that air 
quality will not reach levels of concerns within the site and therefore not 
adversely affecting the existing Ospringe AQMA.  Furthermore, it should be 
noted that the site has previously been allocated in the adopted Local Plan 
2008 for commercial use which would also have led to additional vehicular 
movements and I am therefore of the opinion that the development now 
proposed (residential use), is unlikely to have a significant impact on the 
AQMA.

Highways implications

9.11 In my opinion, which is shared by Kent Highways Services the proposal would 
not have a significant impact on the local and wider highway network.  It is 
important to take into consideration that full commercial use of the site could be 
implemented at any stage which would create a significant increase in traffic.  
Furthermore, the site was allocated for commercial use in the current adopted 
Local Plan 2008 which would have significant more impacts on the highway 
network and traffic movements comparable in scale at peak times with that of 
the proposed full residential scheme which is now before us.  The essential off-
site highway works (roundabout) will be secured through the signing of the 
S106 agreement which also includes the safeguarding of land for the potential 
future bus route through the site (roundabout is  shown on the submitted 
indicative site plan- drawing number CMP-02 Rev B) .  The highway 
improvements include the pedestrian crossing points on Western Link, the 
roundabout to provide access from the Western Link and the improved bus 
turning facility in Lower Road- all of which form an improvement to the current 
situation.  The proposal also creates a much needed pedestrian and cycle route 
within the site to link into the adjacent housing developments.

9.12 The proposed vehicular access is a consideration under this application and I 
can confirm that no objections to the siting of the access have been raised by 
Kent Highway Services.  The introduction of the roundabout would ensure that 
there is a speed reduction feature along this part of the Western Link and 
therefore the highway safety impact is unlikely to be significant and could 
indeed be a positive one. 

Page 170



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

163

Impact on the surrounding landscape quality and visual amenity

9.13 At this stage, the visual impact of the proposal can only be considered in very 
broad terms due to the uncertainty of all matters of design, height of buildings, 
materials, location etc.  However, this site will result in a new gateway to the 
town and as such it is key that the design of the entire scheme is of a high 
quality with local traditional materials and carefully designed to ensure visually 
it is appropriate to its surroundings.  These messages have been strongly 
conveyed to the applicants and their agent, as have the messages from the 
Design Panel in respect of the layout.  The indicative layout submitted with the 
application is likely to be subject to some changes with creation of perhaps 
more integrated useable areas of landscaping and the retention/mitigation of 
the heritage assets located on the site.  

9.14 I am firmly of the opinion that successful landscaping along the north-western 
boundary with the Western Link is vitally important to ensure that a high quality 
gateway to the town is achieved.  The site already has some prominent 
landscaping in-situ and we would fully expect the landscaping details submitted 
at the detailed application stage to strengthen this landscaping.  

9.15 I am of the view that this development can fit in well with the surrounding area 
and create a high quality residential scheme that has a minimal impact on the 
surrounding residential developments or on the adjacent open countryside.  It 
will be important to consider the style and heights of the dwellings/flats on the 
edges of the development site to ensure that the site does not result in an 
overly prominent development.  As noted above, conditions imposed here will 
allow the final details to be fully controlled to ensure a high quality design is 
achieved.  

Heritage assets and future long term retention and archaeology 

9.15 The site does have some structures of archaeological importance such as the 
pug wash (a machine used to mix water with clay) and historic chimney stack, 
both of which are proposed to be retained.  KCC Archaeology do not raise any 
objection to the proposal but do seek the submission of an archaeological 
evaluation and mitigation details and the recording of any demolition or 
conversion works.  The retention of the pug wash and chimney stack are 
welcomed as important reminders of the history of the site and the important 
brick making industry in this area of Swale.  With the retention of the structures 
it is important that sufficient provision is made for their future long term 
maintenance within the residential scheme.  KCC Archaeology recommends 
that provision is also made for on-site interpretation of the structures and their 
role in the former brickworks which will help to strengthen the historic sense of 
place of the new development on the site.  I am awaiting comments from the 
Green Space Manager and Applicant in relation to the long term management 
of the retained historic features and will update Members at the meeting.  

Page 171



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

164

Biodiversity and Ecology implications

9.16 As noted above, the site is located less than 6km from the Swale SPA and as 
such it is likely that the future occupiers of the site will be using the SPA for 
recreational purposes in some instances.  It is therefore likely that there will be 
some limited impact on the SPA which will need to be addressed through 
appropriate mitigation measures.  I have been in long discussions with the 
agent and relevant stakeholders including seeking legal advice with regards to 
the best solution and appropriate action against the likely impact.  The agent 
has confirmed, at the outset of the application, that they are willing to provide 
the requested contribution towards the SPA mitigation (£223.58 per dwelling) 
and as such it has been agreed that funds will go towards a local project and 
possibly some suitable signage/information boards which will help to mitigate 
the possible future impacts from the additional recreation use of the SPA.  The 
Council’s legal team are currently finalising the wording within the S106 to 
address this matter and I will update Members at the meeting.

9.17 I have also considered the potential for the scheme to impact upon the Swale 
Special Protection Area (SPA), which relate to the ecological value of the Swale 
waterway and adjoining land.   I have sought the advice on this matter from 
Natural England KCC Ecology who confirm that in the absence of the 
contribution towards the SPA mitigation measures an Appropriate Assessment 
would be required.  Natural England have confirmed that if integral avoidance 
measures such as providing the financial contribution is agreed by the applicant 
then it is unlikely that a proposal is likely to have significant effect upon the 
SPA.  In this instance the developer has confirmed that they would pay the 
contribution (£223.58 per dwelling) and as such I conclude that an Appropriate 
Assessment is not required as mitigation measures can be put in place as 
required.  In addition the site is not located in close proximity to the SPA 
(though within 6km) and other areas for recreational use such as the Bysing 
Woods and Oare Gunpowder Works, a country park and a nature reserve are 
located also near the site.  It should also be noted that the site makes a 
significant on-site contribution to open space so it is very likely that the future 
occupants of the residential properties will make use of this useable open 
space whilst also using the nature reserve and country park located in closer 
proximity to the site than the SPA.        

9.18 The site also lies adjacent to a Roadside Nature Reserve (RNR SW01), for a 
distance of approximately 100 metres (total length of RNR is 1300 metres) of 
which will be impacted upon by the development.  Again the applicant has 
provided mitigation proposals and re-location of any protected species found 
which KCC Ecology do not object to, to be secured by condition.  The applicant 
is seeking to provide an extension to the RNR, at the southern end of the RNR 
as well as mitigation towards the south of the site along the boundary to 
Western Link.  The application has been submitted with a detailed Mitigation 
Strategy and the agent has provided additional details in relation to the 
proposed receptor sites, translocation of reptiles from within the donor sites to 
the receptor sites and monitoring of the receptor sites post transfer of the 
animals as requested by KCC Ecology.  These details are considered 
acceptable.

Page 172



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

165

9.19 On balance whilst there will be some limited impact on biodiversity and ecology 
I am firmly of the view that these can be successfully addressed by the 
mitigation measures proposed as well as the contribution towards the SPA.

Surface water drainage/Flood risk

9.20 The site is not located within an area known to be at risk of flooding, being 
located in Flood Zone 1.  However, the Environment Agency and The Lower 
Medway Drainage Board have drawn attention to the possibility of surface 
water flooding and have recommended conditions to deal with this issue.  The 
Lower Medway Drainage Board has raised objection to the application on the 
basis that they welcome the use of Suds.  I am content that this issue can be 
dealt with via an appropriate condition as set out below.

Developer contributions 
9.21 The site would provide 30% affordable housing as in accordance with the 

adopted Local Plan.  The applicant is proposing a tenure split of 60% affordable 
rented tenure with 40% for intermediate housing (shared equity).  The agent 
has provided substantial evidence, including recent market trend figures and a 
support letter from a local housing association substantiating this tenure split.  I 
am discussing this evidence with the Council’s Housing Officer and will report 
verbally at the meeting as to its acceptability.

9.22 As discussed above the developer is making further contributions towards the 
mitigation of the impacts on the Swale SPA (namely £223.58 per dwelling, 
totalling £55,895), the highway improvements consisting of improvement of bus 
turning facilities, future provision for bus route through the site, KCC 
contributions (see 7.14 above), as outlined above and retention of the historic 
elements of the site.  The exact method for the long-term management of the 
historic structures is yet to be agreed and I am awaiting comments from the 
Council’s Green Space Manager and the agent and will update Members at the 
meeting.  

9.23 Wheelie bin contribution is also sought, totalling £9,875 for 250 houses as well 
as the 5% monitoring charge, which would amount to £57,846.63.  The total 
contribution is £1,214,779.13.

Other Matters

9.24 Members will note that there is no provision towards on-site gypsy/traveller 
sites.  Taking into consideration the recent appeal decision under 
APP/V2255/A/14/2224500 (his full decision letter is appendix to my report) for 
the residential site at Brogdale Place, I note the Inspectors conclusions which 
were as follows:

“I accept that in accordance with paragraph 216 of the Framework, account can 
be taken of emerging policies. However the SBLP has not yet been submitted 
for examination and there are unresolved objections to that part of SBLP Policy 

Page 173



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

166

CP3 relating to the provision of gypsy and traveller sites. Furthermore the 
particular approach to site provision inherent in the policy is not one that is set 
out in the Framework or in the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites. Consequently 
I believe that very little weight can be attached to SBLP Policy CP3. As a result 
I find no policy justification for the Council’s approach of seeking the provision 
of a gypsy and traveller pitch on the site.”

I am therefore of the opinion that it is not appropriate to pursue the provision 
towards gypsy/traveller pitches in this case.  

9.25 The indicative layout plan does show a pedestrian link to the footpath which 
currently crosses the level crossing.  Network Rail has raised some concerns 
regarding the likely increased use of the level crossing as a result of this 
development.  Whilst from a sustainability and functional perspective a direct 
pedestrian link to the level crossing would normally be sought, given the 
Network Rail concerns, it is considered that this issue can be resolved during 
the approval of reserved matters with further negotiation between Network Rail, 
the developer and the Borough Council.  

9.26 The agent has also confirmed that any built structures, as submitted at the 
detailed application stage will be over 3m from Network Rail Land and that the 
off-setting of the soakaway from Network Rail’s land is provided.  This will need 
to be explored further at the detailed design stage.  Network Rail have also 
raised concerns in relation to surface water drainage and Members should note 
that this is addressed by the use of a condition which addresses this concern.  
This can be used to ensure that the site is well drained in an acceptable 
manner.  

10.0 CONCLUSION

10.01 To conclude, the development would broadly meet the aims of the allocation 
at Policy A12 in Bearing Fruits 2031 and would bring significant benefits.  The 
housing would help the Council towards meeting a five year supply of sites 
and enable it to be in a more secure position for fighting appeals for less 
appropriate sites, especially at Faversham.  Whilst the proposal would result 
in some limited harm, including to residential amenity, to the surrounding 
wider landscape and traffic flow, the need for the development, in my view, 
significantly outweighs the limited harm that would be caused.

10.02 I therefore recommend that planning permission be granted subject to the 
signing of the S106 agreement, clarification from the developer on the on-site 
contribution and the long term maintenance approach to the retained historic 
features on the site and additional comments from Network Rail and the agent 
in relation to the level crossing maintenance.

Page 174



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

167

RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions

CONDITIONS to include

1. Details relating to the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale (the 
reserved matters) of the proposed buildings shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority before any development is 
commenced.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. Application for approval of reserved matters referred to in Condition (1) above 
must be made not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the 
date of the grant of outline planning permission.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

3. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later 
than the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved 
matters or, in the case off approval on different dates, the final approval of the 
last such matter to be approved.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

4. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved drawings in so far as it relates to access: 

CMP-02 Revision B

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning.

5. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) shall show not less than 2.260 
hectares shall be reserved as public open space. No permanent development 
whether permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (as amended) or not shall be carried out in the 
areas so shown without the prior written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In accordance with the terms of the application and to ensure 
that these areas are made available in the interests of the residential 
amenities of the area.

Page 175



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

168

6. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above shall provide full details 
of how the residential part of the development will meet the principles of 
‘Secure by Design’.  The development shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details. 

Reason: In the interests of public amenity and safety.

7. The details submitted in pursuance of condition (1) above shall be in 
accordance with a Development Brief that shall first have been agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and which shall include the following:

(a) Details of the road layout for the site
(b) Connectivity for pedestrians and cyclists between the site and the town 

centre
(c) An overall landscape strategy (including a strategic planting scheme and 

incorporating the retention of existing planting where possible) for the 
application site and adjoining land in the applicants ownership with special 
regard to the eastern boundary

(d) An overall sustainable surface water drainage strategy for the application 
site (based on a network of open ditches and ponds)

(e) A strategy for the architectural treatment of the buildings on the site, 
including elevational treatment, roof design and the palette of colours 

(f) A strategy to enhance opportunities for biodiversity across all parts of the 
application site 

(g) A strategy for storey heights; and
(h) Retention of ‘brick chimney’ and ‘clay wash mill’ as shown on submitted 

strategic landscape masterplan.

Reason: In the interests of promoting a consistent quality of development, 
sustainable development and of visual and landscape amenity.

8. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above shall include cross-
sectional drawings through the site, of the existing and proposed site levels. 
The development shall then be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved levels.

Reason: In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having 
regard to the nature of the site.

9. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) shall show a buffer strip of no 
less than 10 metres in width retained (for strategic planting) where the site 
adjoins Western Link.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and landscape quality.

Page 176



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

169

10.Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a detailed 
travel plan shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in conjunction with Kent Highways Services and Highways England.  
The travel plan shall include targets to reduce the number of car journeys and 
promote the use of public transport and other sustainable transport measures.  
It will also include a review date and a commitment to further measures 
should the targets not be met.

Reason: To ensure that the number of trips generated from the site are 
limited to prevent the number of trips passing through M2 junction 7 from 
exceeding the available capacity.

11.Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, full details 
of the method of disposal of foul and surface waters as part of a detailed 
drainage strategy shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. This drainage strategy should be based on SUDS principle and 
shall be designed to ensure that runoff rates are no greater than existing 
conditions.  A drainage Infrastructure Maintenance Plan should be 
incorporated into the strategy which should set out the information and 
procedures the owners/operators of the development will adhere to and an 
assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the 
development.  The approved details shall be implemented before the first use 
of the development hereby permitted. 

Reason: In order to prevent pollution of water supplies and in order to 
prevent localised flooding.

12.No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or 
successors in title, has secured the implementation of 
i. archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification 

and written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority; and

ii. following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure 
preservation in situ of important archaeological remains and/or further 
archaeological investigation and recording in accordance with a 
specification and timetable which has been submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological 
implications of any development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of 
adverse impacts through preservation in situ or by record. 

13.No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works, site 
clearance) until a method statement for ecological mitigation, including (but 
not necessarily limited to) reptiles, invertebrates, bats, nesting birds and the 
Roadside Nature Reserve, has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The content of the method statement shall 
include the:

Page 177



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

170

a) Purpose and objectives for the proposed works;
b) Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) necessary to achieve stated 

objectives, informed by detailed botanical (NVC), invertebrate, reptile and 
other update ecological surveys (as appropriate), carried out in 
accordance with good practice guidelines;

c) Extent and location of proposed works (including identification of an 
appropriate reptile receptor site and RNR mitigation) shown on 
appropriate scale maps and plans;

d) Timetable for implementation, demonstrating that works are aligned with 
the proposed phasing of construction;

e) Persons responsible for implementing the works, including times when 
specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works.

The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details 
and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of promoting wildlife and biodiversity in urban 
areas. 

14.No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works, site 
clearance) until an Ecological Design and Management Strategy (EDMS) for 
the reptile receptor site and Roadside Nature Reserve mitigation area has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The content of the EDMS shall include the following.

a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works;
b) Review of site potential and constraints;
c) Detailed design(s) to achieve stated objectives;
d) Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps 

and plans;
e) Type and source of materials to be used, e.g. native species of local 

provenance;
f) Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with 

the proposed phasing of development;
g) Aims and objectives of management
h) Appropriate management actions for achieving aims and objectives;
i) Prescriptions for management actions, including preparation of a work 

schedule;
j) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the 

plan;
k) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.

The EDMS shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by 
which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the 
developer with the management body (ies) responsible for its delivery. The 
plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that 
conservation aims and objectives of the EDMS are not being met) how 

Page 178



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

171

contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and 
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning 
biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan 
will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of promoting wildlife and biodiversity in urban 
areas. 

15.No development shall take place until details have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which set out what 
measures will be taken to ensure that the development incorporates 
sustainable construction techniques such as rainwater harvesting, water 
conservation, energy efficiency and, where appropriate, the use of local 
building materials; and provisions for the production of renewable energy such 
as wind power, or solar thermal or solar photo voltaic installations.  Upon 
approval, the details shall be incorporated into the development as approved.

Reason: In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable 
development.

16.No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or 
successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of 
building recording in accordance with a written specification and timetable 
which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that historic building features are properly examined 
and recorded.

17.The commencement of the development shall not take place until a survey 
has been carried out to establish traffic noise levels affecting the site. The 
survey shall be carried out in accordance with a written protocol, details of 
which shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
before the survey is carried out.

A report giving:
 

(a) the results of the survey,
(b) the predictions of noise levels,
(c) details of the design measures that will be used to mitigate against traffic 

noise, and
(d) details of the building specifications of the dwellings which will be used to 

achieve a maximum internal noise level within any of the dwellings of 
35dB(A) (Fast) with windows closed, 

Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the commencement of the development.

The approved measures shall be implemented in full prior to the first 
occupation of any of the buildings hereby permitted.

Page 179



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

172

Reason: the interests of residential amenity.

18.Upon completion of the works identified in the contaminated land assessment, 
and before any part or agreed phase of the development is occupied, a 
closure report shall be submitted which shall include details of the proposed 
remediation works with quality assurance certificates to show that the works 
have been carried out in accordance with the approved methodology. Details 
of any post-remediation sampling and analysis to show the site has reached 
the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the closure report together 
with the necessary documentation detailing what waste materials have been 
removed from the site.

Reason: To ensure any contaminated land is adequately dealt with. 

19.No occupation development shall take place until a verification report 
demonstrating completion of works set out in the approved remediation 
strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and 
approved, in writing, by the local planning authority. The report shall include 
results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the 
approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria 
have been met. It shall also include any plan (a “long-term monitoring and 
maintenance plan”) for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action, as identified in the 
verification plan. The long-term monitoring and maintenance plan shall be 
implemented as approved.

Reason: To protect groundwater and comply with the NPPF

20. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority) shall be carried out until the 
developer has submitted a remediation strategy to the local planning authority 
detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained 
written approval from the local planning authority. The remediation strategy 
shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To protect groundwater which is a controlled water and comply 
with the NPPF. 

21.Piling or any other foundation designs  using penetrative methods shall not be 
permitted other than with the express written consent of the local planning 
authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been 
demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To protect groundwater and comply NPPF. 

Page 180



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

173

22.No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground at the site is permitted 
other than with the express written consent of the local planning authority, 
which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been 
demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approval details.

Reason: To protect groundwater and comply with the NPPF. 

23.Prior to each phase of development approved by this planning permission no 
development shall take place until a remediation strategy that includes the 
following components to deal with the risks associated with contamination of 
the site shall each be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local 
planning authority:
1.  A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:

-all previous uses
-potential contaminants associated with those uses
-a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and 
receptors
-potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 

2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a 
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, 
including those off site.

3. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment 
referred to in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and 
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken.

4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in 
order to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in 
(3) are complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term 
monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action. 

Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To protect groundwater and comply with the NPPF

24.No development shall take place until a programme for the suppression of 
dust during the construction of the development has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The measures shall be employed 
throughout the period of demolition and construction unless any variation has 
been approved by the Local Planning Authority 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

Page 181



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

174

25.No work shall commence on the development site until off-site highway works 
identified on the approved drawings, have been carried out in accordance with 
a design and specification to be approved in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority and to be fully implemented to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority. These works shall include the roundabout and pedestrian refuges 
shown on Plan 7, and enlargement of the bus turning area in Lower Road, 
adjacent to Kiln Court.

Reason: In the interests of amenity and road safety.

26.As an initial operation on site, adequate precautions shall be taken during the 
progress of the works to guard against the deposit of mud and similar 
substances on the public highway in accordance with proposals to be 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
agreed details shall then be retained throughout the demolition of 
development.

Reason: In the interests of amenity and road safety.

27.Prior to the works commencing on site details of parking for site personnel / 
operatives / visitors shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority and thereafter shall be provided and retained throughout the 
construction of the development. The approved parking shall be provided prior 
to the commencement of the development.

Reason: To ensure provision of adequate off-street parking for vehicles in 
the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of local residents.

28.During construction provision shall be made on the site, to the satisfaction of 
the Local Planning Authority, to accommodate operatives' and construction 
vehicles loading, off-loading or turning on the site.

Reason: To ensure that vehicles can be parked or manoeuvred off the 
highway in the interests of highway safety.

29.The details submitted in pursuance of reserved matters shall show adequate 
land, reserved for parking or garaging in accordance with the Approved 
County Parking Standards and, upon approval of the details this area shall be 
provided, surfaced and drained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority before any building is occupied and shall be retained for the use of 
the occupiers of, and visitors to, the premises. Thereafter, no permanent 
development, whether or not permitted by the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order), shall be carried out on the land so shown or in such a 
position as to preclude vehicular access to the reserved vehicle parking area.

Reason: Development without provision of adequate accommodation for 
the parking and turning of vehicles is likely to lead to parking inconvenient to 
other road users and be detrimental to highway safety and amenity.

Page 182



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

175

30.No dwelling shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the site in 
accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority for cycles to be securely sheltered and stored.

Reason: To ensure the provision and retention of adequate off-street 
parking facilities for cycles in the interests of sustainable development and 
promoting cycle visits.

31.The access details shown on the approved plans shall be completed prior to 
the occupation of any buildings hereby approved, and the access shall 
thereafter be maintained.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety

32.The proposed estate roads, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street 
lighting, sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, 
vehicle overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, 
carriageway gradients, drive gradients, car parking and street furniture shall 
be constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be submitted and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing before their construction 
begins. For this purpose, plans and sections, indicating as appropriate, the 
design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of construction shall 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the roads are laid out and constructed in a 
satisfactory manner.

33.Before the first occupation of a dwelling the following works between that 
dwelling and the adopted highway shall be completed as follows:

(A) Footways and/or footpaths shall be completed, with the exception of 
the wearing course;

(B) Carriageways completed, with the exception of the wearing course, 
including the provision of a turning facility beyond the dwelling together 
with related:

(1) highway drainage, including off-site works,
(2) junction visibility splays,
(3) street lighting, street nameplates and highway structures if any.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety

Page 183



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

176

34.No construction work in connection with the development shall take place on 
any Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between the 
following times:-

Monday to Friday 0730 – 1900 hours, Saturdays 0730 – 1300 hours 
unless in association with an emergency or with the prior written approval 
of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

35.No external lighting shall be constructed at the site other than on private 
domestic residences or in accordance with a scheme that has first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
lighting scheme shall be designed in a manner that minimises impact on 
neighbouring residential amenity and bats. 

Reason: In order to prevent potential harm to neighbouring residential 
amenity and the local bat population.

36.No clearance of the site shall take place in the months March to August 
inclusive, this being the breeding season for birds.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity.

37.No impact pile driving in connection with the construction of the development 
shall take place on the site on any Saturday, Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor any 
other day except between the following times:-

Monday to Friday 0900-1700 hours unless in association with an 
emergency or with the written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

38.All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details, (which shall be native species and of a type that will 
encourage wildlife and biodiversity, where possible).  The works shall be 
carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in 
accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

39.Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any  trees or shrubs 
that are removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously 
diseased within five years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of 
such size and species as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, and within whatever planting season is agreed.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

Page 184



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

177

40.Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A, Part 2, Schedule 2, of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as 
amended) or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order, no fences, gates 
walls or other means of enclosure shall be erected within the application site 
without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

41. In this condition "retained tree" means an existing tree, which is to be retained 
in accordance with the approved plans and particulars.

Paragraphs i) and ii) below shall have effect until the expiration of 5 years 
from the date of completion of the development for its permitted use.  No 
retained tree shall be damaged, cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall 
any retained tree be pruned other than in accordance with the Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment and Method Statement Report (Ref; 12204-AIA2-PB, 
dated 30th May 2014), without the written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority.  Any pruning approved shall be carried out in accordance with 
British Standard 3998:2010 Tree Work - Recommendations or any revisions 
thereof.

ii) If any retained tree dies, or is removed, uprooted or destroyed, another tree 
shall be planted at the same place and that tree shall be of such size and 
species and shall be planted at such time as may be specified in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.

iii) The installation of tree protection barriers, the methods of working and the 
means installing equipment, fencing, foundations, and hard surfacing shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the Arboricultural Impact Assessment and 
Method Statement Report (Ref; 12204-AIA2-PB, dated 30th May 2014)

Reason: To protect and enhance the appearance and character of the 
site and locality

42.The approved barriers and/or ground protection as detailed in the 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement Report (Ref; 12204-
AIA2-PB, dated 30th May 2014), shall be erected before any equipment, 
machinery or materials are brought onto the site and shall be maintained until 
all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the 
site.  Nothing shall be stored or placed, nor fires lit, within any of the areas 
protected in accordance with this condition.  The siting of barriers/ground 
protection shall not be altered, nor ground levels changed, nor excavations 
made within these areas without the written consent of the local planning 
authority;

Reason: To safeguard existing trees to be retained and to ensure a 
satisfactory setting and external appearance to the development.

Page 185



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

178

The Council's approach to this application:

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to 
development proposals focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a 
positive and proactive manner by:

Offering pre-application advice.

Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.

As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application.

In this instance:

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the 
application.

Case Officer: Tracy Day

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the 
relevant Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 186



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

179

Page 187



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

180

Page 188



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

181

Page 189



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

182

Page 190



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

183

Page 191



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

184

Page 192



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

185

Page 193



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

186

Page 194



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

187

Page 195



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

188

Page 196



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

189

Page 197



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

190

Page 198



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

191

Page 199



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.4
APPENDIX 1

Planning Committee Report – 11 June 2015 ITEM 2.4

192

Page 200



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

193

2.5  REFERENCE NO - 18/501863/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Erection of a new single storey special educational needs primary school with formation of a 
new access onto Vellum Drive and associated car parking and drop-off area, pedestrian access, 
drainage, areas for formal and informal outdoor play, and landscaping works.

ADDRESS Land East Of Vellum Drive Sittingbourne Kent ME10 5BE   

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION: The proposed development is 
considered to be acceptable as a matter of principle as it would be located on vacant land within 
the defined built-up area boundary. The relevant material planning consideration have been 
carefully considered (see ‘appraisal’ section below) together with the responses received from 
technical consultees and the development has been found to be acceptable, and in line with the 
relevant parts of the NPPF and the applicable policies in the adopted Local Plan. As noted 
above, the recommendation to approve is subject to conditions as set out below.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE: The application site is Council-owned land.

WARD The Meads PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Bobbing

APPLICANT Education & Skills 
Funding Agency
AGENT DHA Planning Ltd

DECISION DUE DATE
04/07/18

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
18/05/18

Planning History: 

SW/13/1328 Approval of reserved matters (pursuant to 
SW/11/0637) relating to the development by 
Redrow homes of 224 houses and flats at 
Archers Park, and consisting of layout, scale, 
appearance and landscaping.

Reserved 
matters 
approved.

15/8/2014

SW/11/0637 Development of up to 300 dwellings on land 
known as Archers Park, immediately to the 
south and west of the application site.

Outline 
planning 
permission 
granted

16/10/2013

SW/99/0073 This included details for the community 
woodland and “siting of school site”, though 
not details of the position of the primary school 
or any other reserved matters for it. 

Reserved 
matters 
approved

17/5/1999

SW/96/0717 Mixed use development including residential, 
office and commercial uses, shopping and 
community facilities, school, community 
woodland, associated infrastructure and 
services.

Outline 
planning 
permission 
granted.

20/1/1998

With regard to SW/96/0717, this outline planning permission is subject to a Section 106 
agreement that includes clauses relating to the land the subject of the current application; 
under the s106 agreement, the land has been transferred to this Council. KCC did not take up 

Page 201



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

194

the option to develop the site for a primary school, and subsequently was to be used as an 
extension to the Community Woodland. The land was not formally planted up, though until 
recently it was used informally for recreation.  

In addition to the need for planning permission, a separate Deed of Variation will be required in 
order for the terms of the s106 agreement to be varied to allow the proposed school to be built 
out on the land.

The other recent development in the area, including the Watermark commercial development 
on the western side of Vellum Drive, has considerable planning history. However, none of it is 
of sufficient relevance to the current application as to warrant inclusion here.

1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.1 The site, which is approximately rectangular, is located immediately to the south of 
Staplehurst Road (the B2006) with its western boundary adjoining Vellum Drive. To the 
west and north the area is characterised by a mix of housing and commercial uses that 
constitute The Meads and Watermark developments.

1.2 Further to the west, Staplehurst Road connects with the A249 trunk road, which runs 
approximately north-south and is located immediately to the west of the Archers Park 
housing development, which includes Bristol Close. 

1.3 Part of the southern site boundary adjoins dwellings on Bristol Close: Numbers 1 and 5 
to 12 inclusive adjoin the site boundary; Number 1 is side-on to the application site, 
while the other houses back on to it. The dwellings in question are all two-storey.

1.4 To the east - and to part of the southern boundary - the site adjoins public open space, 
which consists primarily of a Community Woodland.

1.5 The application site measures 1.73 hectares (or 4.27 acres).

1.6 A public right of way – namely ZR111 – runs to the east and south of the site, 
connecting The Meads development to the areas of housing on the southern side of the 
main railway line.

1.7 Members will note that the site – which is not allocated for development in the adopted 
Local Plan - currently provides space for informal recreation for dog walkers and others 
and is characterised by areas of rough grass, other vegetation and sporadic tree 
growth. The latter include a mature oak tree (Category B), located close to Vellum 
Drive. Eleven less substantial trees, including a number of oaks and a mix of other 
species, have recently been removed. There are no buildings on the site.

1.8 The site is broadly level with only slight changes in the topography, with a maximum 
height of approximately 21.5 metres Above Ordnance Datum (AOD).

2. PROPOSAL

Page 202



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

195

2.1 Full planning permission is sought for the erection of three-form entry (3FE) primary 
school specifically for children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and Speech, 
Language and Communication Needs (SCLN). Members will note that the school will 
have 83 staff members supporting a total enrolment of 168 pupils. The supporting 
Planning Statement notes that this will be the first such three FE school in Swale and 
East Kent

2.2 Members will note that the pre-application process for this development included a 
Design Review by Design South East (held on 24 January 2018). As set out in the 
Design and Access Statement, on Page 8, the Review considered the ‘building location 
and orientation’, ‘building form and internal layout’, ‘materials’, ‘landscaping, car parking 
and boundaries’, and ‘corridor layout’.   

2.3 The development proposal is explained in detail at paragraphs 3.1.1 to 3.1.15, on 
pages 12 and 13 of the Planning Statement, and Members will note the following:

2.3.1 The school will have “state-of-the-art facilities” designed to ensure that “pupils have the 
best learning experience possible”

2.3.2 The facilities will include SEN Sports Spaces and Outdoor Teaching Spaces

2.3.3 The building will be laid out to “create a flow through the site for pupils and staff, with a 
single-storey and separate winged design to allow for age-specific development and 
play.”

2.3.4 Every classroom will have “linked outside space” and Members will note that the 
landscape scheme will provide “an attractive and easy to maintain learning environment 
in the forest school ethos”.  

2.3.5 The building is orientated to “maximise natural daylighting while avoiding over-heating 
and glare”.

2.3.6 The positioning of the building on the site has been chosen with regard to the proximity 
to the housing to the south (Bristol Close), the need to retain the mature oak tree 
adjacent to Vellum Drive and in order to provide outdoor space on the eastern part of 
the site, “…providing a visual transition towards the undeveloped community woodland 
to the east.”

2.4 The building would have an internal floor area of 3,220 square metres. The maximum 
width of the school - towards the southern end of the building, where wings project from 
both sides of the central corridor (and adjoining rooms) – would be 90.8 metres (divided 
between two sections measuring 41.8 metres and 49 metres); the maximum north-
south dimension would be 83.8 metres.

2.5 Given the buildings irregular floor plan, Members are encouraged to view the ground 
floor plan to fully appreciate what is proposed, and to understand how the floor area 
would be divided between classrooms, the main hall (180 square metres) and dining 
areas (129 square metres) and other spaces such as corridors, office space and 
kitchens.

2.6    The building would be single storey and feature ridged roofs, extending to a maximum 
height of eight metres, towards the eastern end of the north elevation, where the main 
hall and entrance to the building would be located. Elsewhere, the ridge height would be 
seven metres and the eaves height 4.4 metres. On the southern elevation, the section 

Page 203



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

196

of the building located closest to the adjoining dwellings would extend to a ridge height 
of 6.2 metres, with an eaves height of 3.6 metres.

2.7 The walls would be finished in a combination of facing brick (main and contrasting 
feature brick areas), and cladding to part of the west elevation (to Vellum Drive). The 
roof would be clad in profile metal sheeting and feature sun pipes and wind catchers.

2.8 With regard to car parking, Members will note that provision would be made for 91 cars, 
including five disabled spaces. In addition, five motorcycle spaces will be provided. 
Members will also note that the layout of the scheme allows for the stacking of up to 32 
vehicles during drop-off and pick-up periods. The Planning Statement notes that “the 
drop-off and collection period will operate over prolonged periods, rather than a single 
arrival and departure time…”

2.9 With regard to cycle parking, the initial submission has been amended and the latest 
site layout shows the provision of cycle stands and a shelter to be located just to the 
east of the main building. Further details are awaited and I will update Members at the 
meeting.

2.10 Further to paragraph 1.7 above, Members will note that – as set out in Planning 
Statement at 5.10.2 – eleven trees – all Category C – are ultimately to be removed in 
order to accommodate the proposed development. In addition to those that have 
already been taken out, four street trees – all Himlayan Birch – will also be removed to 
accommodate the vehicular access and visibility splays.

2.11 With regard to bin storage, Members will note that the proposed layout shows a bin 
storage area in the north-west corner of the site. The applicant has indicated that a 
timber, hit-and-miss style structure would enclose the bin storage area. A condition is 
included below to control the details of this structure.

 
3. SUMMARY INFORMATION:

Existing Proposed Change (+/-)

Site Area (ha) 1.73 1.73 0
Maximum Ridge Height (m) NA 8.0 +8.0
Typical Eaves Height (m) NA 5.0 to 3.6 Up to +5.0
No. of Storeys NA 1 NA
Gross Internal Floor Area NA 3,220 +3,220
Parking Spaces NA 91 (including 

five disabled 
spaces)

+91

4. PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

4.1 The site is located within Flood Zone 1, meaning that the risk of flooding is considered to 
be low. Nevertheless, surface water drainage arrangements are an important material 
consideration, and are discussed in the ‘appraisal’ section below.

4.2 The site is not located in or adjoining a conservation area or close to a listed building(s) 
or other above-ground heritage assets. However, part of the site is constrained by 
archaeological potential. This has influenced the proposed siting of the building, and the 
issue is discussed below.

Page 204



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

197

5. POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): Members will note that the applicant’s 
Planning Statement includes an appraisal of the relevant NPPF paragraphs on Pages 16 
to 18.

5.2 However, since the submission of the planning application, the original NPPF has been 
replaced by a new, 2018 version. In light of this, the applicant has provided an addendum 
to the original Planning Statement, which sets out the paragraphs in the new NPPF that 
are considered to be relevant.  

5.3 I consider the following paragraphs are relevant to this proposal: 2 (NPPF is a material 
planning consideration), 8, 9, 11 (presumption in favour of sustainable development), 38 
(LPA approach to decision making), 94 (planning for schools), 102, 111 (approach to 
transport / highway issues), 127 (high quality buildings and places), 128,131 (design 
quality), 153 (green energy), 175 (biodiversity), and 176 (ecological designations). 

5.4 The following National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) is considered to be relevant: 
Air Quality; Noise; Design; Natural environment; Use of planning conditions; Travel 
plans, transport assessments and statements; Water supply, waste water and water 
quality;; Flood Risk and coastal change; Open Space, sports and recreational facilities, 
public rights of way and local green space.

5.5 Swale Borough Local Plan 2017: Bearing Fruits 2031 - ST1 (sustainable development), 
ST5 (Sittingbourne area strategy), CP2 (sustainable transport), CP1 (strong economy), 
CP2 (sustainable transport), CP4 (good design), CP5 (health and wellbeing), CP6 
(community facilities and services to meet local needs), DM6 (managing transport 
demand and impact), DM7 (vehicle parking), DM14 (general development criteria), DM17 
(open space, sports and recreation provision), DM19 (sustainable design and 
construction), DM21 (water, flooding and drainage), DM28 (biodiversity and geological 
conservation), DM29 (woodland trees and hedges),  and DM34 (Archaeological sites). 

5.6 As noted at Paragraph 1.7 above, the site is not allocated for development in Swale 
Borough Local Plan 2017.

5.7 None of the Council’s Supplementary Planning Documents are of particular relevance in 
this instance.

6. LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

6.1 The application has been advertised by site and press notice, and letters were sent to 
adjoining addresses and a number of those in the wider vicinity.

6.2   Eleven responses have been received, and these are summarised in the following 
paragraphs: 

6.2.1 Three representations in support have been received and the issues raised are 
summarised as follows:

 Specialist school places are ‘sorely’ needed, particularly in east Kent, where children 
often having to travel considerable distances across the area each day to school;

Page 205



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

198

 Children with extra needs should have educational opportunities, and can ‘thrive in the 
right environment’;

 Levels of unemployment are typically very high for autistic people, and better education 
could help address this;

 Noise mitigation measures for the classroom environment should be controlled through 
the planning process

6.2.2 Six representations raising objection - including five from local residents – have been 
received and are summarised as follows:

 Not consulted about application, or included in pre-application local engagement;
 Given failure to consult properly locally, not sure how application can proceed;
 Not clear whether traffic issues have been properly considered, particularly the access 

‘in and out of Vellum Drive via the roundabout’;
 Traffic may back-up on to the Staplehurst Road, which is ‘a 50mph road which is busy 

all day’ and may need to be upgraded to accommodate the extra traffic from the school;
 Parking on Vellum Drive will need to be managed, but this may not be possible as 

Vellum Drive has not been adopted, and parking in the area will be inadequate;
 The development would be harmful to the ‘hundreds of species of wildlife’ (‘including 

rabbits and insects’) that currently use the site;
 The application would result in the loss of a valued open space (one of very few locally) 

for walking, exercising and similar activities, and which is considered to be much safer 
than the adjacent Community Woodland;

 Noise from the school would detract from residential amenity;
 This proposal is a different proposition from the primary school originally envisaged – 

and granted outline permission under SW/96/0717 in 1998 – and which would have 
served a local educational need. As such, the argument for the current proposal is 
weakened;

 As the primary school originally envisaged was not provided, the site should instead be 
planted as a community woodland as envisaged under the 1998 planning approval;

 Local residents are dismayed that by enclosing the site with temporary fencing, the 
outcome of the planning application seems to have been pre-empted; 

 A local councillor may have pre-empted the outcome of the application by commenting 
favourably online; 

 If the development is approved, the area will become a ‘dismal, urbanised place’
 Neighbours would experience a loss of privacy, and loss of light / over-shadowing;
 Safety standards will be compromised locally by heavy traffic;
 Development will detract from visual amenity;
 Air quality will be harmed (partly because the green space to be developed potentially 

absorbs pollution currently);
 What is meant by supporting staff?

6.2.3 Two representations making observations, but neither in support or opposition, have 
been received, and the issue raised are summarised as follows:

 The principle of the proposal is supported, but concern is raised about the proposed 
siting of the building;

 The position of the building would be close to houses and could adversely impact on 
residential amenity;

 Siting the building further from the Bristol Close houses would be preferred

Page 206



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

199

 Loss of a number of trees would be regrettable and could be harmful to resident birds, 
including migratory ones;

 The trees also act as a ‘sound and visual barrier’ between houses and Staplehurst 
Road

 Existing car parking problems, would be exacerbated;
 The position of the access is also of concern;
 Given uncertainty about finished levels, it is difficult to assess potential harm to 

residential amenity; and
 Noise, smell and dust concerns are raised, in relation to the construction phase and the 

subsequent operation of the school.

7. CONSULTATIONS

7.1 KCC Highways and Transportation note that the submitted Transport Assessment (TA) 
reflects amendments to the trip generation following pre-application discussions. They 
also note that the roundabout junction with Staplehurst Link Road (B2006) will operate 
within capacity at 2028 once traffic associated with the proposed school is factored in. 
The supporting data showing that 67% pupils attending the school will be from outside 
Swale and therefore the majority of vehicles movements associated with bringing 
children to the school will be via the Strategic Road network (including the A249, just to 
the west of the application site). The view of Highways England “will therefore be 
paramount”.

7.2 Having considered the swept path analysis, it is considered that the proposed access 
and visibility splays – as shown on the Access Detail Plan (H-01 revision P1) – are 
acceptable. Members will note that as the vision splays will be contained within the 
adoptable highway the provision of sightlines will be controlled by the technical approval 
of the S38 or S278 agreement to construct the access, and as such a planning condition 
is not required.

7.3 With regard to car parking and provision for drop-off and pick-up of pupils, the space 
available (in the form of a loop road within the site) is considered to be adequate, noting 
that 91 formal parking spaces are shown and that the loop route “…can stack a single 
line of approximately 37 vehicles…”

7.4 In conclusion, no objection is raised provided Highways England are satisfied that there 
will be no unacceptable impact “…along the A249 corridor junctions…” and to the 
imposition of conditions (eight in total) as stated. The suggested conditions are set out 
below.

7.5 In their initial response, Highways England (HE) stated that despite pre-application 
engagement, further information was required in respect of trip generation and trip 
distribution resulting from the proposed development in order for them to provide final 
comments in respect of potential implications for the Strategic Road Network, which 
includes the A249 and the M2. The applicant then provided additional information 
consisting of a Technical Note, dealing with HE’s request and in particular the potential 
impacts on the A249 corridor and the M2, between Junctions 5 and 7.

7.6 Following a meeting on 17 October 2018, attended by both highways authorities, KCC 
Education, the Department for Education (DfE), the applicant’s design team and the 
planning case officer, further information was provided, giving a more refined 

Page 207



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

200

assessment (based on site-specific information provided by KCC and the DfE) of the 
likely vehicle movements arising from the development.

7.7 Highways England’s main area of concern had been potential impacts on traffic flows 
through Junction 5 of the M2, but in the light of the new information they concluded that 
“…the impact of development traffic on the operation of Junction 5 is significantly 
reduced compared to the previous assessment…the residual cumulative impact on 
Junction 5 could not be considered ‘severe’”. Noting that the scheme would generate 
“minimal additional traffic” on the Strategic Road network in Peak Hours”, they now offer 
no objection to the development.

7.8 UK Power Networks initially raised objection, noting the presence of an “electricity 
substation located within six metres of the proposed works…” Members will note that the 
site location plan has been amended to exclude the substation from the application site.

7.9 KCC Flood and Water Management raise no objection subject to further assessment 
being undertaken at the ‘detailed design stage’, and to the imposition of three planning 
conditions (relating to a detailed SUDS scheme, an ‘operation and maintenance manual’ 
and a verification report for the SUDS scheme). It is also recommended - as the site is 
located within ‘Ground Source Protection Zone 1’ [for ground water] - that the 
Environment Agency be consulted.

7.10 Environment Agency raise no objection subject to conditions in respect of piling design, 
potential contamination found during construction and the prevention of infiltration of 
surface water drainage into the ground.

7.11 Kent Police state that the application has been considered in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2012 (Section 7 Para 58 and Section 8 Para 
69) and the DCLG Planning Practice Guidance March 2014 (Design Section - Paras 10 
and 11) – Crime Prevention.

7.12 “Having reviewed the online plans and documentation, the applicant/agent has clearly 
demonstrated that they have considered crime prevention and have attempted to apply 
the seven attributes of CPTED. Therefore we await the decision on this application.”

7.13 Members will note that the development is not going to be built to Secured by Design 
(SBD) standard. However, the issue of designing out opportunities for crime and anti-
social behaviour has been considered in the development of the design, and Kent Police 
raise no objection.

7.14 Sport England provided a holding response, but no substantive comments were made 
about the development. 

7.15 Bobbing Parish Council “…has no objections and would be supportive…” though they 
make the observations, which I have summarised as follows:

 School events could be problematic given increased traffic on Staplehurst Road;

 Entrance on to Vellum Drive should be moved further from junction with 
Staplehurst Road;

 Suggest a reduced speed limit on Staplehurst Road; and 

Page 208



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

201

 Parking restrictions are needed on Vellum Drive in front of school site.

7.16 Southern Water raise no objection subject to conditions in respect of details of foul and 
surface water drainage. The consultation response also advises that it is the 
responsibility of the applicant to ensure that the site is properly surveyed to establish 
whether a public sewer(s) are present under the site.

7.17 County Archaeological Officer notes that:

“The site of the proposed school is known to contain sensitive heritage assets and has potential 
for further significant archaeological remains associated with prehistoric and later burial 
activity. Although the area has been subject to extensive brickearth extraction, recent formal 
investigations and a number of identified cropmarks indicate ring ditches, burials and 
associated features survive along a ridge of high ground extending through the site.”

7.18 The response also states: 

“Although it would have been preferable for the design and layout to be guided by the results of 
an archaeological evaluation, there has already been some consideration of the archaeology 
with the predicted location of the ring ditches situated underneath a tennis court, car parking 
and open space. The main buildings have been sited to hopefully avoid important archaeology 
but this is based on deskbased assessment. It is only through fieldwork that the precise 
location, extent and significance of archaeological remains can be clarified. This approach is 
welcome although I note this application is a detailed application and as such there might be 
limited opportunities to safeguard archaeology through design, especially in relation to 
drainage and landscaping works.”

7.19 The Archaeological Officer goes on to conclude:

“In summary, the proposed site of the SEN school contains significant heritage assets and has 
the potential for further important, complex and sensitive archaeology. The application is 
supported by a reasonable desk-based assessment but it would have been preferable for this 
detailed application to have been informed by the results of an archaeological field evaluation. I 
stress the value of undertaking the evaluation prior to determination of this application. 
However, if it is considered necessary to determine this application at this stage, I recommend 
the following conditions [see conditions (12) and (13) below] are placed on any forthcoming 
consent…”

7.20 The applicant’s archaeologists have subsequently undertaken an evaluation through 
trial trenching across much of the site.  In response, KCC Archaeology advise: “Some areas 
were not accessible but a reasonable area was covered.  The evaluation did reveal evidence of 
at least one of the ring ditches and some other multi-period activity.  However, on the basis of 
the results so far, there are no indications of extensive and significant archaeology which may 
be severely impacted by the school scheme.  There are archaeological remains which will need 
to be subject to appropriate archaeological mitigation but these can be agreed as part of 
finalising proposed groundworks for the school.

7.21 We have received an interim report on the evaluation works from CgMs.  We do need a 
full evaluation report and there will be a need to agree detailed archaeological mitigation 
measures but, based on current information, archaeology can be addressed through the 
conditions recommended.” Members will note conditions (12) and (13) below. 

Page 209



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

202

7.22 KCC SEN [Special Educational Need] Assessment and Placement have written in 
support of the application, “welcoming the proposed three-form entry primary school”.  
The letter also notes the significant number of children in Kent “…in receipt of an 
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP)…”, which equated in 2016 to 2.9% of the total 
school population, or 7043 children. Of those, 2958 had Autistic Spectrum Disorder. That 
number amounted to a 37% increase over the number for five years earlier. For Swale, 
the number of primary aged pupils (Years R to 6) with an EHCP was 317 as of January 
2016, and this is expected to increase by approximately 6% in the period to 2020. The 
letter concludes: “In the light of this significant evidence, I am pleased to confirm that the 
County Council expects to commission all the available places at Aspire…”

7.23 Climate Change Officer raises no objection, and notes:  “Although the size of this 
development would normally require a BREEAM standard of “very good” [in accordance 
with DM19 of the Local Plan 2017] it is unlikely this will be achieved due to ecological 
factors. The applicant has demonstrated that most of the categories within the rating will 
reach a “very good” standard but the overall rating will be a “good”.”

7.24 The Environmental Protection Team Leader raises no objection, having considered 
the potential for ground contamination and for adverse impacts on residential amenity 
during the construction period. A condition is not required in respect of the former, but 
with regard to the latter a ‘Code of Construction Practice’ condition is required and I have 
included this below.

7.25 KCC Ecology raise no objection, and Members will note that comments are given in 
respect of reptiles, breeding birds, bats (detailed lighting scheme), hedgehogs and 
badgers, the clearance of existing vegetation, site management and biodiversity 
enhancements.

7.26 In accordance with KCC’s advice, reptile mitigation has now been undertaken in the form 
of the translocation of a population of slow worms and common lizards to a receptor site 
at the Milton Creek Country Park. Accordingly, this issue is resolved and a planning 
condition is not required.

Bat and hedgehog / badger comments are dealt with by conditions, while I have recommended 
an informative to deal with breeding birds. In the light of amended details and further comments 
from KCC Ecology, a further condition is included below to deal with ecological management 
and biodiversity enhancements.

7.27 The Greenspaces Officer has responded as follows: “Confirm we are supportive of the 
application and that having considered the plans feel the landscaping is appropriate mix 
for the school while recognising the location adjacent to the Community Woodland.”

8. BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

8.1 Application Form and Certificate B, Planning Statement (August 2018), Design and 
Access Statement (March 2018), Ecological Assessment (February 2018), Reptile 
Mitigation Strategy (March 2018), Reptile Translocation Report (October 2018), 
Transport Assessment (April 2018), Interim Travel Plan (April 2018), Flood Risk 
Assessment (April 2018), Phase 1 Preliminary Risk Assessment (March 2018), 
Statement of Community Involvement (April 2018), Written Scheme of Investigation for 
an Archaeological Evaluation (December 2017), Archaeological Evaluation Summary 

Page 210



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

203

Report (July 2018), Below Ground Drainage (Initial Design Concept)(March 2018), 
Generic Risk Assessment (March 2018), Geotechnical Report on Ground Investigation 
(September 2018), Arboricultural Implications Report, Drainage Strategy, BREEAM Pre-
Assessment, Noise Survey, Contamination Survey, Sustainability Assessment, 
Construction Management Plan and Lighting Assessment. 

8.2 The submitted plans are as follows:

 Location plan (ASPSC BBA 00 XX DR L 1001 S3 P05);

 Proposed site plan (- 1003 S3 P10);

 Tree Removals and Protection (-1014 S3 P05); 

 Site Access Plan (-1015 S3 P05);

 Elevations (-A-3001-S8-P05);

 Ground floor plan (-A-2001-S8-P08);

 GA Sections (A-4001-S8-P02);

 Proposed site sections (-L-4002-S8-P01);

 Roof GA plan (-A-2001-S2-P02);

 Soft landscape plan 1 of 2 (-L-8021-S3-P06);

 Soft landscape plan 2 of 2 (-L-8022-S3 P04);

 Landscape materials (-L-9004-S8-P03);

 Hard Landscape Plan 1 of 2 (-L-8001-S3 P08);

 Hard Landscape Plan 2 of 2 (-L–8002-S3 P07);

 Underground Drainage Layout (-D-50000-P01); 

 Typical Drainage Details (Sheets 1 to 6)(drawing numbers –D-58001 P01 to –D-58006 
P01);

 External Lighting Plan (-DR-E-40900-P01);
 External Lighting Luminaire Lux Plot (-E-40900-P01); and 

 Various Views of the proposed development (eight in total).

9. APPRAISAL

Principle of Development

9.1 The application site is located within the built-up area boundary for Sittingbourne, and 
adjoins a mix of residential and commercial uses. Members will have noted above that 
the original planning permission for the wider Meads development (which included the 
application site) envisaged a primary school being developed on the site. As such, and 
noting that the site is not allocated for any specific type of development in the Local Plan 
2017, I consider that the principle of developing the proposed school on this site is 
acceptable.

Page 211



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

204

Visual Impact

9.2 The proposed layout and architectural treatment are explained in the Planning Statement 
and the Design and Access Statement and a summary of what is proposed is set out at 
paragraphs 2.1 to 2.11 above.

9.3 As noted at paragraph 2.2 above, before the planning application was submitted, the 
emerging proposals were subject to an independent Design Review by Design South 
East. The decision letter is appended. This exercise was followed by a meeting between 
officers, the design team and interested Members.

9.4 As explained in the Design and Access (D&A) Statement, the proposal now before 
Members has emerged from a comprehensive process that considered a number of 
different arrangements for the siting, configuration and elevational treatments of the 
building. The Design Review process was a key element of this work and it covered on 
Page 9 of the D&A Statement. While it is clear that the scheme has been improved 
following the Design Review, It should be acknowledged that the changes have not been 
fundamental and this is arguably because the site is heavily constrained by archaeology 
(which has limited the possibilities in terms of the siting of the building), noise and “visual  
distraction” from Staplehurst Road (the building has been kept away from this), the need 
to retain the mature oak tree, and the requirement to provide good levels of natural light 
and sun-light to teaching areas, while minimising the possibility of over-heating to 
classrooms during the Summer.

9.5 Aspects of the design, such as the corridors and the entrance from Vellum Drive,  have 
been refined since the Design Review in the light of feedback from the Panel and the 
comments of officers.

9.6 The architecture of the building will be simple and reasonably low-key, with traditional 
facing materials and native planting used to complement the setting.

9.7 It is considered that the scheme now before Members will provide a good environment for 
the pupil cohort, their teachers and other staff, as well as being a sympathetic addition to 
local environment, which contains an eclectic mix of architectural styles.

Residential Amenity

9.8 There are a number of concerns raised by residents of Bristol Close, which is located to 
the south of the application site. At the south-western corner of the building, the 
minimum separation distance would be seventeen metres, where the school would 
address Numbers 6 and 7, Bristol Close. The proposed layout includes space for the 
provision of intermittent tree planting and other landscaping to soften this relationship.

9.9 As set out at paragraph 2.6 above, this part of the school – all of which would be single 
storey - would have a ridge height of 6.2 and an eaves height of 3.6 metres.

9.10 There is considered to be no scope for any significant over-looking from the school, 
given that it would be single storey, and the separation and orientation (the school is to 
the north of the houses) is such that levels of light and sunlight enjoyed by the houses 
would not be unacceptably affected. The school would also not be unduly over-bearing. 

Page 212



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

205

9.11 The Environmental Protection Team Leader raises no objection (see paragraph 7.24 
above), and concludes that the relationship between the proposed school and the 
houses in Bristol Close would be acceptable.

9.12 No other dwellings would immediately adjoin the development site and the  houses on 
Archers Park would be located further from the school and their amenity would not be 
materially affected.

9.13 Conditions are recommended below in order to minimise the impacts of the 
construction process on residential amenity.

Highways

9.14 Given that approximately two-thirds of pupils attending the school will be from outside 
Swale, there was understandable focus on potential additional traffic movements along 
the strategic road network and, in particular, through key junctions including Junctions 5 
and 7 of the M2, but the applicant has now demonstrated that significant adverse 
impacts will not result. An important element of the development will be mitigation 
provided through a Green Travel Plan (secured by planning condition) to ensure that 
trips to and from the site by non-car modes are maximised.

9.15 As set out at paragraphs 7.1 to 7.7 above, detailed feedback on the scheme has been 
received from both KCC Highways and Transportation (who are responsible for the 
local road network) and Highways England (responsible for strategic roads, which 
include the A249 and the M2) and in the light of additional information, both 
organisations now raise no objection to the scheme.

Landscaping

9.16 The application is supported by detailed hard and soft landscaping drawings, which 
have been amended to enhance the proposals. These include the introduction of 53 
individually-planted native trees and hedge planting, together with the retention of the 
mature oak tree and an area of scrub in the north-east corner of the site. Various areas 
of wildflower meadow are proposed. 

9.17 As well as enhancing biodiversity at the site and giving general amenity benefits, the 
planting will break-up the areas of car parking, soften the visual appearance of the 
boundary security fence and provide some relief to any potential impact on the 
residential amenity of the dwellings just to the south of the site.

9.18 As well as the above-mentioned security fencing, Members will note the other fencing 
proposed within the site and the approach to hard surfacing (notably for the car parking 
and turning areas), where a mixture of tarmac and a gravel system are used. This 
approach will benefit visual amenity and surface water drainage.

9.19 The hard and soft landscaping details are considered to be acceptable, and Members 
will note the relevant conditions below. 

Ecology

9.20 Members will note the comments made by KCC Ecology, which are summarised at 
paragraphs 7.25 and 7.26 above, and that they raise no objection given that reptiles 
have now been translocated to a new receptor site and the mature oak tree located 

Page 213



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

206

close to the Vellum Drive frontage is to be retained. This is beneficial in both ecological 
and visual respects, and will form part of a comprehensive scheme of native tree 
planting proposed as part of this development.

9.21   Conditions are included below to mitigate potential impacts on protected species and to 
ensure that all relevant opportunities to enhance biodiversity are incorporated in the 
proposed development.

9.22 A lighting condition to minimise impacts on bats is also set out below. An initial plan has 
been submitted in an attempt to satisfy the requirements of the condition, but it is not 
acceptable to KCC Ecology. I have raised this with the agent and a further plan may 
well be submitted before the Committee meeting. I will update Members.

9.23 The application site is located within the six-kilometre buffer for the Special Protection 
Area, and this issue is mentioned in the Ecological Assessment (Ecology Solutions, 
February 208) submitted alongside the application. I note that, at paragraph 7.6 of that, 
it is concluded that “…given the scale of the proposals and their isolated nature (being 
buffered from the SSSIs [and SPAs] by developed residential land), it is not considered 
likely that any direct or indirect effects on the interest features of the SSSIs would 
occur.” Noting also that the development wont result in new residents in the locality and 
that the children will generally not be leaving the site during the school day, I agree with 
this conclusion and consider it reasonable to conclude that there will not be material 
impacts on the designated sites, namely the Swale and Medway Marshes SPAs, 
Ramsar sites and SSSs.

Archaeology

9.24 The original planning submission included an Archaeological Desk Based Assessment, 
which identified ‘a high potential for prehistoric remains…moderate to high potential for 
the remains of Anglo-Saxon burials…and low to moderate potential for Roman 
remains.’ The applicant’s archaeological consultants then produced a Written Scheme 
of Investigation and the development (particularly the siting of the building, which has 
been selected to avoid the main area of archaeological interest) has then been taken 
forward in a way that is designed to minimise potential impact on archaeology. Since 
the submission of the application, archaeological work has been on-going, and a further 
report (entitled Archaeological Evaluation Summary Report) has subsequently been 
provided.    

9.25 Members will note the summary of the comments from KCC Archaeology at paragraphs 
7.17 and 7.21 and that they raise no objection subject to conditions, which are included 
below (see conditions 12 and 13).   

Drainage

9.26 KCC Flood and Water Management (see paragraph 7.9 above) and the Environment 
Agency (see Paragraphs 7.10 above) raise no objection to the proposed development, 
subject to the imposition of appropriate planning conditions(conditions (5), (6) and (7) 
below) and as such I consider that the development is acceptable from a surface water 
drainage perspective.

9.27 With regard to foul drainage, Southern Water raise no objection (see paragraph 7.16 
above) and that the condition recommended by them in respect of foul drainage is set 
out below – see number (11).

Sustainable Design and Construction

Page 214



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

207

9.28 Page 29 of the Design and Access Statement explains the approach to sustainable 
design and construction. The Climate Change Officer’s comments at paragraph 7.23 
above should also be noted together with Policy DM19 of the Local Plan.

9.29 The development will incorporate a reasonable package of sustainable design and 
construction measures, and although a planning condition would typically be imposed to 
secure either a ‘very good’ or ‘good’ rating under the BREEAM accreditation system for 
measuring the sustainable design and construction standard of a new commercial 
building, in this case the applicant has explained why this is not appropriate. Members 
will note the following from the planning agent:

“As Aspire is an SEN school, we can’t apply a standard BREEAM assessment but 
would need to get BRE to write a bespoke assessment, which was estimated at an 
additional £3k.  This was discussed in pre-apps and agreed that this was not a good 
use of project funds… Attached is the pre-assessment with commentary for 
information.  You will see that we hit the V.Good level, (55%+) but we can’t get this 
officially as the ecology credit is mandatory for V.Good and displacing that much wildlife 
doesn’t work in our favour. I hope this gives sufficient comfort that the design that will be 
approved is sustainable in line with BREEAM principles to avoid the need for a 
condition as discussed at pre-application stage, but we’d be happy to discuss further.”

9.30 In the light of this explanation, and noting that the development has been designed with      
the need to mitigate impacts on the environment in mind, I recommend that Members 
approve the development without the imposition of a BREEAM or other sustainable 
design and construction condition.

10. CONCLUSION

10.1 The educational facilities that are proposed would not only be of significant benefit to 
children with the relevant special educational needs living in Swale, but would also 
provide capacity to help meet the corresponding need arising in other parts of East 
Kent. 

10.2 The initial pre-application submission has been developed through the Design Review 
process and with the benefit of officer input before the submission of the planning 
application. Since then, some further refinement of the scheme has taken place.

10.3 Having considered the scheme in the light of the technical consultation responses set 
out in Section 7 above and against the sub-headings used in the ‘appraisal’ in Section 
9, I conclude that the development is acceptable and in accordance with the relevant 
elements of the new NPPF and the applicable policies in the Local Plan, subject to the 
imposition of conditions as set out below. 

10.4 I therefore consider that planning permission should be granted.

11. RECOMMENDATION 

GRANT Subject to the following conditions:

CONDITIONS to include:

Page 215



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

208

(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

(2) The development hereby approved shall be completed strictly in accordance with 
proposed site levels as shown on drawing ‘Proposed Site Sections (-L-4002-S8-P01). 

Reason: In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having regard to the 
nature of the site levels and noting the relationship with adjacent dwellings.

(3) Prior to the commencement of the development a Code of Construction Practice shall 
be submitted to and approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

The code shall include:
 An indicative programme for carrying out the works
 Measures to minimise the production of dust on the site(s)
 Measures to minimise the noise (including vibration) generated by the 

construction process to include the careful selection of plant and machinery 
and use of noise mitigation barrier(s)

 Maximum noise levels expected 1 metre from the affected façade of any 
residential unit adjacent to the site(s)

 Design and provision of site hoardings
 Management of traffic visiting the site(s) including temporary parking or holding 

areas
Provision of off road parking for all site operatives and loading,
off-loading or turning on the site for such vehicles;

 Measures to prevent the transfer of mud and extraneous material onto the 
public highway

 Measures to manage the production of waste and to maximise the re-use of 
materials

 Measures to minimise the potential for pollution of groundwater and surface 
water

 The location and design of site office(s) and storage compounds
 The location of temporary vehicle access points to the site(s) during the 

construction works
 The arrangements for public consultation and liaison during the construction 

works
 Measures to ensure that the site is surveyed immediately before construction 

commences to ensure that neither badgers nor hedgehogs are present.

The construction of the development shall then be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Code of Construction Practice and BS5228 Noise Vibration and Control on 
Construction and Open Sites and the Control of dust from construction sites (BRE DTi 
Feb 2003) unless previously agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of minimising disturbance to residents living in the vicinity of the 
site and disturbance to biodiversity.

(4) No external lighting shall be constructed at the site other than in accordance with a 
scheme that shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be designed to minimise the potential for impacts on bats. 

Reason: In order to prevent potential harm to the local bat population. 

Page 216



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

209

(5) Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the Local 
Planning Authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the surface 
water generated by this development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up to and 
including the climate change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be accommodated 
and disposed of within the curtilage of the site without increase to flood risk on or off-
site. The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate that silt and pollutants resulting from 
the site use and construction can be adequately managed to ensure there is no 
pollution risk to receiving waters.

Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the 
disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the 
risk of on/off site flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are required 
prior to the
commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic part of the proposal, the 
approval of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying out of the rest of the 
development.

(6) No building hereby permitted in any phase shall be occupied until an operation and 
maintenance manual for the proposed sustainable drainage scheme is submitted to 
(and approved in writing) by the Local Planning Authority. The manual at a minimum 
shall include the following details:

• A description of the drainage system and it's key components;
• A general arrangement plan with the location of drainage measures and critical

features clearly marked;
• An approximate timetable for the implementation of the drainage system;
• Details of the future maintenance requirements of each drainage or SuDS

component, and the frequency of such inspections and maintenance activities;
• Details of who will undertake inspections and maintenance activities, including

the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage system throughout 
its lifetime.

Reason: To ensure that any measures to mitigate flood risk and protect water quality 
on/off the site are fully implemented and maintained (both during and after 
construction), as per the requirements of Paragraph 165 of the NPPF and its associated 
Non-Statutory Technical Standards.

(7) The building hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a Verification Report 
pertaining to the surface water drainage system, carried out by a suitably qualified 
professional, has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority which demonstrates 
the suitable operation of the drainage system such that flood risk is appropriately 
managed, as approved by the Lead Local Flood Authority. The Report shall contain 
information and evidence (including photographs) of earthworks; details and locations 
of inlets, outlets and control structures; extent of planting; details of materials utilised in 
construction including subsoil, topsoil, aggregate and membrane liners; full as built 
drawings; and topographical survey of ‘as constructed’ features.

Reason: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed is compliant 
with the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 217



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

210

(8) Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted 
other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority, which may 
be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: The Site is underlain by a secondary and principle aquifer and in a Source 
Protection Zone (SPZ) 1. Construction activities could cause turbidity in public supply. 

(9) If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 
the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this 
contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with 
paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

(10)No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reasons: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
caused by mobilised contaminants in line with paragraph 109 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

(11)No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details of 
the proposed means of foul water sewerage disposal have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to ensure that adequate provision is made for the disposal of foul and 
water from the development.

(12)No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, 
has secured the implementation of 

i) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority;  

ii) following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure 
preservation in situ of important archaeological remains and/or further 
archaeological investigation and recording in accordance with a specification 
and timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority; and

iii) a scheme for archaeological interpretation – in the form of a display board or 
similar – together with a programme for its provision.

Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and 
recorded and that due regard is had to the preservation in situ of important 
archaeological remains. 

Page 218



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

211

(13)No development shall take place until fencing has been erected - in a manner to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority, about the Bronze Age barrows identified as 
cropmarks - and no works shall take place within the area inside that fencing without the 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure that important archaeological remains are not adversely affected by 
construction works.

(14)The scheme of tree planting and hard and soft landscaping shown on Soft Landscape 
Plans 1 of 2 (- L – 8021 S3 P06), 2 of 2 (- L – 8022 S3 P04), and Hard Landscape Plans 
1 of 2 (- L 8001 S3 P08) and 2 of 2 (- L – 8002 S3 P07) shall be carried out within 12 
months of the completion of the development.  Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, 
being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five years of planting 
shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as may be agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

(15)The Category B tree (Turkey Oak) shown to be retained on the ‘Tree Removals and 
Protection Plan’ (revision P05) shall be retained throughout the lifetime of the 
development, and during the construction phase shall be protected in accordance with 
the details appended to the Arboricultural Implications Report (February 2018).

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and protecting biodiversity.

(16)No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details of 
tree protection measures for the proposed trees have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The tree planting shall then be undertaken in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and encouraging biodiversity.

(17)No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details of 
the proposed arrangements for the initial establishment and on-going management (for 
a minimum period of five years following implementation) for the Wildlife Meadow areas 
as shown on drawings Soft Landscape Plans 1 of 2 (- L – 8021 S3 P06), 2 of 2 (- L – 
8022 S3 P04) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The areas shall then be maintained in accordance with the agreed details.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and encouraging biodiversity.

(18)Within 6 months of construction commencing an ecological enhancement and 
management plan must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written 
approval. It must include the following information: 
• Site plan clearly showing the management areas 
• Details of what management is required 
• Timings of the management 
• Frequency of the management 
• Details of ecological enhancements to be incorporated in to the site (to include log 

piles and at least two hedgehog houses and two bat boxes) 
• Details of management plan reviews 

The works must be implemented as detailed within the approved plan, and retained as 
approved in perpetuity.

Page 219



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

212

Reason: In the interests of encouraging biodiversity. 

(19)The area shown on the submitted layout (namely - 1003 S3 P10) as vehicle parking and 
turning space shall be provided and surfaced in accordance with the submitted details 
before the use is commenced or the premises occupied, and shall be retained for the 
use of the occupiers of, and visitors to, the premises, and no permanent development, 
whether or not permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), shall be 
carried out on that area of land so shown or in such a position as to preclude vehicular 
access to this reserved parking space.

Reason: Development without provision of adequate accommodation for the parking 
and turning of vehicles is likely to lead to parking inconvenient to other road users and 
be detrimental to highway safety and amenity.

(20)Prior to the development being brought into use, an updated School Travel Plan shall be 
prepared and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Travel Plan shall then be implemented in accordance with the approved framework and 
shall remain in force for the duration of the approved use. There shall be an annual 
review of the Travel Plan (for a minimum of 5 years) from the date of approval of the 
plan to monitor progress in meeting the targets for reducing car journeys.

Reason: To ensure the development accords with the measures set out in the
travel plan, and in the interests of sustainable development and promoting public
transport, walking and cycle visits.

(21)The access details shown on the approved plans (namely - 1003 S3 P10 and - 1015 S3 
P05) shall be completed to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
first occupation of the building hereby approved, and shall thereafter be maintained as 
such unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Auithority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

(22)The vehicular entrance gates erected shall be of a sliding type running parallel to the 
site frontage as shown on the Proposed Site Plan (namely –L-1003-S3-P10) hereby 
approved.

Reasons: In the interests of highway safety and convenience.

(23)No construction work in connection with the development shall take place on any 
Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between the following times:

Monday to Friday 0730 – 1900 hours, Saturdays 0730 – 1300 hours unless in 
association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

(24)No impact pile driving in connection with the construction of the development shall take 
place on the site on any Saturday, Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor any other day except 
between the following times:-

Monday to Friday 0900-1700hours unless in association with an emergency or with the 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Page 220



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

213

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

(25)The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:

 Location plan (ASPSC BBA 00 XX DR L 1001 S3 P05);
 Proposed site plan (- 1003 S3 P10);
 Tree Removals and Protection (-1014 S3 P05); 
 Site Access Plan (-1015 S3 P05);
 Elevations (-A-3001-S8-P05);
 Ground floor plan (-A-2001-S8-P08);
 GA Sections (A-4001-S8-P02);
 Proposed site sections (-L-4002-S8-P01);
 Roof GA plan (-A-2001-S2-P02);
 Soft landscape plan 1 of 2 (-L-8021-S3-P06);
 Soft landscape plan 2 of 2 (-L-8022-S3 P04);
 Landscape materials (-L-9004-S8-P03);
 Hard Landscape Plan 1 of 2 (-L-8001-S3 P08);
 Hard Landscape Plan 2 of 2 (-L–8002-S3 P07);
 Underground Drainage Layout (-D-50000-P01); and
 Typical Drainage Details (Sheets 1 to 6)(drawing numbers –D-58001 P01 to –D-

58006 P01).

Reason: In the interests of proper planning.

(26)Before the building hereby approved is first used, details of the bin storage enclosure 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved structure shall then be provided within 28 days and then retained in 
perpetuity.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

(27)Further to the information shown on the proposed Site Plan (drawing number –L-1003 
S3 P10), the school shall not be first used until the cycle stands and shelter have been 
provided in accordance with full details that shall first have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The cycle stands and shelter shall 
then be retained as such in perpetuity.

Reason: In the interests of making appropriate provision for sustainable forms of 
transport.

(28)The use of the premises hereby permitted shall be restricted to the hours of 7 am to 9.30  
pm on weekdays, 7 am to 12 noon on Saturdays, and shall not take place at any time 
on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area.

(29)The development hereby approved shall be used for the purpose of a primary school 
and for no other purpose, including any other purposes in Class D1 (non residential 
institutions) of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as amended).

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area.

Page 221



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

214

(30)No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details in 
the form of samples of external finishing materials (brick, cladding panels and roof 
material) to be used in the construction of the development hereby approved have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and works shall 
be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

(31)No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details in 
the form of British Standards or commercial specifications of the proposed colouring of 
the cladding panels have been approved by the Local Planning Authority, and works 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

(32)No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details in 
the form of colour brochures and technical specifications for powder-coated aluminium 
doors and windows, and of the rainwater goods, have been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be constructed 
in accordance with the agreed details.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

Appendix – Design Review letter (dated 10 February 2018)

INFORMATIVES

(1) The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as 
amended (section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild 
bird while that nest is in use or being built. Planning consent for a development does not 
provide a defence against prosecution under this act. Trees and scrub are likely to 
contain nesting birds between 1st March and 31st August inclusive. Trees and scrub 
are present on the application site and are to be assumed to contain nesting birds 
between the above dates, unless a recent survey has been undertaken by a competent 
ecologist to assess the nesting bird activity on site during this period and has shown it is 
absolutely certain that nesting birds are not present.

(2) With regard to designing out opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour and 
pursuant to Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the applicant is encouraged 
to liaise with Kent Police if further advice on these issues is required.

(3) A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order to 
service this development, please contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, 
Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or 
www.southernwater.co.uk. Please read our New Connections Services Charging 
Arrangements documents which has now been published and is available to read on 
our website via the following link https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructurecharges

(4) It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure , before the development
hereby approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents 
where required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly 

Page 222



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

215

established in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway 
Authority. Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens 
that do not look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called ‘
highway land’. Some of this land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst 
some are owned by third party owners. Irrespective of the ownership, this land may 
have ‘highway rights’ over the topsoil.

(5) Information about how to clarify the highway boundary can be found at
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-
boundary-enquiries

The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in 
every aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is 
therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to 
progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement on site.

The Council’s approach to the application

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 2018 
the Council  takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused on 
solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a pre-
application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had the 
opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 223

https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries


Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

216

Page 224



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

APPENDIX 1

217
Page 225



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

APPENDIX 1

218
Page 226



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

APPENDIX 1

219
Page 227



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

APPENDIX 1

220
Page 228



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

APPENDIX 1

221
Page 229



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

APPENDIX 1

222
Page 230



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.5

APPENDIX 1

223
Page 231



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

224

2.6  REFERENCE NO - 17/506603/REM
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Approval of reserved matters relating to scale, layout, appearance and landscaping for the 
erection of 310 dwellings, pursuant to conditions 1, 4, 10 and 24 of outline planning permission 
15/504264/OUT. Approval sought for residential part of outline scheme only.

ADDRESS Land At Perry Court London Road Faversham Kent ME13 8YA  

RECOMMENDATION - That the reserved matters are APPROVED.

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION/REASONS FOR REFUSAL
The reserved matters would accord with the terms of the outline planning permission and the 
scale, layout, appearance and landscaping of the residential scheme is acceptable and in 
accordance with the Local Plan.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
The application is contrary to views expressed by Ospringe Parish Council.

WARD Watling PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Ospringe

APPLICANT BDW Kent
AGENT 

DECISION DUE DATE
26/04/18

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
27/11/18

Planning History 

18/503057/FULL 
Erection of a 3 storey, 66 bed care home for older people with associated access, car park 
and landscaping.
Pending Consideration

18/502735/FULL 
Erection of a new supermarket (Use Class A1) and a hotel (Use Class C1) along with 
associated accesses, car and cycling parking, lighting, drainage, hard and soft landscaping 
and associated infrastructure.
Pending Consideration

17/506598/SUB 
Submission of Details to Discharge Condition 23 Parts a-k (Development Brief) Subject to 
15/504264/OUT
Approved Decision Date: 27.12.18

15/504264/OUT 
Outline application (with all matters reserved other than access into the site) for a mixed use 
development comprising: up to 310 dwellings; 11,875sqm of B1a floorspace; 3,800sqm of 
B1b floorspace; 2,850sqm of B1c floorspace; a hotel (use class C1)(up to 3,250sqm) of up to 
100 bedrooms including an ancillary restaurant; a care home (use class C2)(up to of 
3,800sqm) of up to 60 rooms including all associated ancillary floorspace; a local 
convenience store (use class A1) of 200sqm; 3 gypsy pitches: internal accesses; associated 
landscaping and open space; areas of play; a noise attenuation bund north of the M2; 
vehicular and pedestrian accesses from Ashford Road and Brogdale Road; and all other 
associated infrastructure.
Approved Decision Date: 27.03.2017

SW/14/0015 

Page 233



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

225

Outline application (with some matters reserved other than access into the site) for a mixed 
use development comprising: up to 315 dwellings; 11,875sqm of B1a (offices) floorspace; 
3,800sqm of B1b (research and development) floorspace; 2,850sqm of B1c (Light industrial) 
floorspace; a hotel (use class C1)(up to 3,250sqm) of up to 100 bedrooms including an 
ancillary restaurant; a care home (use class C2)(up to of 3,800sqm) of up to 60 rooms 
including all associated ancillary floorspace; a local convenience store (use class A1) of 
200sqm; internal accesses; associated landscaping and open space; areas of play; a noise 
attenuation bund north of the M2; vehicular and pedestrian accesses from Ashford Road and 
Brogdale Road; and all other associated infrastructure.
Refused Decision Date: 09.06.2014

1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 The application site is comprised of former agricultural fields which are defined by 
hedgerows which run in a north to south direction. The total area of the site is 33.1 hectares in 
size. There are no buildings located on the site and a public footpath crosses the site from 
Brogdale Road to Perry Court, i.e. west to north. Preparatory and access works in connection 
with the outline permission (new roundabout to Ashford Road, archaeological works) have 
been undertaken on the site.

1.02 To the north of the application site lies The Abbey School, Perry Court Farm and 
varying residential properties. To the east, lies Ashford Road and residential dwellings which 
form a linear pattern along this road from north to south. The southern boundary of the site is 
defined by the M2 motorway. The site is bound to the west by Brogdale Road and the two 
residential dwellings, known as ‘Ash Tree Cottages’.

1.03 A Grade II listed Oasthouse, which forms part of Perry Court Farm, is located directly 
north-west of the Site and was built in 1904. Additionally, Orchard Cottages, which are also 
Grade II listed, are located beyond Ashford Road to the north-east, and a Grade II listed 
Gazebo located adjacent to the A2 and Ashford Road junction, are within fairly close 
proximity of the application site. It is also noted that a listed windmill is located to the south of 
the M2.

1.04 The topography of the site falls away from two local highpoints in the south-east and the 
south-west corners of the site, to a shallow vegetated valley running from the M2 
motorway to the centre of the site. The lowest point within the site lies in the north-west 
corner. The surrounding landform is gently sloping and in general falls slowly through 
Faversham where it meets and drains into Faversham Creek. 

1.05 The boundaries of the site on Ashford Road and Brogdale Road are defined by 
hedgerows and landscaping of varying quality, with some gaps. Boundary landscaping 
on the Ashford Road frontage has been removed to facilitate the roundabout and 
highways works on this road. The land levels of the site are raised above Ashford Road 
by up to 2 metres. Likewise the site levels are raised above Brogdale Road, but not to 
the same extent as Ashford Road.

1.06 The site is allocated in the adopted local plan for a mixed use development and benefits 
from outline planning permission for such development granted under 15/504264 (see 
planning history). The outline permission has fixed the main access points into and out 
of the site from Ashford Road (via a new roundabout as now built) and Brogdale Road 
(via a T junction) respectively. 

Page 234



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

226

1.07 An area of land lying to the south of the site, beyond the M2, is defined as an Area of 
High Landscape Value. The Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty is located 
less than half a mile to the south-west of the application site – beyond the M2.

2. PROPOSAL

2.01 This application seeks reserved matters approval for the layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping of the residential element of the outline permission as required to be 
submitted under condition 1 of 15/504264/OUT. Details in relation to conditions 4 (the 
extent of residential development within the site), 10 (car parking provision) and 24 
(levels and cross sections) are also required as part of the reserved matters and have 
been submitted.  The area of the site under the control of the applicant extends to 
approximately 20.70 hectares, including open space. A total of 310 dwellings are 
proposed, occupying a land area (excluding the open space) of approximately 9.1 
Hectares.

2.02 The residential development would be contained within three main areas, separated 
from one another by areas of open space. One residential area would be sited to the 
north east of the site, adjacent to The Abbey School and Ashford Road. A second area 
would be located in a more central position on the site, and the third area would be to 
the north west and adjacent to Brogdale Road and the Oast House, Perry Court Farm, 
which is Grade II listed.

2.03 The residential areas generally correspond with the illustrative masterplan submitted at 
outline stage. However a parcel of land to the east of the site, shown to be part of the 
residential area at outline stage, is not included as part of this application. Partly as a 
result of this, some of the residential development has encroached slightly into the open 
space as shown on the illustrative masterplan at outline stage. This also includes a 
minor incursion into land beyond the settlement boundary to the south of Ash Tree 
Cottages. This boundary is not physically defined. Four dwellings would partly straddle 
this settlement line by no more than 5 metres, together with a private drive and parking 
area serving these units. 

2.04 The drawings submitted demonstrate that despite this encroachment, the residential 
development would still deliver 11.3 Hectares of open space, against a site-wide 
requirement of 15 Hectares (as secured under the S106 Agreement with the outline 
application). The remaining 3.7 Hectares of open space would be delivered on those 
parts of the site that are not subject to this application. 

2.05 The layout of the development incorporates a primary road that runs through the site 
from Ashford Road to Brogdale Road, The road has been intentionally designed to 
avoid being a straight through-road – to deter rat-running through the site. The primary 
road largely contains the denser built form within the site, with a more loose-knit layout 
on the edges of the development. A number of secondary roads and rural lanes lead off 
this primary road.

2.06 The buildings proposed would all be two storeys, and would generally be between 8 
and 9 m in height. A number of “focal” buildings are proposed within the development at 
key locations. These are identified in a variety of ways, either through greater detailing, 
enhanced use of materials, or taller eaves and ridge heights (or a combination of 
these). The tallest focal building on site would be 9.5 metres in height.

2.07 The design approach for the dwellings follows a relatively traditional style of 
conventional brick / rendered / tile hung elevations under hipped or gabled roofs. The 

Page 235



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

227

scheme utilises a series of different “house types” and incorporates a variety of 
architectural features and detailing to add interest / variety. This includes use of gable 
and gablet features, contrasting brick banding, stone cills and quoins, projecting bay 
windows, contrasting brink plinths, porches and canopies.

2.08 The housing mix as proposed (following amendments) would provide 10 x 1 bed flats,  
46 x 2 bed flats and dwellings, 132 x 3 bed dwellings and 122 x 4 bed dwellings.

2.09 30% of the dwellings will be provided as affordable housing, resulting in 93 affordable 
dwellings in total. The affordable housing units would be split to provide 70% as 
affordable rented units and 30% as shared ownership units. 6 units would be provided 
as wheelchair adaptable homes.  The affordable housing mix would be 10 x 1 bed 
units, 32 x 2 bed dwellings, 33 x 3 bed dwellings and 18 x 4 bed dwellings.

2.10 This application has been submitted to seek reserved matters approval for the entire 
residential development within the site. The precise phasing arrangements for this 
development are yet to be submitted – and will be subject to a separate requirement for 
approval under the terms of the S106 agreement. 

2.11 For the avoidance of doubt, the landscaping sought for approval under this reserved 
matters application relates to those areas within and immediately surrounding the 
proposed residential development. The wider strategic landscaping of the site is subject 
to a separate planning condition (32) of the outline permission and is also subject to 
control under the S106 agreement.

3. PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

3.01 The site is allocated for a mixed use development in the Local Plan.
The site is located within the built confines of Faversham.
The oast building to the north is Grade II listed.
The land to the south of the M2 motorway is within an Area of High Landscape Value
Public Right of Way ZF18 crosses through the site
High Pressure and Medium Pressure gas pipelines cross the site

4. POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

4.01 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - Since the application was made, 
the Government has published a revised version of the NPPF (on 24 July 2018). It must 
be taken into account in preparing the development plan, and is a material 
consideration in planning decisions. The Framework should be read as a whole 
(including its footnotes and annexes). The most relevant sections to this application are 
as follows – 

4.02 Paragraphs 8 (the three overarching objectives of sustainable development), 10&11 
(the presumption in favour of sustainable development), 12 (the importance of the 
development plan in decision making), 38 (the approach to decision making in a 
positive and creative way), 54-56 (use of planning conditions and Planning 
Obligations), 59 (supporting the Government’s objective of significantly boosting 
housing), 61 (housing mix), 62/64 (affordable housing), 91 (promoting healthy / safe 
communities), 92 (providing social / recreational facilities), 96 (access to high quality 
open space), 98 (protection / enhancement of public rights of way, 110 (priority to 
pedestrians, cyclists and access to public transport within developments), 117 (making 
effective use of land), 122 (achieving appropriate densities), 124-130 (achieving well 
designed places), Chapter 16 (conserving / enhancing the historic environment).

Page 236



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

228

4.03 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) -
Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment
Design
Health and Wellbeing
Open space, sports and recreation facilities
Use of Planning Conditions

4.04 Development Plan: Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017 - 
Policies ST1 (delivering sustainable development in Swale), ST2 (development targets 
for jobs and homes), ST3 (Swale settlement strategy), ST4 (meeting local plan targets), 
ST7 (the Faversham area strategy), CP2 (promoting sustainable transport), CP3 
(delivering a wide choice of quality homes), CP4 (good design), CP5 (health and 
wellbeing), CP6 community facilities to meet local needs), CP7 (providing for green 
infrastructure), CP8 (conserving / enhancing the historic environment), MU7 (land at 
Perry Court, Faversham, DM6 (managing transport demand and impact), DM7 (vehicle 
parking), DM8 (affordable housing), DM14 (general development criteria), DM17 (open 
space, sports and recreation provision), DM19 (sustainable design and construction), 
DM28 (biodiversity and geological conservation), DM29 (woodlands, trees and 
hedges), DM32 (development involving listed buildings).

4.05 The main relevant local plan policy is MU7, which is specific to the site and set out in full 
below – 

Planning permission will be granted for a mixed use development at Perry Court Farm, 
Faversham, as shown on the Proposals Map, to include a minimum of 370 dwellings 
(inc. care home), together with 18,525 sq. m of B1a, B1b, B1c class employment uses 
(with a further 2 ha reserved for future employment use), supporting uses and 
landscaping and open space. Development proposals will:
1. Be in accordance with Policy CP 4 and in particular demonstrate and provide a 
strong landscape framework (shown by a submitted Landscape Strategy and 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan, informed by a landscape and visual 
impact assessment) to include:
a. substantial width of woodland planting along the site boundary with the M2, which 
shall additionally safeguard the setting of the Kent Downs AONB;
b. additional substantial areas of woodland planting and green space e.g. community 
orchards and allotments, within the south western quarter of the site near Brogdale 
Road;
c. retained, managed and enhanced hedgerows and shelterbelts;
d. footpath and cycle path routes within green corridors linked to the adjacent network; 
and
e. planting selected to reinforce the local landscape character area.
2. Be of high quality design, with building siting, form, height and materials related to 
the existing built form and topography of the site and the surrounding context and to 
include consideration of:
a. the setting of landscape and heritage assets;
b. the rural approaches to the town; and
c. building heights demonstrating they have been influenced by, and show respect for, 
views from the south.
3. Provide for a mix of housing in accordance with Policy CP 3, including provision for 
affordable housing in accordance with Policy DM 8;
4. Through both on and off site measures, ensure that any significant adverse impacts 
on European sites through recreational pressure is mitigated in accordance with 
Policies CP 7 and DM 28, including a financial contribution towards the Strategic 
Access Management and Monitoring Strategy;

Page 237



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

229

5. Submit a detailed Heritage Assessment to consider the significance of the impact of 
development at the local level on the heritage setting of the town and other heritage 
assets in accordance with policies DM 32-DM 33. An archaeological assessment 
should consider the importance of the site and, if necessary propose mitigation in 
accordance with DM 34;
6. Provide the majority of B1 class employment floorspace as B1a (offices). 
Employment uses other than B1 will not be permitted unless it is clearly shown that B1 
uses would not be achievable. Proposals for alternative employment uses must 
demonstrate they would not diminish the quality of the development, whilst proposals 
for main town centre uses will need to be the subject of a impact assessment;
7. Undertake an Air Quality Assessment to ensure that the Ospringe AQMA is not 
compromised, with, if necessary, the use of innovative mitigation measures;
8. Submit a Noise Assessment and implement any mitigation arising;
9. Be supported by a Transport Assessment to determine the need and timing for any 
improvements to the transport network and the phasing of development. Development 
shall undertake such mitigation as necessary which shall include:
a. interim improvements at Junction 7 of the M2;
b. improvements to the junctions of the A2/A251 and to the A2/Brogdale Road;
c. pedestrian and cycling routes;
d. public transport enhancements to improve links to the town centre; and
e. implementation of an agreed travel Plan; and
10. Provide infrastructure needs arising from the development, including those matters 
identified by the Local Plan Implementation and Delivery Schedule, in particular those 
relating to libraries, education and health.

5. LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.01 52 letters of objection received (including 15 from the same household). These raise 
the following matters (summarised) – 

 The existing public footpaths should be retained on site
 Previous objections (at outline stage) remain
 No relevant infrastructure to support new housing
 Impact of development on already congested local roads and junctions 
 Profit is being put before the community and environment
 The public footpath proposed to the north of the site is too close to Perry Court 

Cottages and impacts upon privacy and security. It should be relocated further south.
 Poor visibility at crossing point over Brogdale Road from proposed footpath.
 Loss of arable / agricultural land
 Greater likelihood of rat running through existing roads to avoid congestion
 Ashford Road is at a standstill during peak times, and is too narrow to allow 2 HGV’s 

to pass one another
 Walking from the site will be difficult due to the lack of suitable crossing points over 

Ashford Road and the A2 – meaning that more people will use cars.
 Rise in air pollution
 Screening and acoustic fencing should be provided to existing dwellings on Ashford 

Road
 Cumulative impact of developments in area – including Brogdale Road and Preston 

Fields on infrastructure and traffic
 Brogdale Rd is a narrow country lane and is not suitable for increased traffic
 Safety issues for children using local roads.
 Brownfield sites should be developed, not greenfield ones
 Loss of countryside will be devastating
 The proposal will result in more traffic on the M2
 Local primary schools are oversubscribed and under funded

Page 238



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

230

 Local NHS facilities are at breaking point
 Additional traffic will impact upon the ability of the fire station to respond to 

emergencies
 Faversham will lose its unique qualities that set it apart from other towns
 Assurances should be given that traffic calming measures are provided on the A2, an 

alternative route is created from Oare to the M2, and direct access provided from the 
new development to the M2.

 It will spoil the green countryside around Brogdale and change in the character of the 
area

 Noise and disturbance from the development
 It will open the door to further developments to the south of the A2
 How will extra water supplies be provided?
 The ground height of buildings is significantly higher than the A251, creating an 

unsightly entrance to a medieval market town
 Correspondence with Highways England has revealed that they have major concerns 

regarding the development until upgrades plans for the A2 / A251 junction are 
provided.

 The outline scheme was only passed due to the Council’s failure to have a plan in 
place at the time, and should be rescinded.

 Unclear how the green travel plan can be implemented
 A new traffic assessment should be undertaken as there is now a proposal for a 

discount supermarket in addition to the development approved under the outline 
permission.

 The layout fails to follow a grid structure as per the historic character of Faversham
 The access road is tortuous and entails unnecessary vehicle mileage and fuel 

consumption
 The relationship between two roads in the south east corner is clumsy and artificial
 The loop and access format compromises the legibility of the estate
 Pedestrian routes are not overlooked 
 The roundabout on Ashford Road is out of character and dangerous for pedestrians / 

cyclists
 The layout does not encourage social interchange amongst the different residential 

areas
 The scheme should be linked to improved facilities for pedestrians and cyclists to 

cross the A2 to access the town centre
 A simpler layout with clearer east to west routes would relate better to the surrounding 

area, reduce vehicle journey lengths and improve air quality.
 The land banks at the side of Ashford Road are gradually sliding down in places. Who 

will be responsible for stopping this further?
 Further updated traffic surveys should be undertaken.
 Housing development in Faversham has always been to the north of the A2.

6. CONSULTATIONS

Faversham Town Council 

6.01 Originally raised objection to the scheme. However, following amendments, Faversham 
Town Council support the application and welcome the changes to the design and 
layout that have been incorporated following consultation with the council and the 
local community. 

Ospringe Parish Council

Page 239



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

231

6.02 Raise concern regarding the following matters – 
 The main road running east to west across the site will be used as a rat run
 This will lead to increased use of Brogdale Road and other local lanes. 
 The Brogdale Road access should be limited to emergency services only
 The impact on Brogdale Road is now greater as 62 houses have been permitted to 

the north of the site, the expansion of Brogdale Farm, and nearby developments such 
as Salters Lane (250 homes) and Willow Farm, Painters Forstal. 

 Adequate cycle and footpath links should be provided through the site and beyond to 
the A2 and wider area.

 The design of the dwellings is uninspiring, and does not make reference to the 
Ospringe Design Statement

 Better sustainability initiatives should be provided, including improved public transport 
and enhanced pedestrian / cycle facilities.

 A comprehensive programme for construction works should be provided to reduce 
congestion and parking

KCC Highways

6.03 Following amendments to the scheme, KCC Highways raise no objection to the 
application subject to conditions, and make the following comments - 
1. Road hierarchy. The issues concerning the width of the proposed primary street have
been addressed. The primary street is now proposed to be 6m wide with footways on
both sides.
2. Pedestrian/Cycle access. The development provides excellent 2.5m wide routes
East-West and North-South through the development away in overlooked open space
away from vehicular traffic. A continuous footpath link heading North from the Primary
Road is now provided on the Western side of the development alongside Brogdale
Road.
3. Parking. Parking provision is in accordance with KCC policy IGN3 meeting
rural/suburban edge standards. In total 130 Visitor spaces were required and 134 have
been provided. The visitor spaces are generally provided in close proximity to the
dwellings with tandem parking arrangements as requested.
4. Refuse and Fire tender tracking. Tracking drawings 6930 – 563 E for fire tender is
agreed as complete. Refuse tracking drawing 6930 – 564 E is almost complete but
requires minor amendments. Dwellings 81 and 82 are omitting a refuse collection point.
Tracking has not been completed in front of dwellings 225 and 226 and should be
completed. Dwellings 81, 82 and 137 to 145 require a refuse collection point.

Highways England

6.04 No objection. Having examined the reserved matters application pursuant to the outline 
permission 15/504264/OUT we are satisfied that the proposals will not materially affect 
the safety, reliability and/or operation of the Strategic Road Network.

KCC Drainage team

6.05 No objection raised

KCC Archaeologist  

6.06 The archaeological interest within the site is being dealt with separately under condition 
20 of the outline permission. I am satisfied that the reserved matters are covered in the 
scope of that WSI (Written Scheme of Investigation).

KCC Rights of Way team

Page 240



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

232

6.07 Advise that discussions have been held with the developer to clarify the Definitive 
alignment of public footpath ZF18 through the open space. Request that the layout 
plans are amended to follow this, however if this is not possible then an application to 
divert will be required. No objection raised, subject to a condition dealing with the 
above.

Swale Footpaths Group   

6.08 No comments other than to advise that any upgrade of public footpaths to a bridleway 
would need to be subject to due process of law.

Southern Water 

6.09 Advise that network reinforcement is required to accommodate the development, 
funded through the New Infrastructure Charge with the remainder funded through 
Southern Water’s Capital Works programme. Some initial dwellings may be able to 
connect pending such reinforcement.

6.10 Officer note – these comments are relevant to condition 21 of the outline permission 
which requires means of foul drainage to be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. This application originally sought approval of condition 21, but this 
has been withdrawn by the applicant and will be resubmitted at a later date. On this 
basis, I do not consider that the Southern Water comments are relevant to this reserved 
matters application

Kent Police 

6.11 Advise that some further detailed analysis of crime prevention is required in the layout 
of the development. 

Health and Safety Executive 

6.12 Raise no objection to the application, but advise that the operator of the gas pipeline 
should be consulted.

Scotia Gas Networks 

6.13 No comments received

Environment Agency 

6.14 We have assessed this application as having a low environmental risk. We therefore 
have no comments to make.

Natural England 

6.15 Raise no objection but advise that – 
 A HRA together with an appropriate financial contribution should be sought based on 

the proximity of the site to the Swale SPA and Ramsar sites
 Loss of agricultural land needs to be part of the planning balance. Soil management 

measures are required.

6.16 Officer note – Members will be aware that this is a reserved matters application. A 
financial contribution under the SAMMS strategy has been secured at outline stage to 
mitigate against impacts on the SPA and Ramsar site. Likewise the loss of agricultural 

Page 241



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

233

land was considered and accepted at this stage. These matters are not for 
consideration as part of the reserved matters.

KCC Ecology 

6.17 We presume that the detailed landscape plans will be submitted at a later date and 
have no detailed comments to make at this time but we are pleased that the site wide 
plans have confirmed that the locations of the open space/landscape areas will ensure 
that
the connectivity throughout the whole site will be retained

Environmental Health

6.18 No objection subject to a condition to require an acoustic survey to be undertaken with 
mitigation measures (if required) for the residential development.

SBC Greenspaces Manager 

6.19 No objection to wider landscape design for the open space. Requests suitable 
provision of dog bins throughout the space, and information / interpretation details where 
habitats are created and/or enhanced.

SBC Tree Consultant

6.20 Advises that the general layout and planting and type of species chosen are 
acceptable. However the trees proposed on plots 102, 105, 106, 112, 113, 128 and 196 do 
not appear to have any species marked against them, and this needs to be confirmed.

SBC Strategic Housing and Health Manager

6.21 Following amendments to the affordable housing mix to accommodate 4 x ground 
floor flats and 2 x 2 bed houses as wheelchair adapted homes, no objection is raised to the 
affordable housing provision provided buy the applicant.

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

7.01 The application has been submitted with detailed layout and elevation plans, a Design 
and Access Statement, Heritage Statement, Arboricultural Assessment and a Minerals 
Statement. The plans include cross sections and levels information, as required under 
condition 24 of the planning permission.

8. APPRAISAL

8.01  Members may query why this application is being reported to committee given that 
Faversham Town Council support the scheme. Whilst the vast majority of the site does 
fall within the town council boundaries (including the area housing all the residential 
development), a small section of the site in the south east corner (within the public open 
space) falls within the administrative boundaries of Ospringe Parish Council – and as 
such the concerns raised by the Parish Council trigger the requirement to report this 
application to committee. 

8.02 The principle of residential development on this site has been established by both the 
allocation of the site within the adopted Local Plan for a large scale mixed use 

Page 242



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

234

development, and by the grant of outline planning permission under 15/504264. This 
reserved matters application seeks approval for the layout, appearance, scale and 
landscaping of the scheme insofar that it relates to the residential development 
permitted as part of the outline scheme (excluding the care home).

8.03 “In principle” matters such as highways impacts / traffic generation, air quality, loss of 
countryside and agricultural land have been considered acceptable in granting outline 
permission, and these are not subject to consideration as part of the reserved matters, 
despite the fact that these have been raised by many objectors to this application. The 
access points to the development have also been fixed at outline stage, comprising a 
roundabout (now built) on Ashford Road and a junction onto Brogdale Road.

8.04 This application for reserved matters has been made on a parcel of land totalling 20.7 
Hectares, including open space to be delivered as part of the residential development. 
This excludes land to the east and south of the site shown indicatively at outline stage 
to accommodate a care home, hotel and employment uses. It also excludes an area of 
land of approximately 0.5 hectares on the east side of the site, designated under the 
outline permission for residential development / a local shop. The total area of the site, 
including the above parcels, measures 33.1 Hectares.

8.05 The terms of the outline permission secured the following requirements relevant to this 
application.

 That at least 15 Hectares of open space is delivered as part of the wider development 
(secured under the S106 agreement)

 That 30% of dwellings would be delivered as affordable units, based on 70% as 
rented and 30% as shared ownership (secured under the S106 Agreement)

 That the reserved matters shall show the residential development restricted to the 
residential areas as identified indicatively on the illustrative site layout drawing 
submitted with the outline application. (condition 4 of the outline permission)

 That reserved matters shall show adequate land for car parking (condition 10)
 That the reserved matters shall be in accordance with a Development Brief that shall 

first have been agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority (Condition 23)
 That the reserved matters shall include cross sections drawings of existing and 

proposed site levels (condition 24)

8.06 The Development Brief has been approved (17/506598) and, in short, sets the following 
parameters relevant to the residential development – 

 A street hierarchy for the development of primary and secondary streets, rural lanes 
and private drives, with specifications for the broad design of each road type

 Dedicated pedestrian and cycle routes through the site, providing links with existing 
public rights of way and new pedestrian access points onto Brogdale Road and 
Ashford Road. The routes also connect to provide internal circuits within the site.

 An overall landscape strategy for the site, based on the provision of 15.2 Ha of open 
space

 Provision of a surface water drainage strategy based on SuDS 
 Architectural treatment of dwellings to be based upon local vernacular design.
 Use of feature buildings in important locations
 Relevant buildings to be designed to turn corners well and provide interest.
 A strategy to utilise predominantly 2 storey residential buildings, with some 2.5 storey 

buildings within the primary route. Variety will be provided through different roof 
styles, use of topography and the use of feature buildings.

 Measures to set buildings back from Brogdale Road and Ashford Road and to provide 
appropriate landscaping to these roads.  

 

Page 243



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

235

8.07  Policy MU7 of the adopted Local Plan sets out a list of specific objectives and criteria 
(numbered 1-10) for development proposals to follow on this site, as set out in 
paragraph 4.05 earlier in this report. Insofar that this relates to this reserved matters 
application, I would highlight the following criteria as being relevant to this specific 
application – 

 (2) Be of high quality design, with building siting, form, height and materials related to 
the existing built form and topography of the site and the surrounding context and to 
include consideration of:
a. the setting of landscape and heritage assets;
b. the rural approaches to the town; and
c. building heights demonstrating they have been influenced by, and show respect for, 
views from the south.

 (3) Provide for a mix of housing in accordance with Policy CP 3, including provision for 
affordable housing in accordance with Policy DM 8;

 (5) Submit a detailed Heritage Assessment to consider the significance of the impact 
of development at the local level on the heritage setting of the town and other heritage 
assets in accordance with policies DM 32-DM 33. 

 (8) Submit a Noise Assessment and implement any mitigation arising;

8.08 For clarification, the other criteria listed under the policy has either been subject to 
assessment at outline stage, or is subject to a specific condition as part of the outline 
permission, as set out below

 (1) A strong landscape framework – 15 Hectares of open space were secured as part 
of the S106 agreement with the outline permission. A Green Infrastructure and 
Biodiversity Management Plan and strategic landscaping details for the site were 
secured under conditions 22 and 32 of the outline permission, and are subject to 
separate approval.

 (4) Mitigation of impacts on the SPA – A SAMMS payment was secured under the 
S106 Agreement with the outline permission.

 (6) Restriction to B1 Employment – this was restricted under condition 39 of the 
outline permission.

 (7) Air Quality – the effect of the development on air quality was assessed as part of 
the outline application and found to be acceptable.

 (9) Transport Impacts – these were assessed as part of the outline application. 
Financial contributions totaling £808,450 were secured under the S106 agreement 
towards improvements to the A2 / A251 junction, J7 of the M2, off-site public footpath 
improvements, and sustainable transport measures. A sustainable travel plan was 
also secured under the S106 agreement.

 (10) Infrastructure Needs – these were assessed as part of the outline application and 
identified contributions were secured under the S106 agreement.

8.09 Members will also note from the planning history above that further planning 
applications have been submitted for development of the land to the east of the 
residential area, adjacent to Ashford Road. These applications do not comply with the 
terms of the outline planning permission and as such have been submitted as “stand-
alone” full planning applications. They include a care home and hotel scheme as were 
also permitted under the outline scheme. However the care home is larger than the 
parameters approved, and the applications now include a supermarket proposal, which 
was not part of the outline permission. These applications will be determined on their 
own merits, taking into account the extent to which they comply with the development 
plan (including the site allocation), national policy and any other material 
considerations. However, for the purposes of this application, I would advise members 
that they should consider the reserved matters against the parameters of the outline 
planning application, and not the full applications that are under consideration.

Page 244



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

236

Layout, 

8.10 The scheme has been developed based on a number of overarching design principles 
established in part through the outline permission, and also the Development Brief, as 
approved under condition 23 of the outline permission and summarised above. In this 
process, my officers have sought numerous amendments to the scheme to improve the 
layout and design as originally submitted.

8.11 The indicative plans at outline stage showed the residential development to be split into 
three areas, separated by large areas of open space. The reserved matters generally 
follow this layout, as required under condition 4 of the outline permission, with large 
areas of open space separating the three housing areas, and roads to connect the 
areas to each other. The layout has resulted in some adjustment to the boundaries of 
the housing areas and the open space areas shown at outline stage. However these 
were only indicatively shown, and a small degree of flexibility has been used to 
accommodate a satisfactory layout. This does involve a very small encroachment 
beyond the settlement boundary line as defined in the local plan to the south. However 
this is very limited in effect, with dwellings partially extending into this are by no more 
than 5 metres. There is no physical site feature that defines this settlement line.  In my 
opinion, the impact on the countryside arising from this would be very limited and not 
sufficient, in the context of this application, to amount to material harm.

8.12 As well as creating three physically separate housing areas, the layout also uses 
character areas, referred to as ‘Rural Edge, Urban Realm’ and ‘Oast View’. The key 
difference between these three areas is density and associated spacing between the 
buildings, with the ‘Urban Realm’ areas largely occupying the central parts of each 
housing area, including the primary road through the site. This character area contains 
a higher level of housing density, includes a slant towards terraced and semi detached 
units and includes all the proposed 2.5 storey dwellings. The ‘Rural Edge’ character 
area includes those units on the periphery of each housing area – and predominantly 
fronting open green space. The ‘Oast View’ character area, as one might expect, 
contains houses all of which would have varying degrees of a view of the grade II listed 
Malthouse and Oasthouse at Perry Court. The houses at this location appropriately 
display a finer level of architectural detailing and the principal frontages with a view of 
the listed building are effectively book-ended/framed by two pairs of ‘feature buildings’.

8.13 The layout is designed with houses facing Ashford Road and Brogdale Road. Due to 
the nature of these roads and differences in land levels (the site is 2 metres higher than 
Ashford Road in places), the proposed dwellings would not take direct access from 
Brogdale or Ashford Road, and would utilise the main access points into the site. The 
dwellings facing Ashford Road would be set back from the road boundary by a distance 
of at least 24 metres, separated by an area of green space. This is a purposeful 
“principle” derived from the outline permission, and helps manage the prominence and 
scale of the proposed dwellings given the difference in levels between the site and 
Ashford road. The layout of dwellings fronting Brogdale Road has been designed with a 
varied building line, different house types and good sized gaps between dwellings, to 
provide a more organic frontage to this road, so far as possible for an “estate” style 
large scale development. 

8.14 The layout is designed so that all dwellings provide active frontages to roads, and many 
dwellings front onto areas of green space. This would provide a wider attractive 
appearance to the development (rather than open space backing onto rear gardens), 
provides an attractive outlook for residents and natural surveillance of the open space.

8.15 The primary road within the development would run east to west  through the site 
between the two main approved access points on Ashford Road and Brogdale Road 

Page 245



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

237

(these access points being approved as part of the outline permission). It has been 
designed to avoid a straight road through the site, to reduce potential for rat running 
and to maintain low vehicle speeds. It also includes a series of raised tables at key 
junctions, and a small number of “squares” where there is a greater sense of enclosure 
and views are framed. The primary road would link to a number of smaller secondary 
roads and rural lanes, which are narrower in width and more informal in appearance. 
The road layout and street hierarchy adopted within the scheme is acceptable to KCC 
Highways.

8.16 The scheme includes a substantial network of footpaths and cycle routes through the 
site. The layout has been designed to retain existing public footpaths on site – although 
Members will note that the KCC Rights of Way team has identified a discrepancy with 
the precise line of the definitive public footpath through the open space, and request a 
planning condition to deal with this. New footpath routes would be created and 
pedestrian links to Brogdale Road and Ashford Road would be provided to the north of 
the site. The existing footpath route to the north of the site, through Perry Court and the 
Abbey School would be retained and enhanced through funding secured under the 
outline permission. KCC Highways consider the on-site pedestrian and cycle links to be 
a particularly good feature of the scheme.

8.17 The layout would be punctuated by substantial areas of open space. The main area of 
open space would be to the south west of the site, and would contain a playing pitch, 
allotments, a proposed orchard area and substantial open space and new planting. In 
addition to this, large areas of open space would  be provided to the north west of the 
site (adjacent to the listed oast building), between the three housing areas, and fronting 
Ashford Road. These include two formal play areas for children, swales and infiltration 
basins. The overall extent of open space would substantially exceed the requirement 
under Policy MU7 of the Local Plan for the entire site. Although the application shows 
there would be some “creep” beyond the indicative residential boundaries shown at 
outline stage, the residential development would provide 11.3 Ha of the total of 15 
Hectares of open space required under the S106 agreement. I consider this would be 
proportionate to the extent of the reserved matters submission, with the remaining 
3.7Ha of open space to be delivered under subsequent applications on the remainder 
of the site which totals 12.4Ha in size. The extent and layout of the open space is 
generally acceptable to the Council’s Greenspaces manager, although some 
amendments to the detailed design of the play areas is sought, and car parking in 
connection with the sports pitch is also required. These matters can be secured by a 
planning condition.

8.18 The layout of the development has also been designed so that an area of open space 
extends southwards from the north boundary adjacent to the listed oast house to the 
primary road within the development. The location of this space has been purposefully 
designed to provide a vista of the neighbouring listed oast building from within the 
development which, in my opinion, would positively add to the layout and design of the 
scheme, and draws on a locally important feature.

8.19 The housing mix is set out in paragraph 2.08 above. My officers have negotiated a 
significant reduction in 4 bed units on the site from 175 as first proposed. Nonetheless, 
Members will note the housing mix is still heavily weighted towards 3 and 4 bed units.  
I note that the officer report for the outline application stated “The proposed dwelling 
type, mix and number will predominantly reflect the general character of the area and 
likely comprise a greater proportion of family sized housing in response to local 
characteristics.” In addition, I note that the supporting text to policy CP3 of the Local 
Plan states that “the development of family housing in keeping with the character of the 
existing area should be encouraged”. On this basis, I consider the housing mix to be 
appropriate to this edge of settlement site. 

Page 246



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

238

8.20 The scheme would make a significant contribution towards affordable housing through 
the delivery of 93 affordable units. The layout and type of affordable housing proposed 
is acceptable to the Council’s Strategic Housing Officer.

8.21 The rectangular parcel of land adjacent to plots 144-159 was originally shown to be part 
of the residential development at outline stage – albeit that it was also allocated to 
accommodate a local shop. This land does not form part of the reserved matters and is 
not within the control of the applicant. This does create a degree of uncertainty as to the 
future use of this parcel of land. However, the outline permission included a hotel, care 
home, local retail unit and B1 employment floor space – and the parcel of land could 
still be utilised for such uses under the terms of the outline scheme.

8.22 Members will also note that a separate planning application has been made for a care 
home to be erected on this land parcel. As noted above, the outline permission for the 
site included a care home of up to 60 bedrooms. However the application currently 
submitted (Ref 18/503087/FULL) is for a 66 bed care home and exceeds the size of the 
care home permitted. As this it falls outside of the terms of the outline permission, it 
cannot be considered as a reserved matters application, hence why it has been 
submitted as a stand-alone full planning application.  This application is currently 
under consideration – and for this reason Members should not give this specific 
application any significant weight in their decision-making process. However they 
should give weight to the potential for the uses as set out in the paragraph above to 
come forward on this land, and on this basis I am satisfied that the exclusion of this land 
from the residential development would be unlikely to result in it becoming a left over or 
vacant plot of land in the longer term. 

Scale and appearance

8.23 From the outset, the application has been based upon a primarily two storey form of 
residential development with traditional elevations and detailing. There are some 
departures from this, namely selected terraces that are 2.5 storeys in height, and the 
use of feature buildings which occupy key locations and have been designed with 
greater emphasis either on scale (for example by using raised eaves heights), or 
articulation / material finishes. There was, and still is an argument to suggest that the 
applicant could have been more adventurous in their approach to elevational treatment 
by putting forward a distinctive contemporary approach to recognise the development 
as a twenty-first century expansion of the town. 

8.24 Notwithstanding this, the development has well presented elevations with variety in 
materials, house types and detailing. All the house types display traditional pitched roof 
forms with variations including hips and dormers, broken eaves and gabled and hipped 
bays and wings.  The window designs are either sash or casement types, whilst the 
doors are typically panelled and part glazed and in the case of front entrances, set 
below an open canopy porch of simple form. The proportions of the buildings generally 
work well with the fenestration design, and the scheme manages to avoid negative 
design issues such as inappropriate blank elevations and slack roof pitches which 
could otherwise detract from its overall sense of visual appeal and coherence.

8.25 The feature buildings essentially provide an upgrade from the standard house types 
with the options consisting of a combination of  different material finishes, a hipped 
roof alternative (to the standard gable design), increased eaves height and/or the 
inclusion of chimneys. 

8.26 The potential monotony of two storey buildings is broken up by the use of differing roof 
types and ridge lines, as well as some larger scale units as set out above. Importantly, 

Page 247



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

239

the topography of the site also acts to create variation in the roof lines. As the drawings 
demonstrate, the scheme would deliver a series of attractive street scenes, much of 
which would also be seen in the context of a strong landscaped setting. The limitation in 
building height utilised across the residential development also limits the wider impact 
of the development on the rural landscape to the south and west.

8.27 The scheme was subject to a Design Review in September 2017, prior to submission of 
the application. The review panel raised some concerns regarding the layout of the 
development and the access points, particularly the use of a roundabout onto Ashford 
Road. However this was fixed under the outline permission, as were the allocation of 
general areas within the development for different uses. The applicant has taken on 
board some comments raised, for example orientating the layout to provide views of the 
neighbouring oast, using hierarchy to create higher densities along the primary road.  
A Building For Life Assessment has also been undertaken by my officers and the 
development generally scores well in this respect. 

Impact on setting of listed building

8.28 Policy MU7 of the Local Plan states that a heritage assessment must be submitted to 
consider the significance of impacts upon heritage assets in accordance with policies 
DM32 and DM33. Policy DM32 of the Local Plan states that development affecting the 
setting of a listed building will be permitted provided the interest of the listed building 
and its setting is preserved.

8.29 Section 66 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 states that “In considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, 
as the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses” Members should note that this places a strong presumption 
against any harm to a listed building.

8.30 The NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This 
is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or 
less than substantial harm to its significance. Any harm should require clear and 
convincing justification. Where a development would lead to substantial harm, this 
should be refused unless it can be demonstrated that such harm is necessary to 
achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm. Where a development 
proposal would lead to less than substantial harm, this should be weighed against 
the public benefits of the proposal.

8.31 The Oast House at Perry Court Farm is located to the north of the site on the Brogdale  
side of the development. The building is Grade II listed and dates from 1904. The list 
description states that this is a fine building of its kind, consisting of 2 square oast 
houses at the East end, 1 at the West end and a 3-storey malthouse or granary 
between. The oast houses at the ends of the buildings have pyramidal slate roofs with 
the tops cut
off to make way for the cowls.

8.32 The significance of the building is as a fine example of an oast composition, which of 
course is distinctive to the Kent countryside. Although the oast is no longer in 
agricultural use (it is a business premises), the building retains its original form and 
character. The Heritage Statement submitted with the application states that as well as 
its architectural and historical interest, it derives a relatively small degree of significance 

Page 248



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

240

from its setting. The statement concludes that there would be some harm to this setting, 
but that this would be less than substantial harm.

8.33 In reaching this conclusion it is important to note that such harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal. In this instance, the oast is sited 55 metres 
from the site boundary. The layout of the proposed development has been designed 
with a substantial area of open space immediately adjacent to this boundary. As a 
result, a gap of some 95 metres would be maintained between the closest proposed 
dwellings and the oast building. The closest dwellings would be two storeys in height.  
The oast would clearly be dominant in scale in relation to these proposed buildings, and 
the  open space proposed to the north of the site would assist in retaining a setting to 
the oast building.

8.34 Clearly, the principle of residential development on the wider site as granted through 
the outline permission and site allocation in the Local Plan would change the existing 
rural setting to the south of the listed oast building. However, I am satisfied that the 
layout and design of the proposed development would minimise impacts on the setting 
of the listed building for the reasons as set out above. I consider any harm would be of 
no greater consequence than would have been considered during the outline scheme 
or allocation of the site for development. I also note that the extent of residential 
development in this part of the site is somewhat less than the area indicatively shown at 
outline stage. 

8.35 Whilst any harm to a heritage asset carries strong weight, the public benefits of bringing 
forward a key allocated housing site, together with the sensitive layout of the scheme to 
minimise such impacts is, in my opinion, sufficient to carry greatest weight. On this 
basis, I do not consider the impacts on the setting of the listed building to be 
unacceptable.

Residential Amenity

8.36 The dwellings on the east side of the site would be sited a minimum of 45 metres from 
existing dwellings on the east side of Ashford Road. Views from these properties would 
change, and I note that the development site is up to 2 metres higher than the level of 
Ashford Road. However loss of a view is not a material planning consideration, and I do 
not consider at this distance that the scale and form of the residential development 
would be harmful to the provision of light, outlook and privacy to these properties. 

8.37 The two dwellings at Ash Tree Cottages on Brogdale Road would be enclosed on three 
sides by the application site. The residential development would be sited to the north 
and east of these properties. However, they enjoy very large gardens, and the closest 
proposed dwellings to the east would be sited some 40-50 metres from the existing 
dwellings, and a gap of some 15 metres would be maintained to the closest proposed 
dwelling fronting Brogdale Road to the north. On the basis of this separation distance, 
together with the orientation of the proposed dwellings in relation to the existing 
dwellings, I do not consider that the development would unacceptably impact upon 
outlook, light or privacy to these properties. Again, the view from these properties would 
substantially change, but this is not a material planning consideration.

8.38 As set out above, the oast is used as a business centre, and is separated from the 
application site by a car park and grassed amenity space. The layout of the reserved 
matters shows that the proposed dwellings on this part of the site would be set back 
from the boundary, and I consider this relationship to be acceptable on amenity 
grounds.

Page 249



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

241

8.39 Perry Court Cottages are sited on the north east boundary of the site. They would also 
be separated from the closest dwellings within the development by an area of open 
space, meaning that the existing and proposed dwellings would be some 80 metres 
apart. Following concerns raised by the occupants of these properties, the footpath to 
the north of the site leading to Brogdale Road has been moved further away from the 
rear gardens to these properties, with the ability for new planting on this boundary.

8.40 Perry Court stands in substantial grounds to the north of the site and a separation gap 
in excess of 60 metres would be maintained to the closest new dwelling. Again I 
consider this relationship to be acceptable.

8.41 Overall, I consider the layout, scale and appearance of the dwellings would not cause 
unacceptable impacts on surrounding existing buildings, and would not be in conflict 
with Policy DM14 of the Local Plan.

Landscaping

8.42 The detailed landscaping of the site for the purposes of this reserved matters 
application is limited to the soft landscaping proposals submitted for the land 
immediately within and surrounding the residential development. This excludes the 
detailed proposals for landscaping of the public open space, which is subject to 
separate control under condition 32 of the outline planning permission, and under the 
S106 agreement.

8.43 The application would include some removal of boundary vegetation on Brogdale Road 
and Ashford Road to facilitate access and highways works required by KCC. The 
vegetation on part of the Ashford Road frontage has already been removed to facilitate 
the new roundabout, and was carried out in liaison with my officers. This was necessary 
due to strict terms applied by KCC on the closure Ashford Road – which was only 
permitted during the summer holiday period. Landscaping removed on the site 
boundaries will be replaced with suitable new planting, in accordance with condition 32 
of the outline permission.

8.44 The application seeks to retain existing hedgerows within the site and on other 
boundaries, including the landscaping surrounding Ash Tree Cottages.

8.45 The landscaping scheme submitted with this reserved matters application relates to the 
landscaping of internal roads and individual units.  It includes street planting along the 
primary road which would add to the street scene and helps break up areas of frontage 
parking. Shrub and hedge planting would be provided around the residential units, 
which in turn would provide attractive frontages.

8.46 For the purposes of the landscaping provided under this reserved matters, the 
Council’s Tree Consultant is satisfied that the layout and species mix is generally 
appropriate. Some clarification is sought over the species mix for new planting on some 
plots – and this can be controlled via a planning condition.

Other Matters

8.47 Parking - KCC Highways advise that parking provision for the development, including 
visitor parking, is acceptable. Condition 10 of the outline permission secures this in 
perpetuity.

8.48 Members will note the concerns raised by Ospringe Parish Council. Highways impacts 
were considered at outline stage. There was no requirement set under the outline 
permission that Brogdale Road should be for emergency vehicles only. As set out 

Page 250



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

242

earlier, the footpaths within the site are deemed to provide good connections. In terms 
of housing design, the dwellings are within Faversham , not Ospringe, and I do not 
consider the Ospringe Design Statement to be of relevance. Notwithstanding this, the 
design leans on a traditional form of Kentish vernacular which, if implemented well, 
would not be at odds with this statement. Finally, a condition on the outline permission 
secures the requirement for a Construction and Environmental Management Plan to be 
submitted and approved by the Council.

9. CONCLUSION

9.01 The reserved matters are considered to demonstrate an appropriate scale, layout and 
appearance, and follow the general parameters of the outline permission. The small 
encroachment beyond the settlement boundary to the south is minimal and I consider 
this has very little impact on the countryside in real terms. The scheme has been 
designed to minimise impacts upon the setting of the adjacent oast, and I consider the 
benefit of bringing this allocated site forward for development outweighs the less than 
substantial harm that would arise to the setting of this building. The relationship with 
neighbouring dwellings is considered acceptable in planning terms, although I 
acknowledge that the view from surrounding dwellings would be substantially changed.

9.02 In conclusion, I consider the development would accord with the relevant criteria under 
policy MU7 of the local plan. 

10. RECOMMENDATION 

10.01That reserved matters approval should be GRANTED, subject to the conditions as set 
out below.

Appendices: 

(i) Decision notice for 15/504264/OUT
(ii) Building for Life Assessment

CONDITIONS to include

1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

1275 100-1 Rev J, 100-2 Rev L, 100-3 Rev J, 101-1 Rev E, 101-2 Rev E, 101-3 Rev 
C, 101-4 Rev H, 101-5, Rev H, 101-6 Rev H, 101-7 Rev H, 101-8 Rev E, 101-9 Rev E, 
101-10 Rev E, 106-1 Rev E, 106-2 Rev E, 106-4 Rev E, 110-1 Rev H, 110-2 Rev H, 
150 Rev A, 54-1 Rev G, 54-2 Rev H, 54-3 Rev H, 54-4 Rev F, 55 Rev A, 56.

HT-Wu-(URPS)-02 Rev C, HT-Wu-H-(URPS)-02 Rev C, HT-Wu-H-(URPS)-03 Rev C, 
HT-A-B-G-G-(RE)-01 Rev C, HT-A-B-G-G-(RE)-02 Rev B, HT-A-B-J-(UPRS)-01 Rev 
B, HT- -A-B-J-(UPRS)-02 Rev B, HT-G-G-(URFB)-01, HT-G-G-(URFB)-02, HT-H-G-
G-G-G-(URPS)-01, HT-H-G-G-G-G-(URPS)-02, HT-H-G-G-G-G-(URPS)-03.

HT-AB-(OV)-01 Rev C, HT-AB-(OV)-02 Rev B, HT-AB-(RE)-01 Rev C, HT-AB-(RE)-
02 Rev C, HT-AB-(RE)-03, HT-AB-(RE)-04, HT-AB-(UR)-01 Rev C, HT-AB-(UR)-02 
Rev C, HT-AB-(UR)-03, HT-AB-(UR)-04, HT-AN-(RE)-01 Rev A, HT-AN-(RE)-02 Rev 

Page 251



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

243

A, HT-AN-(REFB)-01 Rev A, HT-AN-(UR)-01 Rev B, HT-AN-(UR)-02 Rev B, HT-AN-
(URFB)-01 Rev A, HT-AN-(URFB)-02 Rev A, HT-AN-(URPS)-01 Rev B   
HT-AN-(URPS)-02 Rev B, HT-AN-(REFB)-02 Rev A, HT-A-B-G-J-J-G-H(RE)-01, HT-
A-B-G-J-J-G-H(RE)-02, HT-A-B-G-J-J-G-H(RE)-03, HT-A-B-G-J-J-G-H(RE)-04.

HT-BR-(UR)-01 Rev A, HT-BR-(RE)-01 Rev A, HT-BR-(RE)-02 Rev A, HT-BR-(RE)-
03, HT-BR-(RE)-04, HT-BR-(UR)-02 Rev A, HT-BR-(URPS)-01 Rev A, HT-BR-
(URPS)-02 Rev A, HT-CO-(OVFB)-01 Rev A, HT-CO-(OVFB)-02 Rev A , HT-CO-
(RE)-01 Rev C, HT-CO-(RE)-02 Rev C, HT-CO-(URPS)-02 Rev B, HT-D & K (UR)-01 
Rev D, HT-D & K (UR)-02 Rev D, HT-DR-(OV)-01 Rev C, HT-DR-(OV)-02 Rev B, HT-
DR-(RE)-01 Rev C, HT-DR-(RE)-02 Rev C, HT-CO-(REFB)-01 Rev A, HT-CO-
(REFB)-02, HT-CO-(URPS)-01 Rev B, HT-DR-(RE)-05, HT-DR-(RE)-06, HT-DR-
(UR)-03 Rev A  HT-DR-(UR)-04 Rev A, HT-EA-(OVFB)-01 Rev A, HT-EA-(OVFB)-02 
Rev A, HT-EA-(RE)-01 Rev A, HT-EA-(RE)-02 Rev A, HT-EA-(REFB)-01 Rev A, HT-
EA-(REFB)-02 Rev A   
HT-EN-(RE)-01 Rev D, HT-EA-(REFB)-04 Rev A,HT-EA-(REFB)-03 Rev A   

  
HT-EN-(URPS)-01, HT-EN-(URPS)-02, HT-G-G-(URPS)-01 Rev A, HT-G-G-(URPS)-
02 Rev A, HT-G-G-G-(UR)-01 Rev B, HT-G-G-G-(UR)-02 Rev B, HT-H-(UR)-01 Rev 
B, HT-H-(UR)-02 Rev B, HT-H-G-(URPS)-01 Rev B, HT-H-G-(URPS)-02 Rev A, HT-
H-G-G-(UR)-01 Rev A, HT-H-G-G-(UR)-02 Rev A   
HT-H-G-G-(URFB)-01 Rev C, HT-H-G-G-(URFB)-02 Rev B, HT-H-G-G-(URPS)-01 
Rev A, HT-H-G-G-(URPS)-02 Rev A, HT-HD-(REFB)-01, HT-HD-(REFB)-02, HT-HD-
HD-(REFB)-01 Rev C, HT-HD-HD-(REFB)-02 Rev A   
HT-HD-WA-(UR)-01 Rev A, HT-HD-WA-(UR)-02 Rev A , HT-HD-WA-(URPS)-01 Rev 
D, HT-HD-WA-(URPS)-02 Rev C, HT-HO-(OV)-01 Rev C, HT-HO-(OV)-02 Rev B, 
HT-HO-(OV)-03, HT-HO-(OV)-04, HT-HO-(RE)-01 Rev C, HT-HO-(RE)-03 Rev A, 
HT-HO-(RE)-04 Rev A, HT-HO-(RE)-05, HT-HO-(RE)-06, HT-HO-(REFB)-01 Rev B, 
HT-HO-(REFB)-02 Rev B, HT-HO-(REFB)-03 Rev A, HT-HO-(REFB)-04, HT-HO-
(UR)-01 Rev C, HT-HO-(UR)-02 Rev C, HT-HO-(URFB)-01 Rev A, HT-HO-(URFB)-
02 Rev A, HT-HO-(URPS)-01 Rev B, HT-HO-(URPS)-02 Rev B, HT-HO-(URPS)-03 
Rev A, HT-HO-(URPS)-04 Rev A, HT-HO-(RE)-02 Rev C, HT-H-J-(URPS)-01, HT-H-
J-(URPS)-02.

HT-IN-(OV)-01 Rev A, HT-IN-(OV)-02, HT-IN-(RE)-01, HT-IN-(RE)-02, HT-IN-(UR)-
01, HT-IN-(UR)-02,  HT-J-(UR)-01 Rev C, HT-J-(UR)-02 Rev C,  HT-J-(URPS)-01 
Rev C, HT-J-(URPS)-02 Rev C, HT-KI(UR)-03A, HT-KI(UR)-04A, HT-KI(URPS)-01 
Rev C, HT-KI(URPS)-02 Rev B, HT-KI(URPS)-03, HT-KI(URPS)-04, HT-KI-(RE)-01 
Rev C, HT-KI-(RE)-02 Rev C,HT-KI-(RE)-03, HT-KI-(RE)-04, HT-KI-(UR)-01 Rev E, 
HT-KI-(UR)-02 Rev E.

HT-LA-(OV)-01 Rev C, HT-LA-(OV)-02 Rev B , HT-LA-(OVFB)-01 Rev C, HT-LA-
(OVFB)-02 Rev C,  HT-LA-(OVFB)-03 Rev A, HT-LA-(OVFB)-04 Rev A, HT-LA-(RE)-
01 Rev C, HT-LA-(RE)-02 Rev C, HT-LA-(REFB)-01 Rev C, HT-LA-(REFB)-02 Rev C, 
HT-LA-(REFB)-03 Rev A, HT-LA-(REFB)-04 Rev A, HT-LA-(REFB)-05 Rev A, HT-LA-
(REFB)-06 Rev A, HT-LA-(REFB)-07 Rev B, HT-LA-(REFB)-08 Rev B, HT-LA-
(REFB)-09 Rev B, HT-LA-(REFB)-10 Rev A, HT-LA-(REFB)-11 Rev A, HT-LA-
(REFB)-12, HT-LA-(REFB)-13 Rev A, HT-LA-(REFB)-14, HT-LA-(REFB)-15 Rev B, 
HT-LA-(RE)-01 Rev C, HT-LA-(REFB)-16 Rev A, HT-LA-(UR)-01 Rev C, HT-LA-
(URFB)-01 Rev B   
HT-LA-(UR)-02 Rev C   

HT-M-J-M-(URPS)-03 Rev C, HT-NU-(URFB)-01 Rev B, HT-NU-(URFB)-02 Rev A, 
HT-NU-(URFB)-03 Rev A, HT-NU-(URPS)-01 Rev B, HT-NU-(URPS)-02 Rev A, HT-
NU-(URPS)-03 Rev A, HT-NU-(URPS)-04, HT-NU-(URPS)-05, HT-NU-(URPS)-06, 
HT-RO-(RE)-01 Rev A, HT-RO-(RE)-02 Rev A, HT-RO-(UR)-01 Rev B, HT-RO-(UR)-

Page 252



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

244

02 Rev B, HT-RO-(URFB)-01 Rev B, HT-RO-(URFB)-02 Rev B, HT-RO-(URPS)-01 
Rev B, HT-RO-(URPS)-02 Rev B, HT-Wu-(URPS)-01 Rev C, HT-Wu-(URPS)-01 Rev 
C, HT-WF-N-H-(URPS)-01, HT-WF-N-H-(URPS)-02, HT-WF-N-H-(URPS)-03, HT-
WF-N-H-(URPS)-04.      

Reason: To accord with the terms of the application and in the interests of proper 
planning

                 

2) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details 
of car parking for the sports pitch, including the siting, number of spaces type of 
surface treatment, and measures to deter use other than in connection with the sports 
pitch, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to 
occupation of any dwellings within the phase of development that will deliver the 
sports pitch.

Reason To ensure adequate car parking is provided for users of the sports pitch.

3) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until full 
details of any above-ground plant or equipment to be installed at the pumping station 
on the northern boundary of the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to protect the setting of the listed 
building.

4) Notwithstanding the submitted drawings, no development beyond the construction of 
foundations shall take place until a revised scheme for the provision of play 
equipment in the area shown on the approved plans has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any dwellings 
within the phase of development that will deliver the play areas

Reason: To ensure suitable areas of play are provided within the development.

5) The visibility splays as shown on the approved plans shall be completed prior to first 
occupation of any dwelling and shall thereafter maintained free from obstruction 
above a height of 900mm. 

Reason: In the interests of highways safety

6) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place in any phase 
until a scheme to demonstrate that the internal noise levels within the residential units 
and the external noise levels in back garden and other relevant amenity areas will 
conform to the standard identified by BS 8233 2014, Sound Insulation and Noise 
Reduction for Buildings - Code of Practice, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The work specified in the approved scheme 
shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of 
any unit and be retained thereafter.

Reason: To provide a suitable residential environment to future occupants of the 
development.

Page 253



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

245

7) Notwithstanding the approved plans, no development in any phase containing the 
route of public right of way  ZF18 shall take place until either

a) Plans are submitted to demonstrate that the definitive route of the public right of 
way would be maintained; or

b) Confirmation of the order permanently diverting or extinguishing the public right of 
way it has been notified to the local planning authority in writing.

The developer shall notify the local planning authority in writing of the interim 
arrangements for temporary diversion agreed with the relevant authority (including 
width and alignment of interim route, boundary demarcation, signage for users and a 
timescale for the duration of the interim route arrangements). 

No dwelling in that phase (or sub-phase) shall subsequently be first occupied until the 
new route of the public path to be provided under public path order has been 
provided; and has been certified by the relevant authority and notification of this 
provided to the Local Planning Authority in writing. 

Reason: To ensure that public rights of way are properly safeguarded in the public 
interest.

8) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place in any phase 
until the following hard landscaping details for that phase have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority – 
i) Full details of surfacing materials for roads, private drives, parking areas, 

footpaths/ cycle paths, to include the access surface material  for the electricity 
sub station adjacent to plot 202 (where relevant to that phase), and the method of 
marking out car parking spaces

ii) Details of the height, position and type of lighting units to be installed within the 
site

iii) Details of any fences, walls or other means of enclosure
iv) Details of bin storage facilities
v) Details of secure cycle storage facilities

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, and biodiversity.

9) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details 
of the proposed  tree species and sizes for the tree planting proposed on plots 102, 
105, 106, 112, 113 and 128 (as shown on the Landscaping drawings sheets 4 and 5)   
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife 
and biodiversity.

10) All hard and soft landscape works shall be completed in each relevant phase in 
accordance with the approved details, prior to first occupation of that phase, or in 
accordance with an implementation scheme that has first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife 
and biodiversity.

Page 254



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

246

11) Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any trees or shrubs that are
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as 
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever 
planting season is agreed.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife 
and biodiversity.

12) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details 
in the form of samples of external finishing materials to be used in the construction of 
the development hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, and works shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

13) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place on Plots 19 
to 23 (inclusive), Plots 1,2,3, 9, 11 to 18 (inclusive) and Plots 87 to 94 (inclusive) until 
the following drawings and details have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority - 
i) 1:1 or 1:2 vertical section details  of the eaves and verge detailing for each 

house type and variation thereto; 
ii) 1:1 or 1:2 vertical section details of the timber cladding and facing brickwork 

vertical junction (typical detail),
iii) 1:1 or 1:2 part plan and/or part vertical section showing the reveal depth(s) for 

each type of window and door opening for each house type (and variation 
thereto),

iv) 1:10 elevation detail of the window arches, the open porch canopies (front and 
side elevations), the bay windows (front and side elevations), the dormer 
windows, including the flashing detail to be used (front and side elevations), 
and the dummy chimneys, including the pot, flashing and flaunching details to 
be used (front and side elevations)  

v) Details of any flues or vents required to service the proposed housing units (to 
include enhanced  elevation and roof plan drawings showing the specific 
location of these items, together with manufacturer/supplier colour brochure 
and technical specification details of the products to be used),

vi) Manufacturer/supplier colour brochure and technical specification details of 
the window and door/garage door product system(s) to be used, 

vii) Manufacturer/supplier brochure and technical specification details of the 
specific rainwater goods systems/products to be used.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

14) Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A, Part 2, Schedule 2 to the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 
amended) no gates, fences, walls or other means of enclosure shall be erected or 
provided in advance of any wall or any dwelling fronting on a highway, unless 
otherwise shown on the approved drawings..

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

Page 255



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

247

15) Before the development hereby permitted is first used, the proposed windows in the 
first floor south facing elevation to plot 19 shall be obscure glazed to not less that the 
equivalent of Pilkington Glass Privacy Level 3, and these windows shall be incapable 
of being opened except for a high level fanlight opening of at least 1.7m above inside 
floor level and shall subsequently be maintained as such.

Reason: To prevent overlooking of adjoining properties and to safeguard the privacy 
of neighbouring occupiers.

16) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until details 
of ecological enhancements to be incorporated into the layout and design of the 
residential development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity.

INFORMATIVES

The Council’s approach to the application

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 
2018 the Council  takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a pre-
application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

The application has been subject to a series of amendments to achieve a satisfactory 
outcome.

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had 
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 256



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

248

Page 257



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

249
Page 259



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

250
Page 260



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

251
Page 261



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

252
Page 262



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

253
Page 263



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

254
Page 264



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

255
Page 265



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

256
Page 266



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

257
Page 267



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

258
Page 268



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

259
Page 269



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

260
Page 270



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

261
Page 271



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

262
Page 272



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 1

263
Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 2

264

Swale Borough Council Building for Life Checklist

The table below illustrates the relationship between the twelve questions and the NPPF and NPPG. 

Using this checklist
Please refer to the full Building for Life document 
(http://www.udg.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/BFL12COMPLETED.pdf) when assessing 
development proposals.

For each of the criteria and questions listed below you should provide a brief comment as to 
whether or not the matter has been addressed / considered fully within the submissions.

Not all developments will be able to meet all criteria.  This may be due to site-specific circumstances, 
or matters outside of the applicant’s control.  In such instances applicants should explain why 
criteria can’t be met, and officers can weight their assessment / comment accordingly.

Page 275

http://www.udg.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/BFL12COMPLETED.pdf


Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 2

265

SITE ADDRESS: Perry Court, Faversham
APPLICATION NO.: 17/506603/REM

1. CONNECTIONS
ITEM COMMENT (SBC use)/
1a Where should vehicles come in and 
out of the development?

The access points were approved at outline stage 

1b Should there be pedestrian and 
cycle only routes into and through the 
development?  

Numerous pedestrian and cycle links are provided 
within the development, providing internal routes and 
links to the A2 (via public footpath ZF18, Brogdale 
Road and Ashford Rd. these have been designed to 
predict likely desire routes (north towards Faversham)



1c Where should new streets be 
placed, could they be used to cross the 
development site and help create 
linkages across the scheme and into 
the existing neighbourhood and 
surrounding places?

The main road runs through the site in a design 
purposefully to avoid rat running. Pedestrian and 
vehicle links are provided between each housing area 
and throughout the site. The development connects 
into existing pedestrian links into the wider 
neighbourhood, and provides new pedestrian and 
vehicle links.



1d How should the new development 
relate to existing development? 

The parameters for this were largely set at outline 
stage. The new development is set back from Ashford 
Road but does face it. Development fronting Brogdale 
road has a closer relationship to this. In both cases, 
due to levels changes and highways issues, houses do 
not take direct access onto these roads. The 
development would be much different in scale and 
layout to existing modest linear development on 
Ashford Rd, and more sporadic development on 
Brogdale Road. 



2. Facilities and services
ITEM COMMENT (SBC use)/
2a Are there enough facilities and 
services in the local area to support 
the development?  If not, what is 
needed?

The site is located close to a secondary school and  the 
railway line / local shops are  approximately 0.5 miles 
away. An on-site local shop was approved as part of the 
outline permission, but has not come forward to date.



Where new facilities are proposed:
2b Are these facilities what the area 
needs?

The provision of a local shop will most likely be subject  to 
market conditions and whether the development would 
be able to support it. 

/

2c Are these new facilities located in 
the right place? If not, where should 
they go?

The proposed local shop would be located close to the 
Ashford Road entrance and adjacent to the residential 
development. This has potential to pick up passing trade 
as well as trade from the development itself.



2d Does the layout encourage walking, 
cycling or using public transport to 
reach them?

The layout provides good walking and cycling routes 
within the site – and is close to bus services on the A2 and 
within walking distance of the train station.



3. Public transport
ITEM COMMENT (SBC use)/
3a What can the development do to 
encourage more people (both existing 
and new residents) to use
public transport more often?

A travel plan (including public transport incentives) was 
secured under the S106 agreement as part of the outline 
permission.



3b Where should new public transport 
stops be located?

None are provided within the development, as the main 
transport corridor is on the A2

/

4. Meeting local housing requirements

Page 276



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 2

266

ITEM COMMENT (SBC use)/
4a What types of homes, tenure and 
price range are needed in the area (for 
example, starter homes, family homes 
or homes for those downsizing)?

The scheme provides mainly family homes. This will limit 
the market, but the local plan policy CP3 does encourage 
the development of family housing in this market area. 

/

4b Is there a need for different  types 
of home ownership (such as part buy 
and part rent) or rented
properties to help people on lower 
incomes?

The proposal includes 93 dwellings (30%) as affordable 
homes – with 70% of these being rented units.



4c Are the different types and tenures 
spatially integrated to create a 
cohesive community?

The affordable homes are distributed throughout the site, 
but are grouped in clusters.



5. Character
ITEM COMMENT (SBC use)/
5a How can the development be 
designed to have a local or distinctive 
identity?

The development has adopted a traditional vernacular 
approach, and uses materials designed to reflect local 
styles and uses.



5b Are there any distinctive 
characteristics within the area, such as 
building shapes, styles, colours and 
materials or the character of streets 
and spaces that the development 
should draw inspiration from?

See above. The development creates its own distinct 
character through the extent of open space provided and 
way in which the development layout is designed to use 
the open space as a feature. 



6. Working with the site and its context
ITEM COMMENT (SBC use)/
6a Are there any views into or from 
the site that need to be carefully 
considered?

The setting of the listed oast house to the north of the 
site is an important consideration. The site is also visible 
across the landscape  from the south (M2), east and west. 
The large area of open space to the south provides an 
open setting to these views.



6b Are there any existing trees, 
hedgerows or other features, such as 
streams that need to be  carefully 
designed into the development?

The site is generally open but there are boundary hedges 
and some hedgerows within the site. Some have been / 
are proposed to be removed due to highways 
requirements.



6c Should the development keep any 
existing building(s) on the site? If so, 
how could they be used?

There are no existing buildings on site. 

7. Creating well defined streets and spaces
ITEM COMMENT (SBC use)/
7a Are buildings and landscaping 
schemes used to create enclosed 
streets and spaces?

The proposal uses street hierarchy to create a more 
enclosed primary and secondary street layout. The “rural 
edge” is more spaced. 



7b Do buildings turn corners well? Yes 

7c Do all fronts of buildings, including 
front doors and habitable rooms, face 
the street?

Yes – and many face onto  the large areas of open space. 

8. Easy to find your way around
ITEM COMMENT (SBC use)/
8a Will the development be easy to 
find your way around? If not, what 
could be done to make it easier to find 
your way around?

The layout is roughly based on a grid system, but there 
are cul-de-sacs and private drives. The primary road 
layout winds through the site  intentionally to deter rat 
running. Pedestrian and cycle routes are clear.



Page 277



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 2.6

APPENDIX 2

267

8b Are there any obvious landmarks? The neighbouring listed oast building. 

8c Are the routes between places clear 
and direct?

The pedestrian and cycle links are clear and direct. 

9. Streets for all
ITEM COMMENT (SBC use)/
9a Are streets pedestrian friendly and 
are they designed to encourage cars to 
drive slower and
more carefully?

The road layout is designed to wind through the 
development with raised tables in places to slow vehicles 
speeds



9b Are streets designed in a way that 
they can be used as social spaces, such 
as places for children to play safely or 
for neighbours to
converse?

Minor roads would not be subject to significant traffic and 
all units face the street, to encourage social interaction. 
Many units face directly onto green space which can be 
used for play or social space.



10. Car parking
ITEM COMMENT (SBC use)/
10a Is there enough parking for 
residents and visitors?

The proposal meets the relevant parking requirements for 
residents and visitors.



10b Is parking positioned close to 
people’s homes?

Yes 

10c Are any parking courtyards small 
in size (generally no more than five 
properties should use a parking 
courtyard) and are they well 
overlooked by neighbouring 
properties?

Some exceed the 5 property threshold, but are well 
overlooked, and are not separated from the 
development.



10d Are garages well positioned so 
that they do not dominate the street 
scene?

Yes 

11. Private and public spaces
ITEM COMMENT (SBC use)/
11a What types of open space should 
be provided within this development?

A large area of open space (over 11 Ha) would be 
delivered under this scheme, containing a range of 
typologies.



11b Is there a need for play facilities 
for children and teenagers? If so, is 
this the right place or should the 
developer contribute towards an 
existing facility in the area that could 
be made better?

Yes, two play areas are provided within the scheme. 

11c How will they be looked after? Most likely by a management company, although the 
Council does have the option to take on the open space.



12. External storage and amenity areas
ITEM COMMENT (SBC use)/
12a Is storage for bins and recycling 
items fully integrated, so that these 
items are less likely to be left on the 
street?

The se details are subject to a condition. TBC

12b Is access to cycle and other vehicle 
storage convenient and secure?

These details are subject to a condition TBC

Page 278



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.1

268

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 10 JANUARY 2019 PART 3

Report of the Head of Planning

PART 3

Applications for which REFUSAL is recommended

3.1 REFERENCE NO - 18/505513/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Reconstruction of bay window to front extending to first floor. Insertion of side window, 
replacement balustrade, along with internal alterations.

ADDRESS 54 The Leas, Minster-on-Sea, Sheerness, Kent ME12 2NL

RECOMMENDATION - Refuse

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR REFUSAL
The proposed first floor bedroom window, by virtue of its siting in the eastern flank wall of the 
house adjacent to the private open courtyard area of no. 55 The Leas, would have a detrimental 
impact on the residential amenity of this neighbouring property, contrary to Policies CP4, DM14 
and DM16 of “Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017” and to the advice of 
the Council’s adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance entitled “Designing an Extension – A 
Guide for Householders”.

The design and siting of the proposed two storey front bay extension, by virtue of its projection 
towards and close proximity to The Leas, would create an overly conspicuous and dominant 
built structure in the street scene in a manner detrimental to the character and appearance of the 
area and visual amenities, contrary to Policies CP4, DM14 and DM16 of "Bearing Fruits 2031: 
The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017" and to the advice of the Council's adopted Supplementary 
Planning Guidance entitled " Designing an Extension - A Guide for Householders".

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Application called in by Councillor Andy Booth
WARD Minster Cliffs PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 

Minster-On-Sea
APPLICANT Mr Andrew Hill
AGENT 

DECISION DUE DATE
24/12/18

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
27/11/18

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites):
App No Proposal Decision Date
SW/91/1301 Rear garden fence to eastern boundary, covered 

way and side gate
Approved 03/03/92

SW/91/0907 Rear garden fences, side gate and covered way Refused 17/10/91
SW/90/0062 Two storey side extension and single storey rear 

extension
Approved 13/03/90

SW/81/0065 Bedroom extension Approved 18/03/81
SW/80/0186 Lounge extension Approved 19/03/80

Page 279



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.1

269

SW/80/0146 Alteration to front elevation Approved 17/03/80
SW/75/0930 Side extension to form additional living 

accommodation
Refused 17/11/75

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 54 The Leas is a two storey, detached house which fronts the beach and the sea.  The 
front elevation of the property comprises a gable end, with a curved bay window on the 
ground floor.  To the left of the elevation is the front entrance door and an integral 
garage; above this is a first floor balcony.  To the front there is paved driveway 
providing off-street parking for several vehicles, and a generous garden to the rear.

1.02 The property has already been significantly extended.  Permission was granted under 
application SW/90/0062 for a two storey side extension and a single storey rear 
extension.

1.03 The application site is located within the defined built up area boundary of Minster.  
The Leas has a mix of housing types and the host property occupies a prominent 
position in the street scene, located between a bungalow to the east, and a large chalet 
bungalow to the west.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.01 The application seeks planning permission for a two storey bay window extension to the 
front elevation; the insertion of a first floor window in the eastern flank wall of the 
property; a replacement glass balustrade to the existing first floor balcony; and internal 
alterations.

2.02 The proposed two storey bay window would project 1.2m forwards of the main front wall 
of the house to the same building line as the existing front balcony, and it would 
measure 4.66m wide.  It would have a square design, with picture windows to the front 
elevation, and side windows on the ground and first floor in both flank elevations.   
The proposed bay extension would measure 5.4m to the eaves, and 7.25m in overall 
height to the top of the proposed hipped gable roof.  The materials would include 
brickwork to match the existing dwelling, render to the front elevation between the 
ground and first floor picture windows, and blue-black cement tiles to the bay roof.

2.03 The application proposes the formation of two additional bedrooms (4 in total) from the 
existing first floor office space.  One side window would be introduced into the eastern 
flank wall of the house at first floor level to serve the proposed 4th bedroom.

2.04 To the front of the dwelling, the metal balustrade to the existing first floor balcony would 
be removed and replaced with glazed panels measuring 0.9m high.

2.05 The submitted drawings also show a proposed roof light to the single storey flat roof at 
the rear of the dwelling.  However, as this would amount to permitted development I 
will make no assessment of this.

3.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

3.01 None relevant.

4.0 POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

4.01 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice 

Page 280



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.1

270

Guidance (NPPG)

4.02 The Swale Borough Local Plan “Bearing Fruits 2031” (adopted 2017).  Policies CP4 
(good design), DM7 (parking), DM14 (general development criteria) and DM16 
(alterations and extensions).

4.03 The Council’s adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) titled “Designing an 
Extension” is also relevant, and remains a material planning consideration having been 
through a formal consultation and adoption process.

4.04 Kent Design Guide Review: Interim Guidance Note 3 – Residential Parking (November 
2008).

5.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.01 None received.

6.0 CONSULTATIONS

6.01 Minster-on-Sea Parish Council initially supported the application.  No reasons for 
support were given.

As I was inclined to refusal of the application I contacted the Parish Council to establish  
their specific material planning comments, in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution.

Minster-on-Sea Parish Council confirmed on 29 November 2018 that they would 
support the Case Officer’s position and support a refusal.

7.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

7.01 Application papers and drawings referring to application reference 18/505513/FULL.

8.0 APPRAISAL

Principle of Development

8.01 The site is situated within the defined built up area boundary of Minster in which the 
principle of development is acceptable subject to amenity and other relevant policy 
considerations.

Residential Amenity

8.02 In respect of the proposed two storey bay window, there would be a separating 
distance of approximately 1.5m from the proposed extension to the boundary with no. 
53 The Leas, and I take into consideration that this neighbouring property is also set 
back approximately 1m from this boundary.  The distance from the proposed bay 
window to the common boundary with no. 55 to the west is approximately 5m.  Given 
the distance involved, I do not believe that the bay extension would detrimentally 
overbear or adversely impact the outlook of these neighbouring properties.

8.03 As the frontage of the property is made up of the highway, the beach and the sea, I do 
not believe that the front facing picture windows of the proposed two storey bay 
extension would give rise to any unacceptable overlooking impacts.  The secondary 
side windows of the bay extension would not look directly into the windows of the 
adjacent properties either side of the host property, and any open areas that could 
potentially be overlooked by these windows are already visible from public vantage 

Page 281



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.1

271

points; therefore no objection on loss of privacy grounds could be justifiably sustained 
here.  Overall, I have no serious concerns in terms of overlooking from this element of 
the application.

8.04 The proposal would introduce a first floor side window into the eastern flank wall of the 
house to serve the proposed 4th bedroom.  The Council’s adopted Supplementary 
Planning Guidance advises that side windows should be avoided to reduce overlooking 
and mutual loss of privacy.  No. 55 The Leas has an open courtyard area located 
immediately adjacent to the eastern flank wall of the host property, and the position of 
the proposed first floor side window would overlook this private courtyard area that is 
clearly being used for the occupiers’ enjoyment.  I consider that the proposed 
development would result in an unacceptable increase in actual and perceived loss of 
privacy at no. 55 The Leas that would be contrary to policy advice.  It should be noted 
that the use of an obscure-glazed, high level window here would not provide an 
acceptable solution, as such a window would provide the only light to a bedroom, 
resulting in a poor standard of amenity for the occupants of the host dwelling.  In my 
opinion, the proposed first floor side window would result in harmful overlooking and 
perceived intrusion for the residents of no. 55 The Leas; and this would amount to a 
reason for refusal.

Parking

8.05 The number of bedrooms would increase from two to four as a result of the proposal.  
The parking requirements for a four bedroom property in the suburban area according 
to the Kent Design Guide Review – IGN3 is for two off-street parking spaces, and this 
would be comfortably met by the paved driveway to the front of the property.  I 
therefore consider the parking arrangements to be acceptable.

Visual Impact

8.06 There are a number of properties along The Leas that have front facing balconies with a 
glazed balustrade design.  I therefore take the view that that the proposed 
replacement of the existing ornate metal balustrade to the front balcony with a glazed 
balustrade would be in keeping with the surrounding dwellings, and would not have an 
unacceptable impact upon the appearance of the host property.

8.07 The existing property when viewed from the highway is already a prominent dwelling 
within the street, its front building line being one of the foremost along The Leas; this is 
amplified as a result of the property being located between a bungalow to the east, and 
a chalet bungalow to the west.  The existing curved ground floor bay window projects 
by approximately 0.8m from the main front wall of the house, and the proposed ground 
floor bay window would project by an additional 0.4m; this would accord with the 
Council’s adopted SPG which recommends that ground floor extensions should be 
limited to a 1.2m front projection.  However, the addition of a 1.2m deep bay window at 
first floor, with its square design, and hipped gable roof above, would in my view 
materially increase the overall scale and bulk of the property relative to the other 
properties in this part of the street scene.  This increased scale and bulk would be 
exacerbated by having brought the front elevation even closer to the road, when the 
dwelling is already visually prominent within the road, and in relation to the dwellings 
either side of it.  As a result, I consider that the property would represent an overly 
conspicuous and dominant built structure in the street scene.  In this respect the 
proposal would have an unacceptable impact on the street scene through its siting and 
design, conflicting with current policy and guidance.  This would amount to a reason 
for refusal.

9.0 CONCLUSION

Page 282



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.1

272

9.01 To conclude, I consider the proposal is unacceptable in relation to its harmful impact 
upon the residential amenity of neighbouring property no. 55 The Leas, and by virtue of 
its detrimental impact on the street scene.  I therefore recommend that planning 
permission be refused.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION – REFUSE for the following reasons:

(1) The proposed first floor bedroom window, by virtue of its siting in the eastern flank 
wall of the house adjacent to the private open courtyard area of no. 55 The Leas, 
would have a detrimental impact on the residential amenity of this neighbouring 
property, contrary to Policies CP4, DM14 and DM16 of "Bearing Fruits 2031: The 
Swale Borough Local Plan 2017" and to the advice of the Council's adopted 
Supplementary Planning Guidance entitled "Designing an Extension - A Guide for 
Householders".

(2) The design and siting of the proposed two storey front bay extension, by virtue of 
its projection towards and close proximity to The Leas, would create an overly 
conspicuous and dominant built structure in the street scene in a manner 
detrimental to the character and appearance of the area and visual amenities, 
contrary to Policies CP4, DM14 and DM16 of "Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale 
Borough Local Plan 2017" and to the advice of the Council's adopted 
Supplementary Planning Guidance entitled " Designing an Extension - A Guide 
for Householders".

The Council’s approach to the application:

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 
2018 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by

 Offering a pre-application advice service.
 Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.
 As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 

processing of their application.

In this instance:

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had 
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 283



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.1

273

Page 284



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.2

274

3.2 REFERENCE NO - 18/505689/FULL & 18/505690/LBC
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Partial demolition of existing rear extension and erection of single storey rear extension with roof 
lights. Replacement timber sash windows to front and rear elevation.

ADDRESS 12 Abbey Street Faversham Kent ME13 7BE   

RECOMMENDATION - Refuse 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Town Council support
WARD Abbey PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 

Faversham Town
APPLICANT Mr M Williamson
AGENT Peter Jackson 
Architects

DECISION DUE DATE
02/01/19

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
07/12/18

Planning History 

SW/96/0264 
LISTED BUILDING CONSENT TO REMOVE STRUCTURES BUILT AGAINST GARDEN 
WALL Approved Decision Date: 26 March 1996

1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.1 12 Abbey Street is a three storey house which forms part of a Grade II listed group of 
buildings which form a continuous terrace fronting the street, located within the 
Faversham conservation area. Numbers 11 and 12 Abbey Street are listed buildings 
dating from the late medieval period. This part of Abbey Street features terraced 
dwellings of many different styles, forms and architectural appearances on both sides 
of this important historic street.  

1.2 This building retains many architectural features to the front elevation comprising of the 
former shopfront built of timber, a matching six panel entrance door, and timber sash 
windows to the first and second floors.

1.3 The rear elevations of numbers 11 and 12 have each been built with a two storey rear 
wing, typical of such properties – which creates an L shape to the footprint of each 
dwelling, leaving each house with a “middle room” window facing down the garden 
close to the common boundary. Number 12 also has a single storey extension with a 
gable end roof to the end of the original two storey rear wing. At ground floor level the 
rear wing and further extension currently house the kitchen and a small w.c.

2. PROPOSAL

2.1 Planning permission and listed building consent are now sought for the demolition of 
the existing single storey rear extension and the construction of a single storey rear and 
side extension with rooflights. New replacement windows are also proposed to the front 
and rear elevation of the property.

2.2 The new extension would enlarge the kitchen and be L shaped in form, wrapping 
around two sides of the existing two storey rear wing. The new extension would widen 

Page 285



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.2

275

the kitchen by 2.1m almost all the way to the side boundary with number 11, and extend 
around 2.2m to the rear of the current two storey wing (the same depth as the existing 
single storey rear extension). The external surfaces of the extension would be finished 
in brickwork, with a new pitched roof in matching roof tiles featuring three conservation 
style roof lights. All windows and doors will be made of timber frames with casement 
openings.

2.3 The extension will project along the common boundary by approximately 6.0m from the 
original rear elevation of the building, and thus 6.0m beyond the middle room window of 
number 11.

2.4 Elsewhere, new timber sash windows with slim light glazing are proposed to the rear 
elevation at first floor and second floor levels; and to the front elevation at second floor 
level. All replacement windows will match the existing window in style and colour.

2.5 The application is accompanied by a Heritage, planning, design and access statement, 
extracts from which is as follows:

“The proposals have been carefully designed to respect the existing listed 
building. Alterations to the fabric have been kept to a minimum where they 
impact on the original spacings and building structure whilst also improving 
usability, which ultimately will ensure the building is valued, appreciated and 
cared for by its owners, present and future.

The applicant submits that the proposals represent a sensitive and worthy 
improvement to the living accommodation and an enhancement to the building 
as a whole, continuing the process off incremental change that has occurred 
over time.”

3. PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

Potential Archaeological Importance 

Conservation Area Faversham

Listed Buildings MBC and SBC Ref Number: 372/SW
Description: G II 13 ABBEY STREET, FAVERSHAM, ME13 7BE

Listed Buildings MBC and SBC Ref Number: 1162/SW
Description: G II 10, 11 AND 12, ABBEY STREET, FAVERSHAM, ME13 7BE

4. POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF) sets out the following:

Paragraph 194 – Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 
asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should 
require clear and convincing justification.

Paragraph 196 – Where a proposed development will lead to less than substantial 
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its 
optimum viable use.

Page 286



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.2

276

4.2 Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017: Policies DM14, DM16, 
DM32 and DM33

4.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) entitled ‘Designing an Extension – A Guide 
for Householders’. Of particular relevance here is the guidance on rear extensions. To 
avoid situations where a rear extension may adversely affect the outlook and amenity at 
the rear of attached or closely spaced houses, the guidance is that single storey rear 
extensions on the boundary should not extend along the common boundary further 
than 3m to the rear of the original rear wall. 

4.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) entitled ‘Listed Buildings’ and ‘Conservation 
Areas’.

5. LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 The Faversham Society recommends refusal of the applications, stating 

“…the extension is full width and wraps around the existing rear extension. It 
would result in the loss of an existing light-well and these light-wells remain 
characteristic of the smaller houses in Abbey Street.

Whilst this scheme would result in less than substantial harm, this is not 
outweighed by the benefits which will result to one dwelling’s additional 
space.”

5.2 I have spoken with the Faversham Society to clarify their comment regarding light-wells 
and I understand that they oppose the extension running alongside the two storey rear 
wing, filling the gap between the two storey wing and the boundary with number 11 
(behind the “middle room” window), and losing the distinctive “in and out” rhythm of the 
rear elevations here.

6. CONSULTATIONS

6.1 Faversham Town Council originally supported the application, simply stating:

“The Town Council is pleased to see timber windows being installed.”

Further clarification was sought on the reasons why the Town Council supported the 
application and the following comments were submitted:

“1. The character of the area is not affected by the proposal.

2. The proposal covers up what is already there and improves the property.

3. This is a sensible development of the house done in a sensitive way.

4. The Town Council is pleased to see timber windows being installed.”

6.2 Historic England does not wish to offer any comments.

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

7.1 Application papers and drawings referring to application reference’s 18/505689/FULL 
and 18/505690/LBC.

8. APPRAISAL

Page 287



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.2

277

8.1 The prime consideration in determining these applications is the Council’s statutory 
duty to have special regard to preserving the special interest of the listed building. I also 
consider a key issue in this case is whether the proposal meets the aim and objectives 
of policy DM33 of Bearing Fruits 2031: SBLP 2017 in preventing development that fails 
to preserve or enhance the special character and appearance of the conservation area. 
Also of consideration is the impact of the proposal on the amenities of the neighbouring 
properties.

Impact on the character and appearance of the listed building and conservation area 

8.2 The application property forms part of a Grade II listed group of buildings which form a 
continuous terrace. These all have rear wings which do not extend across the full width 
of the respective plots and are a characteristic architectural element of the terrace 
group. These spaces enable light to penetrate into the heart of each building and 
provide important amenity and circulation space at the rear of each property. While the 
rear of the building has been altered over the years, it is still possible to see the original 
plan form of the house; one it shares with its neighbours. I do not consider that the way 
the proposed wrap around extension attaches itself to the side of the two storey rear 
wing is acceptable as it fails to respect the historic form of the building. In this case, the 
plan form of the original building must be given significant weight to make sure that any 
alterations still provide an understanding of the original layout. This does not 
necessarily prevent the building being extended further but it does require any 
extension to be designed in a way that you can still appreciate its original form. The 
Faversham Society refer to just this issue in their objection to the applications.

8.3 I note the support from Town Council but, as the property is a heritage asset there is a 
statutory duty on the Council to ensure that changes are not harmful. Paragraph 194 of 
the NPPF requires that any harm or loss to heritage assets should require clear and 
convincing justification, and para 196 requires that less than substantial harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. In this case the agent makes no 
case for the rear extension providing any public benefit.

8.4 Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal to replace the windows ‘like for like’ will 
preserve the special interest of the listed building and the appearance of the 
conservation area, I do not consider the proposed extension to be acceptable. I 
consider these applications should be refused because of the harmful precedence that 
would be created and could result in substantial harm if applied to the whole listed 
terrace group.

Residential Amenity

8.5 Notwithstanding my concern for conservation of the original layout of the house, the 
depth of the proposed rear extension would be 6.0m from the original “middle room” 
rear wall. Policies DM14 and DM16 of the adopted local plan seek for developments to 
protect/cause no demonstrable harm to residential amenity. The Council’s SPG – 
“Designing and Extension” sets out local guidance for single storey rear extensions 
close to a neighbour’s common boundary, advising that a maximum projection of 3 
metres will normally be allowed. Where houses are not aligned at the rear, or one has 
previously been extended, or where a gap exists between houses, flexibility can be 
shown. In this case the houses are aligned at the rear and they both have vulnerable 
“middle room” windows which already suffer poor outlook.

Page 288



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.2

278

8.6 The proposed side wall facing number 11 would be around 2.5 metres in height to the 
eaves. I consider the significant depth, mass and proximity of the extension to the side 
boundary and “middle room” rear window of number 11 would mean that the extension 
would have an unacceptably overbearing and enclosing effect on the occupants of 
number 11, in a manner harmful to the outlook and living conditions of this property. It 
would significantly exceed the recommended 3 metre projection in the Council’s 
guidelines.

8.7 Often I would seek to negotiate a reduction in the depth of the extension so that it 
complies with this guidance. However, given the above concerns over the position of 
the extension, I have not done so here.

8.8 Finally, I see no objection to the possible rebuilding of the existing single storey rear 
extension (that part beyond the two storey rear wing) which appears to be of a later 
date and of limited value to the overall heritage significance of the application property. 
Noting also that the dwelling to the north no 13 is a relatively new dwelling of no 
heritage significance and given its current relationship with the application building the 
proposals would have limited or no impact on the amenities of no 13.  

9. CONCLUSION

9.1 I consider that the proposed rear extension is not acceptable and would be contrary to 
national and local plan policies and guidance within the SPG. I therefore recommend 
that both the planning permission and Listed Building Consent applications are refused.

RECOMMENDATION - REFUSE both applications for the following reasons:

18/505689/FULL

REASONS

(1) The proposed rear extension would, by virtue of its depth, height, mass and siting 
close to the boundary with number 11 Abbey Street, have an unacceptably 
enclosing effect that would be harmful to the outlook and enjoyment of this 
property. As a result, the proposal would fail to protect residential amenity, and 
would be contrary to policies DM14 and DM16 of Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale 
Borough Local Plan 2017 and to the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance 
entitled ‘Designing an Extension – A Guide for Householders’.

(2) The proposed rear extension, by reason of its design, scale and position would fail 
to respect or adequately respond to the historic interest of the building and as such 
would represent less than substantial harm if applied to the whole listed terrace 
group for which there is no public benefit, contrary to the guidance set out in 
paragraph 196 of the NPPF 2018 and fails to comply with policies CP4, CP8, 
DM14, DM16, DM32 and DM33 of Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local 
Plan 2017 and to the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance entitled ‘Listed 
Buildings’ and ‘Conservation Areas’.

The Council’s approach to the application

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 
2018 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a pre-

Page 289



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.2

279

application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

In this instance:

The application was considered to be fundamentally contrary to the provisions of the 
Development Plan and the NPPF, and these were not considered to be any solutions to 
resolve this conflict.

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had 
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

18/505690/LBC

REASON

(1) The proposed rear extension, by reason of its design, scale and position would fail 
to respect or adequately respond to the historic interest of the building and as such 
would represent less than substantial harm if applied to the whole listed terrace 
group for which there is no public benefit, contrary to the guidance set out in 
paragraphs 196 of the NPPF 2018 and fails to comply with policies CP4, CP8, 
DM14, DM16, DM32 and DM33 of Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local 
Plan 2017 and to the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance entitled ‘Listed 
Buildings’ and ‘Conservation Areas’.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 290



Planning Committee Report – 10 January 2019 ITEM 3.2

280

Page 291



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 PART 5

281

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 10 JANUARY 2019 PART 5

Report of the Head of Planning

PART 5

Decisions by County Council and Secretary of State, reported for information

 Item 5.1 - Chalet No. 7 Hazeldene Chalet Park, Fourth Avenue, Eastchurch

APPEAL DISMISSED

ENFORCEMENT APPEAL

Observations

Full support for the Council’s enforcement action.

 Item 5.2 – 2 Arthur Street, Sittingbourne

APPEAL DISMISSED

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Observations

Members may recall resolving to grant permission for an improved alternative 
scheme at this site last year.

 Item 5.3 – Vicarage Cottage, The Street , Hartlip

APPEAL DISMISSED

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Observations

The Inspector agreed with the Council that the proposal would cause unacceptable 
harm to the designated heritage assets.

 Item 5.4 – 141 Ufton Lane, Sittingbourne

APPEAL ALLOWED

AGAINST OFFICER RECOMMENDATION

Observations

The Inspector concluded that the proposal would not cause material planning harm.

Page 293



Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 PART 5

282

 Item 5.5 – Bobbing Kennels, Quinton Road, Sittingbourne

APPEAL DISMISSED

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Observations

Full support for the decision to refuse permission for this proposed housing scheme 
in the countryside, with the Inspector giving significant weight to the Policies in the 
Local Plan.

 Item 5.6 – Pond, Perrywood Place (Grove Road), Selling 

APPEAL DISMISSED

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Observations

Full support for the Council’s decision.

 Item 5.7 – Jack Russell Place, Lower Halstow  

APPEAL DISMISSED

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Observations

The Inspector agreed with the Council that the wall causes harm to the visual 
amenities of the countryside.

 Item 5.8 – 36 The Glen, Minster  

APPEAL ALLOWED

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Observations

Despite acknowledging that the proposal was contrary to the guidance in the    
            Council’s SPG, the Inspector concluded that the proposal would not harm the living 
            conditions of the neighbours at No 34..

 Item 5.9 – 26 Forbes Road, Favesham  

APPEAL DISMISSED

Page 294



Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 PART 5

283

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Observations

Full support for the Council’s decision.

 Item 5.10 – 2 Little Kennaways, Ospringe

APPEAL ALLOWED

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Observations

A decision which clarifies what has become a long running and locally contentious 
affair concerning the agricultural use of this land and the need for a building of this 
nature in this location. To my mind the decision pays insufficient attention to the 
seeming inappropriateness of the design to serve the limited needs of the land, and 
misplays the fall-back issue on the basis that the building is only slightly larger than a 
far simpler building the Council had already approved.

 Item 5.11– Building at Keycol Farm, Bobbing  

APPEAL DISMISSED

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Observations

An expected decision for a very poor and wholly unacceptable proposal.

 Item 5.12– Tranquillity, Otterham Quay Lane, Upchurch  

APPEAL DISMISSED

COMMITTEE REFUSAL

Observations

Full support for the refusal of this housing in the countryside.

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.1

284
Page 297



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.1

285
Page 298



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.1

286
Page 299



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.1

287
Page 300



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.2

288
Page 301



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.2

289
Page 302



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.2

290
Page 303



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.3

291
Page 305



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.3

292
Page 306



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.3

293
Page 307



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.4

294
Page 309



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.4

295
Page 310



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.4

296
Page 311



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.5

297
Page 313



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.5

298
Page 314



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.5

299
Page 315



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.5

300
Page 316



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.6

301
Page 317



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.6

302
Page 318



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.7

303
Page 319



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.7

304
Page 320



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.8

305
Page 321



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.8

306
Page 322



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.8

307
Page 323



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.9

308
Page 325



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.9

309
Page 326



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.10

310
Page 327



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.10

311
Page 328



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.10

312
Page 329



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.10

313
Page 330



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.11

314
Page 331



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.11

315
Page 332



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.11

316
Page 333



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.11

317
Page 334



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.12

318
Page 335



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.12

319
Page 336



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.12

320
Page 337



Report to Planning Committee – 10 January 2019 ITEM 5.12

321
Page 338


	Agenda
	6 Deferred Item
	7 Report of the Head of Planning Services
	INDEX
	2.1 47 Brier Road
	2.2 Land at The Tracies
	2.2 Land at the Tracies Appendix 1
	2.3 Green Farm Barn
	2.4 Ospringe Brickworks
	2.4 Ospringe Brickworks Appendix 1
	2.5 Land East of Vellum Drive
	2.5 Land East of Vellum Drive Appendix 1
	2.6 Land at Perry Court
	2.6 Land at Perry Court Appendix 1
	2.6 Land at Perry Court Appendix 2
	3.1 54 The Leas
	3.2 12 Abbey Street
	Part 5 Index FINAL
	5.1 Hazeldene
	5.2 2 arthur street
	5.3 vicarage cottage
	5.4 141 Ufton Lane
	5.5 Bobbing Kennels
	5.6 Pond Perry Wood
	5.7 Jack Russell Place
	5.8 36 The Glen
	5.9 26 Forbes Road
	5.10 little kennaways
	5.11 Buildings at Keycol Farm
	5.12 Tranquility


